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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

Results and Dividends

The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year is
HK$39,232,000 (2021: HK$58,249,000) and the directors do
not recommend the payment of a dividend (2021: Nil).

Business Review and Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year ended 31st March 2022, the Company and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) recorded a consolidated
revenue of HK$78,218,000 (2021:HK$95,588,000), gross
profit of HK$38,573,000 (2021: HK$41,047,000) and loss
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$39,232,000
(2021: HK$58,249,000).

The contribution of revenues from the Group’s channel
operations segment for the year dropped from approximately
HK$56 million to approximately HK$41 million, which was
mainly attributable to the completion of the exclusive content
supply contract with HBO Asia since June 2021, and is still the
major revenue generating segment of the Group.

Quality media content is the key for both traditional and new
media companies to compete with their rivals for viewership
and revenue. The media industry is in the stage of transforming
from traditional media to new media industry. A large number
of viewers are moving out from traditional TV services to join
the fast growing OTT services. The Group has well positioned
itself as an important content provider of Chinese movies and
drama contents to companies in both the traditional and new
media industries in this stage.

In Hong Kong, the Group is supplying a Chinese movie channel
with hundreds of movies to TVB’s new media platform, namely
myTV SUPER, as well as its OTT APP in the PRC. In Taiwan,
we provided a Chinese movie/drama channel to viewers
through the telecom/OTT platform of Chung Hwa Telecom
Company Limited.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

The media industry was facing tremendous challenge due
to Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) and the industry
transformation during the year. Traditional media companies
were losing their viewership and revenues while the companies
with new media business were still in the investment stage
suffering from heavy spending on content acquisition and
boosting viewership. Despite this, our media businesses in HK
and Taiwan remained stable in terms of both viewership and
revenues during the year. We offered channels as well as on
demand services in these two markets. Viewers could view
our movies and drama series with their TV sets, PCs, mobile
phones and tablets.

In November 2021, we started a new media business by
providing movie contents to viewers via Youtube, which is one
of the largest new media platforms in the world. The results
were satisfactory and accordingly we offered more local
movies with Cantonese language to our Youtube viewers. As of
March 2022, we had over 130,000 subscribers in our Youtube
services.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to explore other
opportunities to increase contributions from its channel
operations.

The contribution of revenues from the Group’s film exhibition
and film rights licensing and sublicensing was approximately
HK$12 million. The original schedules of releasing new titles
were delayed due to the outbreak of COVID-19 and during
the year, one new title, namely “The First Girl | Loved” which
received a number of awards in different film festivals of
regions, was released. Another title namely “Where the Wind
Blows” is expected to release in the second half of 2022.
Certain other titles which shooting have been completed will
also be planned to release in the forthcoming year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

Since 2018, the Group authorised iQiyi, the new media
platform in the PRC, to broadcast contents from the high
content library of the Group on a non-exclusive basis. The
Group also entered into similar agreements with Youku and
Ixigua, the new media operators in the PRC, since last year to
broadcast its film library content. During the year, the Group
further concluded agreements to release content through
the media platforms of Bilibili, Tencent and Disney+. These
cooperations further confirm the Group’s important expansion
strategy, as a content provider, of entering into the new media
market and also release the worth of our film library. The Group
will continue to seek cooperations with other major new media
platforms in order to further cultivate the vast media market.

Besides self producing and investing, the Group also makes
use of its wide distribution network developed for years for its
business of film distribution agency. Equipped by the Group’s
film library and through the Group’s experience and network in
program sourcing, the Group is confident that it will continue to
provide high quality and customised programs to its audiences.

The Group has started to penetrate into the China theatrical
market and established its first cinema in Tianjin since 2011.
In 2019, the Group’s cinema in Guangzhou and another 20%
equity investment in a Beijing cinema commenced operations.
The Group’s cinema are all digital and equipped with 3-D movie
broadcasting functions. Operations in cinemas, as affected
by COVID-19, were suspended time to time and accordingly
revenues contributed from this segment during the year
dropped from approximately HK$26 million to HK$24 million.
During the year, provisions for impairment of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets amounting to HK$5.8
million (2021: HK$16 million) and HK$14 million (2021: HK$29
million) were made against the cinema operation segment,
after taking into account the current operation scale, and the
segment loss dropped from HK$53 million to HK$30 million.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

As one of the Group’s cost-retrenchment measures, after
taking into account the accumulated and consecutive loss
position of a wholly controlled entity namely 1t R SIS
BRIMRB AR AR (“*JZZX"), in February 2022, the Group
reached an agreement pursuant to which the Group ceased to
implement control on JZZX and accordingly de-consolidated
JZZX in the Group’s accounts. Subsequently, JZZX has
proposed a settlement plan amounting to approximately
HK$46 million against the Group’s accumulated advances
previously granted to JZZX. The settlement plan is subject to
fulfillment of certain conditions and the Group will continue
to monitor the conditions with JZZX for the realization of the
settlement plan and endeavour to recover the amounts.

Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, the operating segment of
concert performance and event organisation was suspended
and did not generate revenue during the year. Following the
planned reactivation of the segment in the second half of 2022,
the next concert is expected to be held soon.

The Group’s channel management operations are conducted
through its associated company, namely IST Company Limited
(*IST”). Other than providing channel management services,
IST also provides services of playout, post production, HD-film
restoration and internetworking solution. During the year, IST
contributed profit of approximately HK$2.6 million (2021: loss
of HK$1.7 million) to the Group.

During the year, following the changes in the investment market
conditions, the Group’s financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss recorded a fair value gain of approximately HK$0.1
million (2021: HK$1.2 million). The investment properties
portfolio of the Group contributed a surplus on revaluation of
approximately HK$9.1 million (2021: HK$3.2 million). Such
unrealised surpluses have no effect on the Group’s cash flow.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

In respect of the legal proceeding against the Company,
the Company reached a settlement deed with the plaintiff in
February 2021 as full and final settlement of the proceeding.
During the year, the settlement amount under the settlement
deed was fully settled.

COVID-19 has posted unprecedented challenges to worldwide
economy, and the entertainment industry has become one
of the worst hit segments. Taking into account the recent
development, the pandemic situation is hopefully to be
recovered and the Group’s operations will gradually restore to
normal. Looking forward, the Group will continue to actively
seek investment opportunities that are related and/or creating
synergies to the Group’s existing businesses and generate
greatest returns for its shareholders and reward their long-term
support.

Liquidity and financial resources

At 31st March 2022, the Group has available banking facilities
of approximately HK$50 million, of which approximately HK$47
million were utilised. Corporate guarantees executed by the
Company and certain of the Group’s deposits and properties
with aggregate net book values of HK$91 million were pledged
to banks to secure banking facilities. The Group’s gearing
ratio of 40% as at 31st March 2022 was based on the total
of bank loans and other loans of HK$143,340,000 (of which
HK$47,272,000 and HK$96,068,000 are repayable within one
year and in the second year respectively) and the shareholders’
funds of approximately HK$359,369,000. The Group’s bank
balances and borrowings are primarily denominated in HKS$,
RMB and NTD. The Group will monitor its foreign currency
exposure closely. During the year ended 31st March 2022,
the Group did not engage in any derivatives activities and did
not commit to any financial instruments to hedge its exposure
to foreign currency. At 31st March 2022, the Group had
commitments in respect of film rights and licenses amounting
to approximately HK$3.3 million. The commitments will be
financed by the Group’s internal resources and banking and
other available facilities.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Employees

At 31st March 2022, the Group employed 93 staff.
Remuneration is reviewed periodically based on market trend
and individual staff’s performance. In addition to the basic
salaries, staff benefits include discretionary bonus, medical
insurance scheme and contributory provident fund. The Group
also has a share option scheme whereby qualified participants
may be granted options to acquire shares of the Company.
Employee benefit expenses of HK$38,465,000 were charged
to the profit or loss during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

EEREEEEABZEN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Kuo Hsing, aged 63, is the founder, Chairman and a
major shareholder of the Group which was established in 1984,
and a recognised leader of the Hong Kong entertainment
industry. With years of experience in the home video and media
entertainment industry, he is responsible for the corporate
strategy and development of the Group. Mr. Li has been
appointed as the member of the 13th National Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference since
2018. He is also the Vice Chairman of the Federation of Motion
Film Producers of Hong Kong Limited since 1998. He is the
father of Mr. Li Tang Yuk, an executive director of the Company.

Mr. Li Tang Yuk, aged 37, joined the Group in 2008 and
appointed as an executive director of the Company in May
2014. He has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company with effective from 31st March 2020. He holds
a Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) from Chu Hai
College of Higher Education. He is the eldest son of Mr. Li Kuo
Hsing, the Chairman of the Company.

Dr. Dong Ming, aged 64, has been appointed as an executive
director and Chief Operating Officer of the Company with effect
from 1st September 2014. He held master and doctor degrees
from the London School of Economics and Political Science
and has over 25 years’ experience in investment banking,
asset management and corporate management. Prior to joining
the Company, Dr. Dong had been a Senior Managing Director
of Bear Stearns and Director of Merrill Lynch, and responsible
for China marketing and corporate financing. He also worked
as an executive director of China Taiping Insurance Holdings
Company Limited and Tianjin Development Holdings Limited
(both shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)) and responsible
for investment management, strategic planning and merger
and acquisition.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lam Lee G., aged 63, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 1st February 2007.
Dr. Lam has extensive international experience in general
management, strategy consulting, corporate governance, direct
investment, investment banking and asset management. He
was Chairman of Hong Kong Cyberport, and a member of the
Committee on Innovation, Technology and Re-Industrialization,
and the Sir Murray MaclLehose Trust Fund Investment Advisory
Committee, of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Government. He is a member of the Governance Committee of
the Hong Kong Growth Portfolio, and the Development Bureau
Common Spatial Data Advisory Committee, of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region Government, Convenor of the
Panel of Advisors on Building Management Disputes of the
HKSAR Government Home Affairs Department, a member of
the Court of the City University of Hong Kong, Chairman of
the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia
and the Pacific (UN ESCAP) Sustainable Business Network
(ESBN), Vice Chairman of Pacific Basin Economic Council, and
a member of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council Belt
and Road and Greater Bay Area Committee.

Since the date of last annual report, Dr. Lam was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of (i) Huarong
International Financial Holdings Limited on 1st September
2021, (i) RENHENG Enterprise Holdings Limited on 30th June
2022 and (i) Hong Kong Aerospace Technology Group Limited
on 13th May 2021 (re-designated as an executive director on
3rd January 2022), shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange. Dr. Lam also retired from the Board of (i) Tianda
Pharmaceuticals Limited on 26th August 2021 and (i) Top
Global Limited on 31st August 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

EEREEEEABZEN

Mr. Guo Yan Jun, aged 68, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company in February 2013 has
extensive entrepreneurship experiences and experience of
corporate operation and management. Mr. Guo graduated
from China People’s University with a Diploma in Law in 1984.
Mr. Guo is presently an independent non-executive director
of MIE Holdings Corporation (company listed on the Stock
Exchange). He is also the Chairman of CNHK Media Limited.

Mr. Leung Tak Sing, Dominic, aged 66, was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the Company on 1st
March 2016, is a seasoned executive in the information and
communication technologies industry. He has served Hong
Kong Telecommunications (“HKT”) for 34 years and has held
many senior management positions in his tenure of service.
Prior to his retirement at HKT, he was the Managing Director
of Business Processes and responsible for reviewing and
overhauling HKT’s business processes and related systems.
Mr. Leung had also been the Managing Director of TV & New
Media, where he was responsible for now TV, MOQOV and now.
com.hk, as well as business development of IPTV opportunities
internationally. Mr. Leung joined Cable & Wireless HKT’s
multimedia business unit in 1994. His previous appointments
also included the Executive Vice President of Consumer
Marketing & Business, and responsible for marketing, product
development and management of PCCW'’s consumer
telephone and broadband services.

Mr. Leung had served the Communication Association of
Hong Kong as a member of the Executive Committee from
2006 to 2010. He was also a member of the Hong Kong
Trade Development Council’s Entertainment Industry Advisory
Committee member between 2008 to 2010.

Mr. Leung graduated from the University of Toronto with a

Bachelor of Arts degree in 1979, and from Canada’s University
of Windsor with a Bachelor of Commerce degree in 1980.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

Mr. Ma Fung Kwok, aged 67, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 1st October 2021. Mr. Ma is a member of the Legislative
Council of Hong Kong. Mr. Ma has extensive experience in
the film industry and culture, and has been keen to participate
in Hong Kong’s cultural and artistic affairs. He is a former
chairman of the Hong Kong Film Development Council and
the Hong Kong Arts Development Council. In 2020 and 2004,
Mr. Ma was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star and the Silver
Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong SAR Government respectively
in recognition of his outstanding performance in public and
social services. Mr. Ma is currently a Hong Kong deputy to the
National People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. Ma was also an independent non-executive director of
Zhaobangji Properties Holdings Limited (company listed on the
Stock Exchange), from 1st August 2019 to 29th September
2021.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Lun Ho, aged 52, is the Company Secretary of the
Company and Group’s financial controller and is responsible
for all financial and accounting matters of the Group. He
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 30 years of auditing and accounting
experience. He joined the Group in July 2002.
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SREARE

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based
on the principles and the code provisions (the “Code”) as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
The principles adopted by the Company emphasise a quality
board, transparency and accountability to shareholders. In
the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the
Code for the year ended 31st March 2022, with the exception
of the deviations as mentioned below.

Under code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should
be appointed for specific term. There is no specific term of
appointment of the non-executive directors of the Company,
however, they are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. Accordingly the
Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken
to deal with the requirement in respect of the appointment
terms of non-executive directors as required under the code
provision.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry
of all Directors, the Directors have complied with such code of
conduct and the required standard of dealings and its code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors for
the year ended 31st March 2022.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors is responsible for formulating the
Group’s long-term strategy, determining and approving
the Group’s significant transactions and supervising the
management to ensure thorough implementation of the
Group’s policies and effective performance of their duties.
The Board also conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control of the Group. Other decisions are
delegated to management. As at 31st March 2022, the Board
comprised seven Directors, including three executive Directors
— Mr. Li Kuo Hsing (the Chairman), Mr. Li Tang Yuk (the Chief
Executive Officer) and Dr. Dong Ming, and four independent
non-executive Directors — Dr. Lam Lee G., Mr. Guo Yan
Jun, Mr. Leung Tak Sing, Dominic and Mr. Ma Fung Kwok.
Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 10 to 13.

There is no non-compliance with rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the
Listing Rules. Other than Mr. Li Tang Yuk who is the eldest
son of Mr. Li Kuo Hsing, the Chairman of the Company, there
is no relationship among members of the Board and the
independent non-executive directors.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of their respective
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with
the terms of the guidelines.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The attendance of the Directors in the four board meetings and
one general meeting held during the year are set out below:

ES®
FN - FERNRBTZNRESGGE
R—RERAG 2 RBHIWT

Attendance
HERS

Board General

Meeting Meeting

EFeel BRXE

Mr. Li Kuo Hsing FEELE 4 1

Mr. Li Tang Yuk FREEAE 4 1
Dr. Dong Ming EHEL 4 -0

Mr. Alan Cole-Ford (deceased on 11th July 2021) Alan Cole-Ford £ 4 (R =Z = —%+ A+ —HEHE) - N/A

Dr. Lam Lee G. MREEL 4 1

Mr. Guo Yan Jun PHELE 4 1

Mr. Leung Tak Sing, Dominic REELE 4 1

Mr. Ma Fung Kwok (appointed on 1st October 2021)  Hi#E L4 (M-Z-—F+A—BEZ[T) 2 N/A

Note: BisE -

(@  The Directors were unable to attend the general meeting due to their
respective engagements.

During the year, all directors were provided with regular updates
on the Group’s business and operations. All current Directors
have participated in continuous professional development by
engaging in business activities beneficial to the Group in their
respective fields, including attending seminar, workshops,
conference and courses and self-studying, to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills so as to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
The Company will also update the Directors of any material
changes in the Listing Rules and corporate governance
practices from time to time.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under the code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer are separate and are not performed
by the same individual. The Chairman is responsible for
overseeing the function of the Board and formulating overall
strategies and policies of the Company. The Chief Executive
Officer, supported by the senior management, is responsible
for managing the Group’s businesses and responsibilities,
implementing major strategies, making day-to-day decisions
and coordinating overall business operations.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in discharge of its duties, the Board is
supported by three board committees. Each committee has
its defined scope of duties and terms of reference and the
committee members are empowered to make decisions on
matters within the terms of reference of each committee.

(1) Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21
to 3.23 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
audit committee are (a) to review the Group’s financial
statements and accounts, and annual and interim
report; (b) to discuss and review with the auditors of the
Company on the scope and findings of the audit and the
external auditor’s management letter; and (c) to review the
financial and accounting policies and practices, financial
controls, internal controls and risk management systems
of the Group. The audit committee consists of three
independent non-executive directors of the Company,
namely Dr. Lam Lee G., Mr. Guo Yan Jun and Mr. Leung
Tak Sing, Dominic. The chairman of the committee is Dr.
Lam Lee G..
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

0]

2

Audit Committee (Continued)

The audit committee held two meetings with the
Company’s auditor during the year. All of the members
attended the meetings.

The Group’s unaudited interim results, annual audited
results and the system of internal controls during the
year ended 31st March 2022 have been reviewed by the
audit committee, which is of opinion that the preparation
of such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure
have been made.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee
according to the relevant provisions of the Listing Rules
with written terms of reference. Its primary duties are to (a)
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of directors
and senior management and the remuneration of non-
executive directors; (b) establish formal and transparent
procedures for developing remuneration policy; (c) review
and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; and (d) make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management.

The remuneration committee consists of three
independent non-executive directors of the Company,
namely Dr. Lam Lee G., Mr. Guo Yan Jun and Mr. Leung
Tak Sing, Dominic. The chairman of the committee is Dr.
Lam Lee G..
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

2

3

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

During the year, the remuneration committee met once
to discuss remuneration related matters. All of the
members attended the meeting. During the meeting, the
performance and remuneration of the executive directors
were assessed and the policy for which was discussed
and approved.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and senior
management are set out in Notes 11 and 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee
according to the relevant provisions of the Listing Rules
with written terms of reference. Its primary duties are to
(a) review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy; (b) identify individuals
suitably qualified to become board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (c)
assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and (d) make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of directors
and succession planning for directors, in particular the
Chairman and the chief executive.

The nomination committee consists of five members,
including three independent non-executive directors of
the Company, namely Dr. Lam Lee G., Mr. Guo Yan Jun
and Mr. Leung Tak Sing, Dominic, and two executive
directors of the Company, namely Mr. Li Kuo Hsing and
Mr. Li Tang Yuk. The chairman of the committee is Mr.
Guo Yan Jun. The nomination committee determined the
policy for the nomination of directors and the nomination
procedures and the process and criteria adopted to
select and recommend candidates for directorship during
the year.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

3

Nomination Committee (Continued)

During the year, the nomination committee met once, all
of the members attended the meeting.

Under the Company’s policy concerning diversity of
Board members, the nomination committee reviews and
assesses Board composition on behalf of the Board and
recommends the appointment of new director when
necessary.

In designing the Board’s composition, the nomination
committee has considered a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
education background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The nomination
committee will also consider factors based on the
Company’s business model and specific needs from time
to time in determining the optimum composition of the
Board.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the

preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the

Group. Details of the basis of preparation of the consolidated

financial statements are set out in Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements. The statement of the external auditor

of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the

consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the

Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 42 to 59.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

FINANCIAL REPORTING (continued)

The Company’s external auditor, without modifying their
opinion, draw the users’ attention to Note 2.1.1 to the
consolidated financial statements indicating the existence of
a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Details of which
are set out in the paragraph headed “Material Uncertainty
Related to Going Concern” in the section headed “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on page 44. The Directors, taking into
account of the factors setting out in Note 2.1.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, are satisfied that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
to meet is financial obligations as and when they fall due within
twelve months from 31st March 2022 and are satisfied that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement by the auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities is set out in the independent
auditor’s report on pages 42 to 59. Amount of approximately
HK$1,861,000 was charged to the Group’s consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31st March 2022 in
respect of the audit services provided by the auditor of the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is responsible for developing and reviewing the
policies and practices on corporate governance of the Group
and making recommendations to the Board; reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; reviewing
and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; developing,
reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and
reviewing the Group’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report of the Company. During
the year, the policy for the corporate governance of the Group
was received and determined.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of risk
management and internal controls and for reviewing its
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

Management of the Company has monitored the strategic plan
and performance, established ongoing process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the
Group, and set up a set of comprehensive policies, standards
and procedures in areas of operational, financial and risk
controls for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or
disposition; for maintaining proper accounting records; and
for ensuring the reliability of financial information to achieve
a satisfactory level of assurance against the likelihood of the
occurrence of fraud and errors.

The following procedures have been established in connection
with the risk management and internal controls within the
Group:-

1. Control environment including organisation structure, limit
of authority, reporting lines and responsibilities;

2. Risk management self-assessment and internal controls
review conducted from time to time by the internal audit
function and external auditor of the Group;

3. Appropriate risk management measures such as written
policies and procedures;

4.  Effective information platforms to facilitate internal and
external information flow; and

5. Any material internal control defects will be reported to
and discussed by the Audit Committee and the Board,
and management to investigate and take appropriate
measures to respond to and migrate the defects.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

The Board has performed an annual review on the effectiveness
of the systems of risk management and internal controls of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31st March
2022 with no material issues noted and the Board considers
them effective and adequate.

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the
heading and dissemination of inside information, the Company:

o is required to disclose inside information as soon as
reasonably practicable in accordance with the Securities
and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules;

e  conducts affairs with close regard to the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities
and Futures Commission; and

° regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information to ensure inside information remains
confidential until the disclosure of such information is
appropriately approved, and the inside information can be
disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner in
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations

POLICY ON THE RECOMMENDATION AND
DECLARATION OF DIVIDEND

The Board may propose the payment of dividends for a
financial year. The recommendation of dividends is subject to
the discretion of the Board. The Board will take into account
the following factors when considering the proposal of any
dividend payment:

(i)  the Group’s operation and financial performance;

(i) the Group’s liquidity conditions;
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POLICY ON THE RECOMMENDATION AND
DECLARATION OF DIVIDEND (Continued)

(i) the Group’s capital requirements and future funding
needs;

(iv)  the Group’s contractual restrictions, if any;
(v) the Company’s and the Group’s availability of reserves;
(vi) the prevailing economic climate; and

(vii) any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The memorandum of association of the Company and the
Bye-laws are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company respectively. There was no change to the
Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended
31st March 2022.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Lun Ho is the Company Secretary of the Company.
His biographies are set out on page 13.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair
disclosure and comprehensive and transparent reporting of its
performance and activities. Enquiries and suggestions from
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) or investors
are welcomed, and enquiries from Shareholders may be put
through the following channels:

1. by mail to the Company’s head office at 5/F, Mei Ah
Centre, 28 Chun Choi Street, Tsueng Kwan O Industrial
Estate, Kowloon;

2. by telephone at telephone number (852) 2751 3388;

3. by fax at fax number (852) 2799 3643; or

4. by email at webmaster@meiah.com.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continuea)

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any two or more
members holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
in aggregate not less than one-tenth of such of the paid up
capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. Such
requisition must state the objects of the meeting and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the office.
If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of such requisition proceed duly to convene a special
general meeting, the requisitionists themselves or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all
of them may convene the special general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may
be convened by the Directors.

If a Shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the
meeting not being the person to be proposed, wishes to
propose a person (the “Candidate”) for election as a Director
at a general meeting, he/she shall deposit a written notice (the
“Notice”) at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong. The
Notice (i) shall give his intention to propose the Candidate for
election as a Director; (i) must include the personal information
of the Candidate as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules and his/her contact details; and (i) must be signed
by the Shareholder concerned including the information/
documents to verify the identity of the Shareholder and
signed by the Candidate indicating his/her willingness to be
elected and consent of publication of his/her personal data.
The minimum length of the period, during which the Notice
are given, shall be at least 7 days and that (if the Notice is
submitted after the dispatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election) the period for lodgment
of the Notice shall commence on the day after the dispatch of
the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election
and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

SRERRE
BERZRERBRRER (o)

BEARAE 2 AFME - REANEAIAE
AMEHIA ERR(REXFREBRA
EARRIRREARG FAARERZEHME
BAEGEHDNPR T z—)BRELER
BB ZmKRAVHABRAEZH
B - WHBEBRAZZBRERHER © ME
ERERBERBRERAREST - T—HA
FHBRAKRRFRIARE - AIFERARS K
REEZBEREE —FULOHEMRALR]
BReEZIEEARAg ZBRTA B
REFRIRE -

H—2BELEASLNE LIRFEBIIF
EREATZERBEBRG AL (K
BADRBRRAGE22HEES A

BERANAFZEBSBRRERIEREME
@A - BARASHEEEZRFREA

FIREECZEM (VKEHAELETRAUE
1351 R EIREAZBAE R RE
SAREEIS ¢ R (i) WBRZRE S R IRRE

Z UBEREAIHZEZRRES S Z,éfﬂ/
X RBIRBEAZERREREZ2ER
FEEAREBAER - F’XL%DZ,H;@F‘E?E?
DREER - MERZBMZHARBAR
T%’é #ai&fk%%fTZKAZLﬁﬂféﬁaﬂ
BETE - BIZHEIR TS ER SR BTHEN

EI RN

Annual Report 2022 F#f

25



26
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 34
to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31st
March 2022 is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 4 to 9 to this annual report. Description
of the risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are disclosed
in this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 60.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in investment properties of the Group
are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
Details of those principal investment properties are set out on
pages 223 to 224.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31st March 2022, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to HK$56,450,000, comprising contributed
surplus of HK$235,020,000 less accumulated losses of
HK$178,570,000.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
the contributed surplus shall not be distributable if there are
reasonable grounds for believing that:

(i)  the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(i) the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium account.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 222.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during
the year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during the
year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme of the Company was adopted by the
shareholders of the Company in the annual general meeting
held on 1st September 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme”).
The principal terms are set out as follows:

(@) Purposes

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to attract
and retain the best quality personnel for the development
of the Group’s businesses; and to provide additional
incentives to directors and employees, consultants,
agents, advisers, customers, suppliers, business and
joint venture partners or any employee thereof, of the
Company, its subsidiaries and its associated companies
and to promote the long term financial success of
the Group by aligning the interest of option holders to
shareholders of the Company.

(b) Participants

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme
and the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the board of directors (the
“Board”) may offer to grant share options (the “Options”)
to any director and employee, consultant, agent, advisor,
customer, supplier, business and joint venture partner or
any employee thereof, of the Company, its subsidiaries
and its associated companies (“Qualifying Grantee”) as
the Board may in its absolute discretion select.

(c) Administration

The Share Option Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the Board. Subject to the provisions of
the Listing Rules and applicable law and other regulations
from time to time in force, the Board’s administrative
powers include the authority, in its discretion:—

(i)  to select Qualifying Grantees to whom Options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme;
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(c) Administration (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

to determine, subject to the requirements of the
Listing Rules and the law, the time of the grant of
Options;

to determine the number of shares to be covered
by each Option granted under the Share Option
Scheme;

to approve forms of option agreements;

to determine the terms and conditions of any
Option. Such terms and conditions may include:

o the subscription price;

° the Option Period, which shall be not greater
than the period prescribed by the Listing Rules
from time to time (which is, as at the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme, a period
of 10 years from the date of grant);

° the minimum period, if any, for which an Option
must be held before it vests or becomes
exercisable in whole or in part (the Share
Option Scheme itself does not specify any
minimum holding period);

° the performance targets, if any, that must be
achieved before the Option can be exercised
(the Share Option Scheme itself does not
specify any performance target);

° the amount, if any, payable on application or
acceptance of the Option and the period within
which payments must be made;
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (cContinued)

()

Administration (Continueq)

\)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil

(Continued)

° the period, if any, during which shares allotted
and issued upon exercise of the Option shall
be subject to restrictions on dealings, and the
terms of such restrictions;

to construe and interpret the terms of the Share
Option Scheme and Options granted pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme;

to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and
regulations relating to the Share Option Scheme,
including rules and regulations relating to
subschemes established for the purpose of
qualifying for preferred treatment under foreign laws
and for benefits intended solely for any particular
type of Qualifying Grantees; and

subject to the provisions relating to grant to
substantial shareholders and independent
non-executive directors and their respective
associates in the Share Option Scheme, to vary
the terms and conditions of any option agreement
(provided that such variation is not inconsistent with
the terms of the Listing Rules and the Share Option
Scheme).

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED X4 & EBEBR QA

B 2
() THEBEE(ZE)
) (#&)
o FNTTIH BB PR ME M A B K B

(vi)

(vii)

(viil

TR AR (E) - A

XEBERS - U= %R

BENMEERRESE MR
R AR ARV 5K

MIE ~ 1ERT R BERR RE A 5t &
BENKRMRY - BEAE
BRESINEDER P T EE
BREMESRERNAER
PR T AR Y M) 2 1 AR SZ A AE
BEFEINBRAMRRNTIRG] : K

ERBETESEEETEER
RMBIFFATEZTANBEE
EENBEANRE T BK
1 1) B8 SR 03 o MO AR SK % M6k £
(MEZRIEN NG E EHRA K
FERERT IR IRRTTT) -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(d)

(e)

U]

Life of the Share Option Scheme and grant of Options

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from the date of adoption.

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme
and the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Board shall
be entitled at any time within 10 years commencing on
the date of adoption to make an offer for the grant of an
Option to any Qualifying Grantee as the Board may in its
absolute discretion select.

Acceptance and payment on acceptance of Option offer

An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain open for
acceptance by the Qualifying Grantee concerned for
a period of 28 days from the date of the offer (or such
longer period as the Board may specify in writing).

HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee to the Company on
acceptance of the Option offer.

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any particular Option
shall be such price as the Board may in its absolute
discretion determine at the time of grant of the relevant
Option but the subscription price shall not be less than
whichever is the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the Subscription Price Reference Date; (ii) the
average closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
Business Days immediately preceding the Subscription
Price Reference Date; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (cContinued)

(9)

(h)

Option Period

The period within which the shares must be taken up

under an Option shall be determined by the Board in its

absolute discretion at the time of grant, but such period

must not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the

relevant Option.

Maximum number of shares available under the Share

Option Scheme

0]

(ii)

Overriding Limit

The limit on the number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the shares in
issue from time to time. No options may be granted
under any schemes of the Company if this will result
in the limit being exceeded.

Mandate Limit

In addition to the limit set out in sub-paragraph (h)
(i) above and prior to the approval of a Refreshed
Mandate Limit as referred to in sub-paragraph (h)
(iiiy below, the total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, being
563,303,452 Shares (the “Initial Mandate Limit”),
based on 5,633,034,525 issued shares as at the
date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.
Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme or any other schemes will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the 10%
limit.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(h) Maximum number of shares available under the Share

Option Scheme (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Refreshing of Mandate Limit

The Company may by ordinary resolution of the
Shareholders refresh the Mandate Limit provided
the Company shall issue a circular containing such
information as required by the Listing Rules to
the Shareholders before such approval is sought.
However, the total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under all of the schemes of the Company under the
limit as refreshed (the “Refreshed Mandate Limit”)
must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of approval of the Refreshed Mandate Limit.
Options previously granted under the schemes
(including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in
accordance with any of the schemes or exercised
options) will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the limit as refreshed.

Grant to specifically identified Qualifying Grantees

Specifically identified Qualifying Grantees may be
granted Options beyond the Mandate Limit. The
Company may in addition seek separate approval
by its Shareholders in general meeting for granting
Options beyond the Mandate Limit provided that
the Options in excess of the limit are granted only
to Qualifying Grantees specifically identified by the
Company and a circular containing such information
as required by the Listing Rules is issued to the
Shareholders before such approval is sought.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuea)
(h) Maximum number of shares available under the Share
Option Scheme (Continued)

(v) Limit for each Qualifying Grantee

The number of Options that can be granted to any
Qualifying Grantee during any 12-month period shall
be subject to the restriction that the total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
Options (whether exercised or outstanding) granted
in such 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue. Where any further grant of Options
to a Qualifying Grantee would result in the shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in
the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such further grant representing in aggregate over
1% of the shares in issue, such further grant shall be
subject to separate approval by the Shareholders in
general meeting with the relevant Qualifying Grantee
and his associates abstaining from voting. Prior to
seeking such approval, the Company shall issue a
circular containing such information as required by
the Listing Rules to the Shareholders.

As at 31st March 2022, the number of securities
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
was 592,311,452, having approximately 9.99% of
5,923,738,525, being the number of issued shares of the
Company at 31st March 2022 and the date of the annual
report respectively.

As at 31st March 2022, there was no outstanding option
granted under the Mandate Limit.
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DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Kuo Hsing (Chairman)
Mr. Li Tang Yuk
Dr. Dong Ming

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Alan Cole-Ford
(deceased on 11th July 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Lam Lee G.
Mr. Guo Yan Jun
Mr. Leung Tak Sing, Dominic
Mr. Ma Fung Kwok
(appointed on 1st October 2021)

The Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, its
subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 10 to 13.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

At 31st March 2022, the interests and short positions of
each director and chief executive in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFQ”)), as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
(Continued)

(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each in the Company

EEEWRE

EFERERITRARRELF
FLFEMARERGREAHR
fo4E Bk R B Z Bt - HHEABR (B
REEzE#ER k& w)

(@ BREE0.02BTZAAREZER

% of the
issued share
capital of the
Company as

Number of shares beneficially held at 31st March
— Long position 2022
ESBezErBE —HE W-—E_—
Personal Family Corporate =ZA=+—H
Name of director interests interests interests {EEATE BT
EEgR BARS FERS EERES BFzantk
Mr. Li Kuo Hsing 563,787,500 189,843,750 2,540,177,550 55.60%
20 5 A Note (i) Note (ii)
B EE () P& (i)
Mr. Li Tang Yuk 1,940,000 — — 0.03%
ZRIBAEA
Dr. Dong Ming 5,000,000 — — 0.08%
ERELT
Notes: BfaE -
() These shares are held by Ms. Li Pik Lin, the spouse of Mr. Li Kuo 0] ZERMAFTEELE L RBFEER
Hsing. THE -
(i)~ These shares are held by Kuo Hsing Holdings Limited, a company (i)  ZERMDAFEEELERGESNZ AR

beneficially controlled by Mr. Li Kuo Hsing.

Kuo Hsing Holdings Limited #74 °
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
(Continued)

(b) Interests in subsidiaries of the Company

Mr. Li Kuo Hsing personally holds non-voting deferred
shares of HK$1 each in the following subsidiaries:

EFRERBITRAERAELT
FLFEMARERGREAHR
fb 4E Bk R B Z B 17 - HH B BR (D
REEzE#ER k& w)

(b) ARQTBIMERBER

FEREEBAARE TFIHBLAE
IR 178702 RISTABRER

Number of non-voting
deferred shares held

FrisERTiE

BIERPZ S B

Personal interests

Name 218 BAER
Mei Ah Investment Company Limited ELMEREBRAF 500,000
Mei Ah Press Limited ELREFRAT 100,000
Mei Ah Video Production Company Limited XL EUERR AR 10,000

Save as aforesaid, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its
associated corporations a party to any arrangement to enable
the directors and chief executives of the Company (including
their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to hold
any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated
corporations.

Save as aforesaid, at no time during the year, the directors and
chief executives (including their spouse and children under
18 years of age) had any interest in, or had been granted, or
exercised, any rights to subscribe for shares (or warrants or
debentures, if applicable) of the Company and its associated
corporations required to be disclosed pursuant to the SFO.

MEI' AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED XERiR€4EMEBER AT

Bk Lt &SN - RERERERE - ARF -
4= NI E = PN EleP e L
BRI EALE - EARREZRRET
BAB(BREREZEBERBTN\RZ
TR)FHBARPREMEER 2 i -
MR S ERERE 2 EfAIEEIAR -

R EAES RERNEAEGHE SEF
EESITRAR (BREEZEBNMKR
TNABRZ F2) W BB AR R R E AT
EE LD - TEERSITENRBEAR
RNE R ERBOABR D (SRR ERRE
E(ER)) ZERERN - MREES
fERPIZAT R EE -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
The register of substantial shareholders required to be kept
under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO shows that as at 31st
March 2022, the Company had been notified of the following
substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions, being
5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital. These
interests are in addition of those disclosed above in respect of
the directors and chief executives.

Ordinary shares of HK$ 0.02 each in the Company

Ho Chi Sing Al 58k

IDG-Accel China Growth Fund Associates L.P.
IDG-Accel China Growth Fund GP Associates Ltd.
Zhou Quan &%

IDG-Accel China Growth Fund L.P.

Li Guolin Z=BI#k

Notes:

(@) Included the 370,205,516 shares as set out in Note (b).

(b) Referred to the same parcel of shares and included the 307,385,666

shares held by IDG-Accel China Growth Fund L.P.

EEEWRE

EBRBRRNF LFZ B {7 B 48R B
fRZEER HikE

RIEEH R E GBI EXVEBE 336158
FEZIERRERMEAT AT
FZA=S+T—B  ARREEBAUTE
ZRRFEFEARFEBITIRAE% HIA
EZRBRRAR o ZERBR EXHNERE
AREERERTRABE N #25 -

BREEO0.02}8 T2 A2 FAEER

Number of shares —
Long position
BRiZ&E —F8
% of the issued
share capital of
the Company as

Corporate  at 31st March

Note interests 2022
n-—s-_

=RA=+-—H

EELTERT

BisE EEES BEzESL

(a) 398,840,000 6.73%

(b) 370,205,516 6.25%

(b) 370,205,516 6.25%

(b) 370,205,516 6.25%

307,385,666 5.19%

296,195,000 5.00%

PREE
(@)  EIEMIEE (o) Pr#k.2 870,205,516 Bty °

(o)  IEE—HLAR K& BHEIDG-Accel China Growth
Fund L.P. #7482 307,385,666 %A% 17 °
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are

as follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier 23%
— five largest suppliers in aggregate 67%
Sales

— the largest customer 30%
— five largest customers in aggregate 65%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in these major
suppliers or customers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by
the Group during the year ended 31st March 2022 is set out in
Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of the
Company, it is confirmed that there is sufficient public float of at
least 25% of the Company’s issued shares at the date of this
report.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED X=rir44&EAEEBR AR

THEY

RRBRFE AL ER] LS FEEATAREA
RA R HERERBNDRB L EERIT
HEH# -

ITRHBRRER
AEBEFBREFRESEEAFE
BN EERE LT -

— RAHER 23%
— hARHEEEF 67%
HER

— BAEP 30%
— AREFPER 65%

BEF  NEZBBEASEMEESAA
BERRAIRAE%IA L2 RREEIER
ZETBHERITS 2

RERX S
rEBRBE-_S-_—F#=A=+—HI+
FEAINZBEEALTR S 2B EFH R4
B FEHREMFTESD ©

BRALRIGRE

REAR B A RFAMIG 2 AR REA DA
ERA - ADAERRARE BHIES
ARRB BTN R 25% 2 RANBSS
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Corporate Governance Report of the Company is set out on
pages 14 to 25.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors, management or shareholders of the
Company (as defined in the Listing Rules) has an interest in a
business which competes or may compete with the business
of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of
this Report of the Directors, there was or is, any permitted
indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of the
Directors of the Company (whether made by the Company
or otherwise) or an associated company (if made by the
Company).

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Li Kuo Hsing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30th June 2022

EEEWRE

EFERBREEBCER

AARES  BEEIREEER LY
LRI B S B R B TS BT
B B IR R TS -

38 AT YR R 16 3L
CEARBFENREEAEEGRE ALY
LEFE(RSRS - S04 AT s AT A S E
AT HEGEXERARANES (R
WRTEADARL) AR AEE A A
M EE (MR AARRIT) ©

54 LT

RAEMBRRE HBEXBIGES A=
Ptz o BERUIGE GRTRI BTG Eim
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RREZE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

_B
pwec

To the Shareholders of Mei Ah Entertainment Group

Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Mei Ah Entertainment
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the

“Group”), which are set out on pages 60 to 221, comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31st March 2022;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then

ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for

the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the

year then ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then

ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
which include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

i S Rk K 8

BREIRRRMRE AR L FRE

(REFZEMALABRLA])
=R
RMESEHORE

FEREENEBAR AR (ATERIE
ANE REMBRARIATSEIEE£E])
TSN ECOE 221 B4 A M IEHREK B
g -

s RIT-__HF-A=t—HHHLE
ERER

o EEZHILFEMGRENREE

s HEEZHLIFEMNGFAEENKEEK

s HEZBIFENGABREDR

ERALFENGERSMER

%ﬁ#

o  RAMBEHERME -
REEMERRESR -

BREEREHHK

" PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31st March 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

B ZBERE

EMHNER

BMRE  ZE5GREUBREREBEES
I ASEMAK B BN HRELERNE
BEmMPERMTEEEN T -__F=
A=+—B8NERe %Kik EEE=ZA
I FENGEVBRARGERSRE -
I 2 BREBCR TR HEBEREZL A
B o

ERWER

HMEREFSSHTMASGRMAKEL
BT ERDETER - RAEZFERT
AENRECEARRE [REE B4R
B BmRAENEE] BORIEE—Z

HIPRE  BRPMESNERRERTRE
FEE MW RBINE B RIEHER

VA 3
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2.1.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss
of HK$39,333,000 for the year ended 31st March 2022, while
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$82,115,000 and its cash and bank balances amounting
to HK$11,624,000 as at the same date. The Group’s business
operations, in particular the film exhibition and cinema
operations, have been adversely affected since the outbreak of
Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) in early 2020. These
conditions, along with other matters as described in Note 2.1.1
to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we
have determined the matters described below to be the key
audit matters to be communicated in our report.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

HEBRCERBNERTREM

BHES@EIEE B REMNT
211 BEEEEBE_T__F=FH
=t+—HIEFEEAFEE 39,333,000 %
T MRZE BESEMRBAGBLEA
MENEE82,115,000/87C * UREBRE K
RIT4E82511,624,00087L - BEEEE
BEE  FRIREX M EEREBE
T ZZTFY2019 8 MmE ([COVID-19))
BEE-—EBEXITHNEE ZEEFM4UE
NERERE M BmERM 211 FTEA A
ftbEIE - RPGFEEANTHEEMN - ErlsE
oY BESERBECENEIEKRERNRE
o BB R KRB EEELER -
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RETFHRERERMNERAE - R
RYARPR M BRRNBARDEERN
10 - BEEREERMBAEREAY
BHER NI E AR RRETRIERN - HMAS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT y

B ZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BERENSEHE)

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as PSR ER AR R S EB

follows: s ¢

e Impairment of film and program rights and films in e BENLEHBMEMEHPEZRE
progress

e Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of- o AL ER W - S REK

A REREEERIE
5 A B ) A O EL A R WK IR Y

use assets of cinema operations in Mainland China
° Impairment assessment of an other receivable arising °

from the disposal of a subsidiary

Key Audit Matters
MR ER

BAERFE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EhpEtnMEERREER

Impairment of film and program rights and films in progress

BERAENIER AR BEAE

Refer to Notes 2.9, 2.10, 4(a) and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.
B2BGAYBRERME2.9 210 4@ K15

As at 31st March 2022, the carrying amount of
film and program rights and films in progress was
HK$126,934,000.
BE_T__F=A=+—H EXLEHEMEK
BETEXRE RS 126,934,000 87T °

Due to the impact of COVID-19, which has caused
delay of the theatrical release of the films of the
Group, and the requirement to perform an annual
impairment assessment for intangible assets not
available for use, management performed an
impairment assessment for film and program rights
and films in progress as at 31st March 2022 and
wrote down the carrying value to its recoverable
value.

B COVID-19RIEH EEH A EE T LR IR
KNG ARAIEAB R EEETFERENGOR
o EREHRE_T__F-HA=1+T—HNE¥
N &R B hiRiE MR B BROETT TORERE - MERE
BEEMRZEFKE S -

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on the impairment of film and program
rights and films in progress include the following:
B EREEUEY LA REARERPELH
MEFHEETHENEFEEUATAR

We understood, evaluated and tested the key
controls over the recoverability assessment
performed by management on the film and program
rights and films in progress.
BMEEEEERNET RO B RERBRPELHN
B AT W [0 M B4k P M O BR B2 ] - 0 S ELETT
AHE KORIE

We assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors
such as complexity and subjectivity;

BAEAEE BT AT AR E A E M EF R
E=EKE(PIaEFEE R FEM) - FHTERE
HAVEE R -

We assessed the methodology used by management
in determining the recoverable value with reference to
the industry practice.

B AEEREEERBITRENEE KRB SRR
R P ER AR T3 0%
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Key Audit Matters
REFHER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BEEITEE )

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EMMWEMMEERBETFEER

Impairment of film and program rights and films in progress (Continued)

ERREAIRERBRT EZFE ()

Management determined the recoverable value
by using a value-in-use approach, which was
calculated based on the present value of future
cash flows directly generated by the film and
program rights and films in progress. The forecast
of future cash flows involved judgments regarding
the types of revenue streams that the film and
program rights and films in progress could be
distributed, the number of and duration of planned
circulations and expected cash outflows for the
costs for these circulations and distributions.
Impairment of film and program rights and films in
progress recognised for the year ended 31st March
2022 amounted to HK$3,586,000.
EEEBRAGCAEEEINEEIKEERE - Ml
CeRAREY NG EMENBRPEYEERES
WARKRIREREREE - Bt RRRERES R
BRANTRIENE THE - S K&E0A Mk RER
B A ETRWRAIREER ~ 51 &8] ERR B FE
BT - DAK FBR KRB ITANARETERRIR € - &
EFT-F-A-+—HILFE EEIANEX
K80 B R B P ERIRIE S 3,586,000 87T ©

We consider the impairment assessment of film
and program rights and films in progress as a key
audit matter due to the high degree of estimation
uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the
impairment assessment is considered significant
due to significant judgments and estimates made
by management on the recoverability of the film
and program rights and films in progress.
EREERNMET I EEN - BMRAERZREEMR
ENEETEZREN CBERETFE - BRI
BEEHNEERBREREKN  NHNEBREHEY
N &R B bR MR B A AT WP EH B E A
Al AR

We evaluated and challenged management’s
assessment on the expected revenue to be
generated by the film and program rights and films in
progress based on historical data and our knowledge
on the market and industry. We tested the expected
revenue from the circulation and distribution of the
film and program rights and films in progress by
comparing with market information (including box
office income) of other similar types of films in the
market.
BPRBEELEELEMMEBENTIS RITEE
B HEREAHMSTYNOERERBRTER
FREIRA B R ETTRIAZ IR B E & - TR T
P RER NE B REMBEETEZEITHRAK
@ B EmS FHMRREENMSER (BRE
FBUWARIR) #EITELE ©

We also evaluated and challenged management’s
assumptions of the estimated circulation and
distribution costs to be incurred by comparing the
ratio of these budgeted costs to the budgeted
revenue with other comparable films based on
historical data of similar films and industry research.
BAOTRBERUESENELBIERTERE - K18
BRAEBREW GO REH A L REREITHL
B HERERBRSE SR LET HR R BEITHRR
W REETTRIIZ IR L E &R
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BYZEE RS
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BRETSIEE) \&
Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters )
RBETER ENEt M EERRETER
Impairment of film and program rights and films in progress (Continued) ’

ERREAIRERBRT EZFE ()

We performed sensitivity analysis around the key
assumptions for forecast revenue and estimated
circulation and distribution costs and considered the
extent of change in those assumptions that would
result in impairment.

A2 IR U G DA S 5t ERR R EITAAR EZ R
RETHRESN > TERLZERIEHURLIR
MERIRE

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related
to the impairment assessment of film and program
rights and films in progress in the context of the
applicable financial reporting framework.

B EEERNTBREERT - BEZ RO
B M RETERENEARNRERERS °

We also considered whether the judgments made
in selecting the methods, assumptions used in
the calculation of value-in-use would give rise to
indicators of possible management bias.

BT EREER L  sTEERBEERMEAD
BRAMELN AR ERHIREEEIRREZOI
% o

Based on the procedures performed, we found
that the significant judgments and estimates made
by management on the recoverability of the film
and program rights and films in progress to be
supportable based on available evidence.
ERBEETHEF  RMRREEBEHETNEAE
hi 4 K2 i B rp B &2 P [E) M R O B K I i K (il 5T
HEBRBBEXH -
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Key Audit Matters
REFHER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BEEITEE )

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EMMWEMMEERBETFEER

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of cinema operations in Mainland

China

FEIAET R 2 )% - B KR A REHIEEERE

Refer to Notes 2.10, 4(d), 12 and 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.
BLHGAPBRERMTE2.10 ~ 4(d) ~ 12 %13 °

As at 31st March 2022, the Group had property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets,
before impairment provision, of approximately
HK$20,917,000 and HK$66,471,000, respectively,
for cinemas located in Mainland China. In view of
the loss incurred by the cinemas in recent years,
and also the challenges and uncertainties brought
by COVID-19 pandemic on the cinema operations,
management considered there were impairment
indicators and performed impairment assessments
on these assets.

RZZEZZF=A=+—H  FTEENFEAHE
BREBEEME - s MRIBARERAEEE OR
BRAERT) 9 5114920,917,000 % 7T &% 66,471,000 7
TC o NI F BB E AL - AR COVID-19%&
BEREFESTHROE R AT - ERERA
ZEGEEBFERETR - WEHZEEEETRE
A o

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on the recoverable amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of the
cinema operations in Mainland China include the
following:

B EREHPEANMB X R - sk
REAREREEEREZ TR E SR hETT
HERF B

We obtained an understanding of the management’s
control procedures of impairment assessment and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors;
BMTREEBHNBENRZEERF  WiER
ZRMEATECEREMESRRBREEZZIZE - &7
HE R R 2 EH R

We understood and evaluated management’s control
procedures in relation to impairment assessment,
where applicable;

FAPT T R AT B IR R E RIS 2 SRR (0@
)

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED Xmnir44&E A EEAR QA
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
REFHER

B ZBERE

BEEITEE )

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EMMWEMMEERBETFEER

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of cinema operations in Mainland

China (Continued)

FEIR BT KT 5 HERS AR A R E R 1E ()

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash
generating unit (“CGU”) is the higher of its value-
in-use and fair value less costs of disposal. The
impairment assessment prepared by management
uses the value-in-use model to determine the
recoverable amount of the CGU to which these
assets are allocated.
BESRGEFBU((REELEM]) B KE
SHAFHABERAABREERAZRSE - B
BENAERAEBEEGRREN T - LETZS
BESEMEBNHAELRSEM A KOEE -

We understood and assessed the appropriateness
of the valuation methodologies used by the
management;

BA T LA EIEERRGETEREAE

We checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data to supporting evidence,
such as approved budgets and considered the
reasonableness of these budgets by comparing the
budgets to the historical results and the market data;
B En AER REBBE(GI : ZEEE

ZEREM LR URERRAEREERBER
BRTSERHELR - ZRAWUBRE 2 SBIE

We tested the mathematical accuracy of the

underlying value-in-use calculation;

HTRAENEREENE BT EEREE
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Key Audit Matters
REFHER

BEEITEE )

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EMMWEMMEERBETFEER

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of cinema operations in Mainland

China (Continued)

FET AT T > % - BEEE R AR A RIE AR (e ()

Significant judgment was required in relation
to the key assumptions made in the cash flow
forecast including revenue growth rate and
discount rate. Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of
HK$5,833,000 and HK$14,005,000, respectively,
were recognised in the consolidated income
statement for the year ended 31st March 2022.
EREAREeRERAPELNARER (B
Hﬁz WMIBRERBRE)ELHERHE - M3 - #
REUARFERBEEERBEZBRERED A
5,833,000 8 7T LA &2 14,005,000 B L E R B E =
“ZF=AZT - RIEFEZ A WERRIER o

We assessed the appropriateness of cash flows
projections in calculation of the recoverable amount,
challenged the reasonableness of management’s
assumptions based on our knowledge of the
business and industry by comparing the assumptions
to historical results and published market and
industry data and compared the current year’s actual
results with the prior year forecast, where applicable;
and
BAFTARSRERANFEAIWEEBERNEE
i %Eéﬁzﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ%%%&ﬁ%ﬁ@?%ﬁ BB
REFLERRCEMOT S RITEBIBEETL
BEREEEBRRNEEN  URBRFEXRE
Eﬁz&i&ﬁ;ﬁﬁ\wﬂtﬁ(ﬁuﬁ ) &

We performed sensitivity analysis in consideration
of potential impact of reasonably possible downside
changes in the key assumptions.

B EEETERRAIRSEBHRZ ANESH 2 E
EE  ETBUREDN °

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related

to the impairment assessment of property, plant and

equipment and right-of-use assets in the context of

the applicable financial reporting framework.

B EEEROMBREERT - BYE - #
REAREAEEERENEAEENEERES

B °
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
REFHER

B ZBERE

BEEITEE )

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EMMWEMMEERBETFEER

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of cinema operations in Mainland

China (Continued)

FET A BT T % - BEEE R AR A RIE AL (e ()

We consider the impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets as key audit matter as it is subject to high
degree of estimation uncertainty. The inherent
risk in relation to the impairment assessment is
considered significant due to significant judgments
involved in assumptions used in the calculation of
value-in-use of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets.

HPIRBRME - s MRBAKLEREEERER
TEERESEE ARESASETHEL -

FREENEERRE/SEKR  JIHRFAEY
% HELREBAREREEE ZEREEMER

HYRERS BB A H -

We also considered whether the judgments made
in selecting the methods, assumptions used in the
calculation of value-in-use of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets would give rise to
indicators of possible management bias.

BPIMERNERE L stEWE - #ESRREU
REREEENEBEERMEANREMMELD
HEERERHABEETRREENTR -

Based on the procedures performed, we considered
that the methods and assumptions used in the
calculation of value-in-use for the impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets of the cinema operations
in Mainland China were supported by available

evidence.
ERFIITHRF - IR AT B R BT 5 5
Y% BREMEEARERAREENREN GTHE

AT EEREENTERRRAREERSS
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Key Audit Matters
REFHER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BEEITEE )

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EMMWEMMEERBETFEER

Impairment assessment of an other receivable arising from the disposal of a subsidiary

M 118 2 BB AR E R B R (B A

Refer to Notes 3.1(b), 4(c), 7 and 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.
BB E M BHREMTES D) ~ 4c) 7T R21 0

On 28 February 2022, the Group terminated a
Variable Interest Entity (“VIE”) arrangement with a
100% controlled subsidiary, 1t =742 LIz B
MARIEA R AR (“JZZX"). Its financial performance
and position were deconsolidated as of the date
of termination. As of the same date, the Group
had an amount due from JZZX of HK$56,096,000.
A repayment plan with several milestones was
proposed by JZZX in March 2022. The directors
of the Company are of the view that there is
uncertainty on the recoverability of the balance if
JZ7X fails to improve its financial position through
operation or obtaining additional funding from
financing arrangements. Taking into consideration
all available information as of 31st March 2022
and up to the date of this report, a full provision of
HK$56,096,000 was made as of 31st March 2022.
MRZZBZ_Z_F_AZ+N\B  XEEKIL—E
100% 2 R P B8 2 R RAEAE NN E BRI R A
RAR(THEEAMND zr 2 EERER (R 2R
BB =HE - AMBEERANER LS BB EE
HEFAE AR - BER R - AEBERKIEL IR
18 /356,096,000 7T e EENINKR T —F =
ARB T ABAZEAEEREERMNER S - WELN
MARREE B EENNRE LHRESREINE R AR
SZHPBIR - AR AEERREGZ I EIEE
FEIHEEL ZRIBE T _—_F=A=1—
BRBZEAGEBHANAERAER  B#E_Z
—ZF=A=1T—HEZ%5E 56,096,000 /& T

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on impairment assessment of an other
receivable arising from the disposal of a subsidiary
include the following:

BTt E IR E S B A R A ) A B WA
EVRERHEE AT A I TIA N BT ¢

We understood, evaluated and validated the internal
control over the Group’s process in estimating the
expected credit loss to determine the loss allowance
for other receivables and evaluated the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors.

BT R FHENERE EEBENAETEREEER
VARE E H B MR IR B T 1R B Y 3B AR P mO BB 2
Hl - WiE R E BT RE RS REAME A R
i A =K RH A B AR A B A R

We inspected relevant agreements and
correspondences provided by management to
evaluate the latest status and progress of the planned
settlement arrangement.

HfimeE 7T ERERMHNVBRZE MGk - AR A
ArEEE R BT SR -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
REFHER

BEEITEE )

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EMMWEMMEERBETFEER

Impairment assessment of an other receivable arising from the disposal of a subsidiary (Continued)

HE W 2 712 A YR N B el (B R T ()

Management applied judgement and estimates to
measure the expected credit loss allowance taking
into account the historical settlement records
and expected timing and amount of realisation of
outstanding balance. Management also considered
forward-looking information in the macroeconomic
environment that may affect the ability of JZZX to
repay.

ERBREZERBTAECHERER RERERNTE
HRF A R o RaR - ERHE AT ERBEEE
BRME - BIRENNE B AR BERNMNENRE N
ZRBRBRENAEILEER -

We focused on this area in view of the magnitude
of the other receivable to the consolidated financial
statements and the determination of the related
impairment loss involved the use of judgement and
assumptions which are subject to a high level of
estimation uncertainty as described above.
ERNHMEIRFTIEEGE M RENBEE M RETE
MRBRE P K (50 A # e RA% - oz B #1 E Ke fRak
R PEKFRAF I REMREE - MRAEERN
L EEES ©

We discussed with management their assessment
of the financial ability of JZZX and the likelihood in
achieving the planned settlement arrangement.
BPEREIREE w7 RFHEZ NN ST
EANRBRABEE LR -

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related
to the impairment assessment of an other receivable
arising from the disposal of a subsidiary in the context
of the applicable financial reporting framework.
BOEEEERNTBREERT  BLEWE
NRIEAMEMENFIBREN GEENRESS
F e

We also considered whether the judgments made in
selecting the assumptions used in the recoverability
assessment would give rise to indicators of possible
management bias.

B AT IR E R & 12 m] Y[l 14 31 1 P50 A &Y 1B RR s P
LM HE ST ERLREEERRENTR °

Based on the results of the procedures performed,
we found management’s judgement and estimation
applied in respect of the impairment of an other
receivable arising from the disposal of a subsidiary
were supportable by available evidence.
BEHNTHEFOHER  BMABRRREFREAX
FrE TR Epl B P B 2 A EE A A HL ) B U SR IR YR
BPTER ) HI e R bt -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

Hpfz 8
BERREFAHHEMESRE - AER
BRFHRANAEEES  BTRERGE

R MR PIRBED R

MBEHROBRL NREE
BEREM

BB ERE
BE BT AEHZEEME
ﬂ/im%nﬂzunﬁﬁ °©

e R MR MBRRNET - 1AW
BEIRHEEMER - BT - T8
HpEHRE BGEPBHRRAKMER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

B ZBERE

™

)

EFREREARRGAUHRE |

ARENER

BERRESRAERERBEHMASH
e & 7B B R R 2RI R BB A A R
PR ERERBEEMPSOGES Y
Bilx - UHERBBREREMBHRERDN
BENFERRAGFERMEPHEKR
AR TR ARG AR

KRR A MRS  EFXRANAE
SERELENEN  YEERBRTH
RESELLABNTR  ARERRE
REQEFER RIEZABHERHE
BRIUFIELE SR EEMERANER
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B ZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (cContinued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

B ZBERE

BB E F e M B RRAREN |
B

ERTAEREM R ERES] - PARRG
VEHER - BE E‘\JI#ﬂ
BRI A RMEERER

|
} HU} fm’
238

AEBEEMRAEFBERNREER
FrE &t s FMAAR R BE & 12
1 o

HESRBBELESTERNGE
MEEH AR o RIBFTERKER
7 BEEAFERSANIELAH
MEBEANEEN - A EEHHE
SENHEKERNELERRRE
IRBMIRRFEEATEEN - Bl
B U BEEZHBENRE FIRBERET
B UHHRATORBIRE - RS
BRANEKETR  RIRMIEEHRIE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

BB BT EE M BHRRAEN
B

o FERAMBERRNERIRTA -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (cContinued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Kong Ling Yin, Raymond.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30th June 2022

B ZBERE

BB B RS M IRR AR |

B
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

mElER

For the year ended 31st March 2022 HEZ—ZF - —F=A=+—HILFE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other gains — net

Selling, distribution and marketing expenses

Administrative expenses

Net reversal of/(provision for) impairment
losses on financial assets

Operating loss

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance costs — net

Share of profits/(losses) of associates — net
Share of loss of a joint venture

LLoss before income tax
Income tax credit

Loss for the year
Loss attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Loss per share attributable to owners
of the Company

Basic and diluted loss per share

7

HAbUYrA
Hitblr s — 588

HE  BITRMGHERX
TR

M EERERR

B, (EE) FE

EEHR

LUELE N
BB A

BERA —

Note
HiaE

D D N O

3.1(b)

FEREE RN RDEM,(B1R) — F8 16

EE—RAEEEER

FRFRSRATSIN
FriS#ii e

FABR

THIHE ELER -
ZA/NCIE 2SN
IR RS

FAFHB AELESRER

FRER R EEEE

The notes on pages 68 to 221 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED <ERiR£4E A EBER A 7

17(a)

10

2022 2021
= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
78,218 95,588
(39,645) (54,541)
38,573 41,047
10,034 8,297
8,248 32,118
(5,248) (4,742)
(87,656) (124,911)
450 (8,123)
(35,599) (56,314)
319 876
(9,897) (9,953)
(9,578) (9,077)
2,606 (1,768)
= (4)
(42,571) (67,163)
3,238 7,766
(39,333) (59,397)
(39,232) (568,249)
(101) (1,148)
(39,333) (569,397)
HK cents HK cents
&4l AL
(0.66) (0.98)

F68E221 AZMFARGETBERER L
et

BEN °



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31st March 2022 &;

Loss for the year FAHER

Other comprehensive income, net of tax: Eft12EISE  MKIRIE :

Items that will not be reclassified TEEFN A EE Rk A
subsequently to profit or loss
Surplus on revaluation of buildings BFHEHAH
Deferred taxation arising from revaluation BFEHABRELE BRI
surplus of buildings IR

Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss F[E# HEE 18z 2 HH
Currency translation differences HEHME =

Other comprehensive income for the FREMEBEWS - MRKRE
year, net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year FREZEGERE

Total comprehensive loss attributable to: T35 B E{h 2 EEIHEH :

Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZEWN
Non-controlling interests IR RS

Total comprehensive loss for the year AR EEGIEEEHE

The notes on pages 68 to 221 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

Note
HiaE

12(a)

28

mEEZHEBER

E_T_—_F=-A=+—HLEFE

2022 2021
—E=—— —EF——F
HK$000 HK$'000
F#EiT FET
(39,333) (569,397)
20,238 50
(4,729) 69
(55) 4,140
24,454 4,259
(14,879) (55,138)
(15,176) (54,463)
207 (675)
(14,879) (65,138)

F68E221 AZM T ARGETBERER L

EREEtn -
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« CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
. RABEAER

As at 31st March 2022 W=ZFE - —F=H=+—H

;} 2022 2021
»~ —=E-— —E-—%F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt FETT FET
\ Assets gE
Non-current assets JEmENEE
Property, plant and equipment M - e R EE 12 206,445 191,011
Investment properties KEYE 14 226,943 216,499
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13 74,859 93,375
Film and program rights, films in progress B N ED B ME - AR ER
and deposits for film and program rights NEFNEIE REE S 15 153,377 164,708
Interests in associates REFE N T 2 16 10,513 7,863
Interests in joint ventures REERE R 17(a) - =
Prepayments, deposits and trade receivables  JANFIE « e KB FREWGIE 21 4,029 7,523
676,166 680,979
Current assets mENEE
Inventories =g 20 331 134
Prepayments, deposits, trade and BNFIE Ze - EBZR
other receivables H fth FEUCRRIE 21 36,373 42,825
Deferred fulfilment costs BB LI A 5(f) - 300
Financial assets at fair value through "R EFT A BRI
profit or loss BE 19 5,893 5,740
Pledged bank deposits BIRIRIRT TR 27(a)(ii) 23,500 23,500
Short-term bank deposits 5 HRIRTTIF AR 22 3,309 2,200
Cash and bank balances W& RIFITHER 22 11,624 25,219
81,030 99,918
Total assets HWEE 757,196 780,897
Equity B2
Equity attributable to owners FOFIHEAEGES
of the Company
Share capital A 23(a) 118,475 118,475
Share premium BB 23(b) 407,428 407,428
Reserves & 25 (166,534) (151,358)
Shareholders’ funds [ERE % 359,369 374,545
Non-controlling interests FEFE R 9,509 9,212
Total equity HwEs 368,878 383,757

62 MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED <ERiR£4E A EBER A 7



Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Bank and other borrowings
Lease liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities

Amounts due to associates
Bank overdrafts

Bank loans

Lease liabilities

Current income tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

The notes on pages 68 to 221 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the
Board of Directors on 30th June 2022 and were signed on its

behalf.

Li Kuo Hsing
FER
Director

e

"‘*’e:.;!

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
HEREERER

As at 31st March 2022 W =ZE - —F=H=+—H

fafR
FRBDRR
f&""&ﬁf‘@%%f

IS XR’E\F

o ﬂ ﬁ ﬁ

B 5 N E MR IR

BHEE
FEASTESE & R B FRIE
RITHEX
fE?TEW\
HEBE
EHIMEHRAG

HAR

HERRAR

.f

9

)

2022 2021 \
—E-— —T——F

Note HK$000 HK$’000

Mzt FET T

27 96,068 77,608

13 102,674 105,592

28 26,431 23,873

225,173 207,073

26 73,277 85,387

500 13,374 19,160

31(e) 13,710 18,036

27 23,056 21,867

13 11,438 10,632

4,074 5,757

163,145 190,067

388,318 397,140

757,196 780,897

F68FE 221 BT RAALLEMBHmEK L
BESER o

RAMBREN B _FRA=+EE

EEEE WHRERE -

Li Tang Yuk
FignE

Director

EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

For the year ended 31st March 2022 HEZ—ZF - —F=A=+—HILFE

Balance at 1st April 2020

Comprehensive loss

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

Surplus on revaluation of buldings (Note 12(a))

Deferred taxation arising from revaluation
surplus of buildings (Note 28)

Currency ranslation differences

-Group

- Associates (Note 16)

- Release of exchange reserve upon disposal

of subsioiaries

Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive loss

Transaction with non-controling interest (Note 33)

Total transactions with owners, recognised
directly in equity

Balance at 31st March 2021

Jut a3
WA-AZ&R

2EHHR

EnEE

Efb2EhE

ETEfERIE18)

ETEMEREL /L
WaE25)

ErhEEs

-K5E

-BEDA (i 16)

- HEWBAR
E

Ef2EbEEE

2EERNE

BERREG,
§ % (%ﬁ'— 53/’

BRRACRRNE
g

RZ3=-%
ZRA=t-RCER

Attributable to owners of the Company

NN

Share Buildings Non-
Share Share  redemption QOther Contributed ~ Exchange ~ revaluation Accumulated  controling Total
captal  premum  reseve  reseve  suplus  difference resene losses  interests equity
RE RORERGEEEE AtEE  SARR  EXZEETEGRE ZnPE FERER 4R
HKB000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKB000  HKS000
Tér  Thr  TEn  TEr A TEr T FEn T TEn
18475 407428 12 1536 189009 (11504 82486  (350,149) 1602 438,8%
- - - - - - - (8249 (1148 (59.397)
- - - - - - 50 - - 50
- - - - - - 69 - - 69
- - - - - 3,176 - = 473 3,649
- - - - - 64 - - - 64
- - - - - 491 - - - a1
= = = = = 3,667 119 - 473 4,059
- - - - - 3,667 119 (58,249 (675) (65,138
= = = (7,916) = (369 = = 8,285 =
- - - (7,916) - (369 - - 8,285 -
118475 407428 12 (6,380) 189,009 (8206) 82606 (408,39 9212 383797
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RERERBER

For the year ended 31st March 2022 HEZ—ZF - —F=A=+—HIFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
FOTREARY
Share Buildings Non-
Share Share redemption Other Contributed  Exchange revaluation Accumulated - controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  surplus difference  reserve losses interests equity
k% ROARBOROEE RUGE @ RE ERERUTEARE HER FHBHE M8
HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$000
8T FET FET TET TET TET FET FET FET  FET
Balance at 1st April 2021 AZBZ-f
MA-ARR 118475 407428 12 (6380 189000 (3206 82605 (408398 9212 383757
Comprehensive loss 2EER
Loss for the year EREE o - - - - - - (39,232 (101)  (39,333)
Other comprehensive income A2EEE
Surplus on revaluation of buldings BFEHRS
(Note 12(3) (Wit 128) - - - - - - 208 - - 208
Deferred taxation arsing fiom revaluation suplus ~ EFERBHEL ZER
of bulings (Note 28) HE Wi 2) - - - - - - W - - W
Currency transiaion diferences ghiaEzE
- Group -15E - - - - - o) - - W5
- Associates (Note 16) -BERAWE16) - - - - - 4 - - - 4
- Release of exchange resenve upon disposal -~ - HEMER R
of a subsidiary (Note 7i) BHONERE
() - - - - - 34 - - -y
Total other comprehensive income A2 EbaeE - - - - - (453 24509 - 38 24454
Total comprehensive loss 2EGRRE - - - - - (453 24509 (30,23 207 (14879)
Balance at 31st March 2022 RZBZZE
=R=t+-HeH&R 118475 407428 12 (6,380) 189,009 (8659 107,114 (447,630) 9509 368,878
The notes on pages 68 to 221 are an integral part of these F68%E 221 Az M ANGEMBRERZ
consolidated financial statements. BRI -
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o  CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
C mARSRER

For the year ended 31st March 2022 HEZ—ZF - —F=A=+—HILFE

f 2022 2021
2 —E=—— —E-—%F
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
orza FET FET

Cash flows from operating activities BEEBZHESRE

Cash generated from operations BEMFRE 29(a) 4,485 14,244
Income tax paid B ATEH (450) (456)
Net cash generated from REEIEFSIR & )F 58
operating activities 4,035 13,788
Cash flows from investing activities BREFHZHRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB 3 - #eE N8 (8,931) (1,064)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - Sk
plant and equipment 2 TS 3kIE 29(c) - 18
Purchase of film and program rights, BEEZ LA A ik - B
films in progress and deposits for B R Ex N B iRiEZS
film and program rights (4,980) (13,316)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets ~ HERA O ET AIBR 2 B
at fair value through profit or loss EEZ FT{S5/IA - 4,407
Advance to an associate ERlislAYNCIE= BN = (168)
Cash and cash equivalents derecognised & — KB A R EUBER
upon disposal of a subsidiary RERZERRESIEE (192) -
Change in short-term bank deposits REHERSRITIE R E (1,010) (945)
Interest received BYFIE 8 319 876
Net cash used in investing activities KREZBAAREFHE (14,794) (10,192)

Cash flows from financing activities MEEFHZRERE
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings ~ $RITER M HMEE Z Fri5

I 29(b) 15,646 24,200

Repayments of bank and other borrowings ~ Ei&$R1T R EME R 29(b) (6,723) (19,199

Interest paid on bank borrowings EERITEET B 29(b) (1,561) (1,758)
Repayments of principal and interest EREEEZASRFE

elements of leases 819 29(b) (11,930) (11,398)

Net cash used in financing activities BB ST £ 5 (4,568) (8,155)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
mERERER

E_T_—_F=-A=+—HLEFE

Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year
Exchange differences

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of year

Analysis of balances of cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances in
the consolidated balance sheet
Bank overdrafts

Cash and cash equivalents in the
consolidated cash flow statement

For the year ended 31st March 2022 &;

HeRERRKRARD
B

FNRERERREEAR

EHERR

FRZESREAHLER

HReRFERRSRAZ
o
RiEaBEERBERIRER
RITH

RITEX

RiFERERERZAT R
HFRBREIAHA

The notes on pages 68 to 221 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

%
R

Note
HiaE

22
27

.!

2022 2021 VA

—z=—— —E-—— N
HK$000 HK$'000
F#ET T
(15,327) (4,559)
3,352 6,609
543 1,302
(11,432) 3,352
11,624 25,219
(23,056) (21,867)
(11,432) 3,352

68 £221 B2 MisF ARG IMIEHREK 2

BE15 -
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68

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Mei Ah Entertainment Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in channel operations, film exhibition and film
rights licensing and sub-licensing, cinema operations,
concert performance and events organisation,
applications and video online and property investment.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand (“HK$’000”), unless otherwise
stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the
Group consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

—REH
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap.622. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include the applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Listing
Rules")

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of buildings, investment properties and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”),
which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A BHRRME
EESTTEESE @)

AEBEZGAMBHRRIIIZRE LS
AtEag((BESMAE]) B
ZEBHBHRELER(TFBMBR
EEA ) RBEBERFGDIE622E 2
HRERS - WO - SREMBRRERE
BB HAERARESS LR
AI(T LR RN ]) AR E R E A B EE -

RAMBHRRIIIRE LKA E RS
WHIRAREREFER - |WE
W ARBEAREF AR (1R
AREFABRD ZEREENF
fERT

W

BT A BB RERERZ M H5 R
RERERETRREER - TH
REEEARAARESHRR 2B
RRITEHE - P REEKFHE K
B B SEGREMERRBE
RZ Bz s 2 R RE 4
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Basis of preparation

2.1.1 Going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of HK$39,333,000
(2021: HK$59,397,000) for the year ended 31st
March 2022, while the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$82,115,000
(2021: HK$90,149,000) and its cash and bank
balances amounting to HK$11,624,000 (2021:
HK$25,219,000) as at the same date. The
Group’s business operations, in particular the film
exhibitions and cinema operations, have been
adversely affected since the outbreak of Coronavirus
Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) since early 2020 and is
continuously being affected through the year ended
31 March 2022 and up to the date of the approval
of the financial statements. The timing of film release
has been postponed in response to market situation
and restrictions of operation have been imposed in
cinemas.

70 MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2 EESHHEEHE®R)

2.1.1 }51BHEE

REBRBE-_ZT-_—_F=A7
=t HBLEFEEAEEER
39,333,000 L (ZF = —4F :
59,397,000 7T) * MAEER
RBzRBEEBLERSE
82,115,000 (=T = —
% :90,149,000/87T) * LARHE
& RIRITA R 311,624,000
BT (ZE=—%F : 25,219,000
BIT) e BZE T F 12019
BAkEE ([COVID-19]) B i 1E
BOAKR  REEMEREE -
TLH RN E 2k & b 2 7%
FERZIANEE  WREE
—E-—F=-ZAR=F+—HIF
ERZEBZEVBREIERH
IFRFEXINTE - B LK
HEEMSERMEE - BT
TR PR Bl 4% &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Going concern (Continued)

The above conditions indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt about the ability of the Group to continue as a
going concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of
the Company have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity requirements and operating
performance of the Group and its available sources
of financing to assess whether the Group would
have sufficient financial resources to fulfil its financial
obligations to continue as a going concern. The
Group has taken plans and measures to improve
its financial position and to alleviate its liquidity
pressure, which include the following:

() The management of the Company has
scheduled to release its films during the year
ending 31st March 2023 and is confident that
the Company can collect the proceeds from
box office and licensing arrangements by 31st
March 2023 despite the development of its
film and exhibition operation remain uncertain
under the impact of COVID-19. The directors
of the Company are also taking measures to
improve the operating results of the Group’s
cinema and licensing operations in Mainland
China in anticipation of further easing of
prevention and control measures imposed by
the government.

e P HRRMEE

2 EESHHEHSE®)

2.1

IRBLELYE (&)

2.1.1 {FHEHEE (5)

ERERBRFEEATEE
M AREARERBELE
HEBRBZBEZRNEBRER
KRS ©

BERUEBR - ARRERE
FEERAKREREKNREDE
EBERNEERBEANEAH
MEERE - LFTEAEER
BERANTBEIREITEY
BREENFERLE - A&EE
Biat 8l RianE - AiE A
BARAMBEHE RS E SR
ho BERERETIIREA :

() ARREEREEEIRE
E_E_=F=ZRA=+—
HIEFELERES  ME
EB MMM EBRNERE
ECOVID-198) & 2 T 13
THEE BXAAAAFE
DARZEZ=F=H
=t+—HAKREEKRA
RhRERH A - BEE TR
H A B e e b 215 e
—FWE - ARFEETN
ERIEEAREAER
R B A 40 8K e B hi A %
EBREE -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern (Continued)

(i)

In respect of the Group’s existing bank facilities
of HK$50,216,000 at 31st March 2022, of
which HK$47,272,000 has been utilised as at
the same date, the directors of the Company
considered that such facilities will continue
to be available given that such facilities are
secured by the Group’s investment properties
and pledged bank deposits with carrying
value at 31st March 2022 of HK$44,400,000
and HK$23,500,000 respectively. In May
2022, the Group obtained an additional
bank facility of HK$25,000,000 which is
secured by the Group’s investment properties
pledged with carrying value at 31st March
2022 of HK$66,500,000. In addition to the
abovementioned, the Group had investment
properties amounting to HK$116,043,000 as
at 31st March 2022 that were not pledged
up to the date of this report. The directors of
the Company are confident that the Group
can obtain new bank facilities, as and when
needed, by pledging these investment
properties portfolio as security. These
unpledged investment properties are located in
major cities, including Hong Kong, Guangzhou
and Xiamen. The Group may also consider
to dispose of certain of these unpledged
investment properties to satisfy its funding
needs as and when necessary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2 EESHHEEHE®R)

21 REEEE)
2.1.1 F5iBHEE (&)

(i)

ARAEBER -T2 ==
F=A=+—HZHEA
& 17 {5 B50,216,000%
JC & R 47,272,0007%8
TERFRBEA @ ER%
EERR_TE=Z=_F=AH
=t+—HHAKEREEB
% Rl £44,400,0007%8 TT
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BEYEREERRITER
EEER - HARREER
RAZZERBAFERS
R -WR-—_ZT-_—FH A"
REBEFBINVIRITE
B % 25,000,000 7T -
ZRETIAREER=-F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Going concern (Continued)

(i) In addition, the controlling shareholder of the
Company has agreed to provide the Group
with financial support for a period of twelve
months from the approval date of these
consolidated financial statements to enable the
Group to meet its liabilities as and when they
fall due and to carry on its business without a
significant curtailment of operations.

The directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group’s cash flow projections prepared by
management. The cash flow projections cover a
period of not less than twelve months from 31st
March 2022. They are of the opinion that, taking
into account the abovementioned plans and
measures, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due within
twelve months from 31st March 2022. Accordingly,
the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

e P HRRMEE

2 EESHHEEHE®R)

2.1

BB (E)

2.1.1 F5iBHEE (&)

(i) HEAN - RABIERIREE
RERAEEREHERE R
EMBRRILEE R
At -EAHE B
& RAKESUEARE
B ERRSE L EE - WER
AANIRHIREE TFESE
jﬁ%o

ARREZESFCEEHERERR
ZASEREREEN - RE
MEBANREE T

=A=+t—HBEFILR+Z
&l A B - REFLZ R EiEt
EIRERE  REASEES
EHEEESREBEIREME
e RENB-_FT=-__F=A
=+—HEFT=EA A
WM BEE - Bt - EFMEE
NSRBI S B FRERE TS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, whether the Group

will be able to generate adequate cash flows to

continue as a going concern would depend upon

the following:

M

(i)

(i)

Timely release of its flms and collection of
the relevant proceeds from the box office and
licensing arrangements in the financial year
ending 31st March 2023 as anticipated by the
directors of the Company;

Successful implementation of measures to
improve the operating results of the Group’s
cinema and licensing business in Mainland
China and to generate sufficient cash inflow
upon further easing of prevention and
control measures currently imposed by the
government in Mainland China;

Successful in securing new or renewing
existing bank facilities by pledging investment
properties or obtain additional funding through
disposal of its investment properties to provide
additional funding, as and when needed; in
order to provide additional funding, as and
when needed; and

Successful in obtaining financial support from
the controlling shareholder, as and when
needed.

74 MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2 EESHHEEHE®R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRME

2 EESHHEEHE®R)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern (Continued)

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going

concern, adjustments would have to be made to

write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets

to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any

further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify

non-current assets and non-current liabilities as

current assets and current liabilities, respectively.

The effects of these adjustments have not been

reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

2.1.2 New and amended standards and interpretation

@)

New and amended standards and interpretation

adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS issued by HKICPA for
the first time for their annual reporting period
commencing 1st April 2021:

Amendments to HKAS 39,
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate
Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2

The amendments listed above did not have
any impact on the amounts recognised in prior
period and are not expected to significantly
affect the current or future periods.

21 REEEE)
2.1.1 F5iBHEE (&)

MARBEEFELE

Bl

EHRABARAEBEENR
EEMREH AT E S5 - A
RAIRELNERE—TEE
EL B E - WERBEER

BEIHEHDESRDEE
&E1

 ZERBNYEEFK

KR A BTSRRI BR o
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 New and amended standards and interpretation

(Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2 EESHHEEHE®R)

21 REEEE)

(b) New standards and amendments to standards that b)

have been issued but not yet effective and have not

been early adopted by the Group

Certain new and amended standards,

interpretation and accounting guidance have

been published that are not mandatory for 31st

March 2022 reporting periods and have not

been early adopted by the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 16

FRMBREERFE 1657
ZAER]

Amendments to HKFRS 3,
HKAS 16 and HKAS 37
AR IEwEERE IR
BB ERE 165 REE
SETAERIE 37 R 2 (EFT

Annual improvements
2018 — 2020 cycle

- N\FEZT_TF
JBIHA 2 2 B

Revised Accounting Guideline 5

RIERTEFTHEEIF 55

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30th June 2021
(@amendments)
—EC—FRA=TRZES
COVID-19 18R &R % (185T)

Narrow-scope amendments

NEEIER]

Improvements to HKFRSs

BB M HRE LR LOE

Merger Accounting for
Common Control Combinations
HRAEGIE Mz OS5 RE
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2.1.2 FATRAEEETERI R FE (/E)

E B8 5 2K 4 3% A A5

KB IR BIR 2 AT RA R
SEANEAT

& THE] R8T 48] -
“ZEKEgFHESI 28
MR _ZFEZ_F=H
=+t—HBz@mEHEER
SR AR TRAREAREE
REHEMW -

Effective for accounting
periods beginning

on or after
RUTHERZ#

Bt AR 3

1st April 2021

—E-—FmA—H
1st January 2022
—E-—F—H—H
1st January 2022
—ET-—F—H—H
1st January 2022
—E-—F—H—H



SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continuea)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 New and amended standards and interpretation

(Continued)

2.1

(b) New standards and amendments to standards that

have been issued but not yet effective and have not

been early adopted by the Group (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1

R EHERIE 1R ERT

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

BT ERFE1RR
BANEREERNER
wEF 2R AEET

Amendments to HKFRS 17
BBV IEwELERE1T R
ZAEE]

HKFRS 17
BAMBGHREEANSE 7R

Revised Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

SEESRRESH
~F-%F)

—=—=

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
HEESEARENIERE

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

il
ok

TR 2 W FR

Insurance Contracts
REEEH

Insurance Contracts

REBREH

Presentation of Financial

©®)

7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HRRMEE

EESTHESE @)

RBLEE (7)
2.1.2 FATRAEEETERI R IE (/E)

*EIE IR 2 WA A
SEANET ()

Effective for accounting
periods beginning

on or after

RETRMRZ &
sz et RN

1st January 2023

—E=F—H—H

1st January 2023

—E-=F—Hf—H

1st January 2023
—E-=F—Hf—H

1st January 2023
—E=%—H—H

1st January 2023

Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment

on Demand Clause

MR 2 —EBRALBERERE

B 2 G ERERN DR

—E-=F—H—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

/ 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.2 New and amended standards and interpretation
(Continued)
(b) New standards and amendments to standards that
have been issued but not yet effective and have not

been early adopted by the Group (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
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The Group has commenced, but not yet
completed, an assessment of the impact
of the new standards and amendments to
standards on its results of operations and
financial position. The Group is not yet in a
position to state whether these new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations
would have any significant impact on its results
of operations and financial positions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
2.2.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity
of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated income statement, statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and balance sheet respectively.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(Continued)

2.2.2 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting, after initially being
recognised at cost.

2.2.3 Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification
depends on the contractual rights and obligations
of each investor, rather than the legal structure of
the joint arrangement. The Group has both joint
operations and joint ventures.

(@  Joint operations

The Group recognises its direct right to the
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of
joint operations and its share of any jointly held
or incurred assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses. These have been incorporated in
the consolidated financial statements under the
appropriate headings.

(b)  Joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for
using the equity method, after initially being
recognised at cost in the consolidated balance
sheet.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

2.2.4 Equity accounting

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of
movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates and joint
ventures are recognised as a reduction in the
carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-
term receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

/ 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

82

POLICIES (continuea)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

2.2.4 Equity accounting (Continued)

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in accordance
with the policy described in Note 2.10.

2.2.5 Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A
change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling
interests and any consideration paid or received
is recognised in a separate reserve within equity
attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

2.2

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

2.2.5 Changes in ownership interests (Continued)

2.3

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an
associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share
of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where appropriate.

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless
of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

° fair values of the assets transferred

° liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business

° equity interests issued by the Group
e fair value of any asset or liability resulting from

a contingent consideration arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in
the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s
net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the

° consideration transferred,

° amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

° acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable
assets of the business acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity
or a financial liability. Amount classified as a financial
liability is subsequently remeasured to fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

23

2.4

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement
are recognised in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.5 Segment reporting

2.6

Operating segments are reported in a manner

consistent with the internal reporting provided

to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief

operating decision-maker, who is responsible for

allocating resources and assessing performance

of the operating segments, has been identified as

the Executive Directors of the Group that makes

strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED 354

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are remeasured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances (Continued)

(c)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. Translation differences
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value gain or
loss. For example, translation differences on
non-monetary assets and liabilities such as
equities held at FVPL are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

() assets and liabilities for each balance
sheet presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet;
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« NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
© RAMBRRMT

/ 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

2 EESHHEEHE®R)

26 SMEBRE(E)

(c) Group companies (Continued) (c) HELE(E)

88

(i)  income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment
in foreign entities, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as
part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Currency
translation differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d)

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over joint
venture that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence
over an associated company that includes a
foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s
ownership interest in associated companies or jointly
controlled entities that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly offices. Buildings are
recognised at fair value, based on periodic, but at
least triennial, valuations by external independent
valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings.
Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying
amount of the asset and the net amount is restated
to the revalued amount of the asset.

Freehold land is not depreciated. All other property,
plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |
REPBEEME &

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EREHBEHE@® L\

POLICIES (continuea)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 2.7 W% - HEENRME(E)

Increases in the carrying amount arising on
revaluation of buildings are credited to other
comprehensive income. However, the increase
shall be recognised in the consolidated income
statement to the extent that it reverses a revaluation
decrease of the same asset previously recognised
in the consolidated income statement. Decreases
that offset previous increases of the same asset are
charged against other comprehensive income; all
other decreases are charged to the consolidated
income statement.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings Over the remaining term of
the lease, or 50 years,
whichever is shorter

Leasehold Over the lease term, or 7-13

improvements years, whichever is shorter

Furniture, fixtures 10% to 25%
and equipment
Motor vehicles 25%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in the consolidated income
statement. When revalued assets are sold, the
amounts included in buildings revaluation reserve
are transferred to retained earnings.

Investment properties

Investment properties, principally comprising
leasehold land and buildings, are held for long-term
rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and
that are not occupied by the Group.

Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, including related transaction costs and where
applicable borrowing costs. Subsequently, they
are carried at fair value. Changes in fair values are
presented in profit or loss as part of other gains —
net.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.9 Film and program rights, films in progress and

deposit for film and program rights

(a)

(b)

Film and program rights and films in progress

Film and program rights and films in
progress are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Films in
progress are not amortised. The cost of film
rights is apportioned between film exhibition
and licensing, and is expensed on first public
exhibition or at a systematic basis with
reference to the underlying license periods.
The cost of program rights is expensed at
a systematic basis with reference to the
underlying license periods, which are subject
to annual review by Executive Directors.
Provisions are made for costs which are
in excess of the expected future revenues
generated by these films.

Deposits for film and program rights

License fees paid in advance by installments
under licensing agreements for distribution of
audio visual products and sub-licensing of film
and program titles, in specified geographical
areas and time periods, are accounted for as
deposits for film and program rights. Deposits
for film and program rights are recognised
when payment was made and the balance
payable under the licensing agreements is
disclosed as a commitment. Upon receipt of
the audio visual products and the materials,
the deposits would be transferred to film and
program rights and the remaining payable
balances will be recorded as a liability. Provision
for impairment loss is made against deposits to
the extent that the deposit is not recoverable in
the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.9

2.10

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED  3£EE#%

Film and program rights, films in progress and

deposit for film and program rights (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, both internal
and external market information are considered to
assess whether there is any indication that film and
program rights and deposits for film and program
rights are impaired. If any such indication exists, the
carrying amount of such asset is assessed. Films in
progress, being intangible assets not ready to use,
are tested annually for impairment. Where relevant,
an impairment loss is recognised to reduce the asset
to its recoverable amount. Such impairment loss is
recognised in the profit or loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have indefinite useful life
or intangible assets not ready to use are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Assets that are subject to amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.11 Financial assets
2.11.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at
FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.
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2.11.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

2.11.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

(i) Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group
classified its debt instruments as financial
assets at amortised cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.11 Financial assets (Continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRME

2 EESHHEEHE®R)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

2.11 Financial assets (Continueq)

2.11.3 Measurement (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Debt instruments (Continueq)

Financial assets at amortised cost are assets
that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
“finance income” using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in “other gains — net”
together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated income
statement.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit
or loss as “other income” when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in “other gains — net”
in the consolidated income statement as
applicable.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

2.11.4 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

For other financial assets at amortised cost (including
cash and bank balances, pledged bank deposits,
short-term bank deposits and other receivables and
deposits), the Group measures the impairment as
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit losses, depending on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant increase in
credit risk of these assets has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

212

2.13

2.14

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The Group has also entered
into arrangements that do not meet the criteria for
offsetting but still allow for the related amounts to be
set off in certain circumstances, such as bankruptcy
or the termination of a contract.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out (“FIFO”) method. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value.
The Group holds the trade and other receivables
with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.15

2.16

2.17

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank
overdrafts.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the
reporting period.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.18

2.19

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
consolidated income statement over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

(a

The income tax expense or credit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries
where the Company, its subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entity operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether it
is probable that a taxation authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely amount or
the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is determined
assuming the property will be recovered entirely
through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

w

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)
2.21 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave as a result of services rendered by employees
up to the consolidated balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

Group companies operate various pension schemes.

The group companies in Hong Kong participate in
a mandatory provident fund scheme and another
defined contribution plan. A defined contribution
plan is a pension plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits
relating to employee service in the current and prior
periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or
privately administered pension insurance plans on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expenses when
they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.21 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations (Continued)

The group companies in Mainland China participate
in defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by relevant government authorities for
its employees in Mainland China and contribute
to these plans based on certain percentage of the
salaries of the employees on a monthly basis, up to
a maximum fixed monetary amount, as stipulated
by the relevant government authorities. The
government authorities undertake to assume the
retirement benefit obligations payable to all existing
and future retired employees under these plans. The
contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due.

Other employee benefit obligations

The liabilities for long service payment that are not
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service. These obligations
are therefore measured as the present value of
expected future payments to be made in respect of
services provided by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities
in the consolidated balance sheet if the entity does
not have an unconditional right to defer settlement
for at least twelve months after the reporting period,
regardless of when the actual settlement is expected
to occur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

2.21
(d)

2.22
(a)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect
of employees’ services up to the end of the
reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as other payables in the
consolidated balance sheet.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan, under which the entity receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

° including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

° excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or holding shares for a
specified period of time).
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e P BHmRHE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.22 Share-based payments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

(Continued)

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any,
in the profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment
to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital (and share premium).

Share-based payment transactions among Group

entities

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as
an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings,
with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent
entity accounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |
REPBEEME &

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EREHBEHE@® L\
POLICIES (continuea) LY
2.23 BERIAEE

2.23 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect
to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.

Provision for an onerous contract is recognised
when the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received. The unavoidable
costs under a contract reflect the least net cost of
exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the
cost of fulfiling the contract and any compensation
or penalties arising from failure to fulfil the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.23

2.24

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED 354

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continueq)

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable
that outflow of economic resources will be required
or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will
then be recognised as a provision.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of
the good or service is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the
laws that apply to the contract, control of the good
or service may be transferred over time or at a point
in time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.24 Revenue recognition (Continueq)

(a

Control of the good or service is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over
time, revenue is recognised over the period of the
contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the good or
service. Specific criteria where revenue is recognised
are described below.

Revenues from channel operations

Revenues from channel operations mainly comprise
channel supply revenues arranged under fixed-price
contracts. Revenues are recognised on a straight-
line basis over the contract periods which generally
coincide with when the relevant channels are
broadcasted. The customer pays the fixed amount
based on a payment schedule. If the services
rendered exceed the payment, a contract asset is
recognised. If the payments exceed the services
rendered, a contract liability is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.24 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b) Film exhibition income

Film exhibition income is recognised when the film is
exhibited.

(c) Revenues from licensing and sub-licensing of film

rights

Revenues from the licensing and sub-licensing of
film rights is recognised upon delivery of the master
materials of films in accordance with the terms of
the underlying contracts. The customer pays the
fixed amount based on a payment schedule. A
contract liability is recognised for the payments
made by customers before control of the film rights
is transferred to the customer.

(d) Revenues from cinema operations

Revenues from cinema operations mainly comprise
income from box office takings, which is recognised
when the services are rendered to the buyers. A
contract liability is recognised for the payments
made in advance by customers until the customers
utilise the amounts paid for services.

(e) Revenues from applications and video online

Revenues from launching mobile application is
generated from the provision of digital marketing
services. Revenues are recognised when the
related production and publicity services have been
rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuea)

2.24 Revenue recognition (Continueq)

(f)

(9

(h)

(i)

Rental income

Rental income from investment properties is
recognised in the consolidated income statement on
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Management fee

Management fee income is recognised when the
services are rendered.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised
cost calculated using the effective interest method
is recognised in the profit or loss as part of other
income. Interest income is presented as “finance
income” where it is earned from financial assets that
are held for cash management purposes.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset except for financial assets that
subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-
impaired financial assets the effective interest rate
is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.24
0)

2.25
(a

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Accounting for significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a
significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods
or services to the customer.

In those circumstances, the contract contains
a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of
whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated
in the contract or implied by the payment terms
agreed to by the parties to the contract.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

° the profit attributable to owners of the
company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares

o by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.25 Earnings per share (Continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used

in the determination of basic earnings per share to

take into account:

e the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares, and

e the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.26 Leases
(a) The Group as the lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group has elected not to separate
lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease component.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)
2.26 Leases (Continued)

(a

The Group as the lessee (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date

amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees

the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option, and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
that option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS =

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)
2.26 Leases (Continued)

(a) The Group as the lessee (Continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, which is generally the case
for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted
to reflect changes in financing conditions since
third party financing was received, and makes
adjustments specific to the lease.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)
2.26 Leases (Continued)

(a

(b)

The Group as the lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received

e any initial direct costs, and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
properties are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

The Group as the lessor

Lease income from operating leases where the
Group is a lessor is recognised in “other income” on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continuea)

2.27 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to non-current assets
are deducted from the carrying value of the related
assets. The grant is recognised in a profit or loss
over the life of a depreciable asset.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, price risk and cash flow interest
rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the Executive
Directors of the Group. The Executive Directors
identify and evaluate financial risks in close co-
operation with the operating units of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continueq)

(a) Market risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and the Republic of China
(“Taiwan”) and is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to Renminbi (‘RMB”) and
New Taiwan dollar (“NTD”). Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities denominated
in a currency that is not the functional currency
of the individual group company and net
investments in foreign operations.

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations whose net assets are exposed to
foreign currency translation risk arising primarily
with respect to RMB and NTD. Currency
exposure arising from the net assets of the
Group’s foreign operations is managed primarily
through sourcing suppliers denominated in
the same foreign currencies. Management
considers the foreign currency exposure with
respect to RMB and NTD is not significant as
the functional currency of the respective foreign
operations are also RMB and NTD respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRME

R ERE &)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continueq)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March 2022, if HK$ had strengthened/
weakened by 5% (2021: 5%) against RMB with
all other variables held constant, pre-tax loss
for the year would have been HK$1,108,000
lower/higher (2021: HK$1,449,000 lower/
higher), mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on translation of payables
denominated in either HK$ or RMB that is not
the functional currency of the individual group
companies.

The Group minimised its other foreign
exchange risk by denominating majority of its
foreign currency transactions in the United
States dollar (“USD”), which is pegged with
HK$ at a designated range such that the
exposure on fluctuation of foreign currency rate
is limited.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities
price risk because of the investments held by
the Group and classified in the consolidated
balance sheet as financial assets at FVPL.
The Group is not exposed to commodity price
risk. To manage its price risk arising from
investments in equity securities, the investment
portfolio is continuously reviewed, carefully
monitored, and diversified in accordance with
the limits set by the Executive Directors of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continueq)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Price risk (Continued)

The Group’s equity securities interests are
publicly traded. At 31st March 2022, if the
share prices of the equity securities of the
Group had increased/decreased by 5% (2021:
5%), the pre-tax loss for the year would have
been HK$295,000 (2021: HK$287,000) lower/
higher.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group has cash balances placed with
reputable banks and financial institutions,
which generate interest income for the Group.
The Group manages its interest rate risk by
placing cash balances in these institutions with
various maturities and interest rate terms.

Borrowings at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk which is partially
offset by cash held at variable rates. Details of
the Group’s borrowings have been disclosed in
Note 27.

At 31st March 2022, if the interest rate had
been 50 basis points (2021: 50 basis points)
higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, pre-tax loss for the year would have
been HK$45,000 (2021: HK$10,000) higher/

lower.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continueq)

(b) Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
pledged bank deposits, short-term bank deposits,

cash and bank balances, trade receivables, other

receivables and deposits. The carrying amounts of

each financial asset represent the Group’s maximum

exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis.
Credit risk arises from pledged bank deposits,
short-term bank deposits and cash and
bank balances as well as credit exposures to
customers, including outstanding receivables
and committed transactions, and other
debtors. The Group only places deposits
in reputable banks and financial institutions
and manages its credit risk associated with
trade receivables through the application of
credit approvals, credit ratings and monitoring
procedures. Advances to other debtors will
only be made to those with appropriate credit
histories.

Credit sales are only made to customers
with appropriate credit history or high credit
standing while sales to new customers or
customers of low credit standing are usually
made on cash on delivery basis. Loss of
receivables will be made in light of existing
evidence of uncollectibility.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1
(b)

Financial risk factors (Continueq)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has the following assets that are
subject to the expected credit loss model:

e trade receivables from the provision of
services

° other financial assets at amortised cost

While pledged bank deposits, short-term bank
deposits and cash and bank balances are
also subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit loss, trade
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1
(b)

Financial risk factors (Continueq)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period of
36 months before 31st March 2022 and
the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables.

Trade receivables with known insolvencies
are assessed individually for impairment
allowances and are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators
of insolvencies include, amongst others, the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group, and customers who did
not share the same credit risk characteristics as
the rest of the debtors were in delinquency of
payments. As at 31st March 2022, the balance
of loss allowance in respect of these individually
assessed receivables was approximately
HK$19,868,000 (2021: HK$20,868,000).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1
(b)

Financial risk factors (Continueq)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)
Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables without known insolvencies
are assessed on a collective basis based on
shared credit risk characteristic. Based on the
Group’s assessment, expected credit loss rate
of these trade receivables is close to zero. The
impact of the expected loss is assessed to
be immaterial and no further loss allowance is
needed under the expected credit loss model.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating loss. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group applies a 12-month expected credit
loss on other financial assets at amortised cost.
Management considered among other factors,
analysed historical pattern and concluded that
the expected credit loss for other financial
assets at amortised cost to be immaterial as
the credit risk is assessed as low.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continueq)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)

Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

Net impairment losses on financial assets
recognised in consolidated income statement

During the year, the following (reversal)/
provision were recognised in profit or loss in
relation to impaired financial assets:

Impairment losses on amounts
due from associates

Impairment losses on other receivables E- At & U /I8 2~ S5l (B 518
R 5B E 5 EUGRIA

Reversal of previous impairment
losses on trade receivables
Reversal of previous impairment
losses on other receivables
Reversal of previous impairment

ZRIEREE

(EEE

losses on amount due B 2 R(EEE
from a joint venture

Net (reversal of)/provision for M EERERRE
impairment losses on financial assets (B [@) /B %58

In addition, provision for impairment of an other
receivable of HK$56,096,000 was made during
the year ended 31st March 2022 and included
in “loss on disposal of a subsidiary” in Note 7
(2021: Nil).

183 5t B A e MR 2

31 HKRREZEE)
(b) EERE(E)

(i)

JE Wb &~ R FRIR R B R 1B

BOLREE—REEEE

BB ERE (&)

H i B H K K5t B 2 BT
BE ()

KR A W e R T R B
BEERERIRFRA

=R UTABM AR
RE2 (BE)/ BERA
MR ¢

2022 2021
=" —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

550 4,969

— 4,184

(1,000) -
— (630)
- (400)

(450) 8,123

N BEZZE - —F=
A=+—HBLFE 25
HLh 8 U SR IE T 1R R (B B
1%56,096,000/8 7T * W&t
A7 HE R B A
AZEBEREIN(ZE=—
F )

Annual Report 2022 &%

127



128

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1
(c)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of non-availability of funds
to meet all contractual financial commitments as
they fall due. The Group’s objectives are to maintain
a prudent financial policy, to monitor liquidity ratios
against risk limits and to maintain a contingency
plan for funding to ensure that the Group maintains
sufficient cash to meet its liquidity requirement.

The Group meets its day to day working capital
requirements, capital expenditure and financial
obligations through cash inflow from operating
activities and the facilities obtained from banks. Due
to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
management maintains flexibility in funding by
maintaining availability under committed credit lines.

The directors closely monitor the Group’s liquidity
position and financial performance to ensure it
has sufficient cash flow to meet the operational
need. These measures include raising additional
capital, extending existing loan facilities, obtaining
additional financing from banks and/or shareholder
and realising certain financial assets or investment
properties held by the Group through disposal, if
considered necessary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1
(c)

Financial risk factors (Continueq)

Liquidity risk (Continueq)

At 31st March 2022, the Group held cash
and bank balances of HK$11,624,000 (2021:
HK$25,219,000). Except for cash and bank
balances, the Group also has short-term bank
deposits of HK$3,309,000 (2021: HK$2,200,000)
and financial assets at FVPL of HK$5,893,000 (2021:
HK$5,740,000) that are expected to readily generate
cash inflows for managing liquidity risk. The Group is
expected to be able to generate sufficient cash flows
to cover its operating costs and meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the coming
twelve months from the date of these financial
statements.

Further details on the Group’s liquidity position are
set out in Note 2.1.1 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continueq)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continueq)

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative

financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings

based on the remaining period at the consolidated

balance sheet date to the contractual maturity

date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the

contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Group

At 31st March 2022

Trade and other payables
(excluding accrued
employee benefits)

Amounts due to associates

Lease liabilities

Bank and other borrowings

At 31st March 2021

Trade and other payables
(excluding accrued
employee benefits)

Amounts due to associates

Lease liabilities

Bank and other borrowings
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FET FET FET FHET FHET
72,395 - - - 72,395
13,710 - - - 13,710
12,884 12,634 39,329 78,504 143,351
48,215 100,594 - - 148,809
84,305 - - - 84,305
18,036 - - - 18,036
11,904 11,950 37,257 88,246 149,357
52,763 10,897 73,155 - 136,815
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3

3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or convertible notes and derivative
financial instruments, or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided
by shareholders’ funds.

The gearing ratios at 31st March 2022 and 2021
were as follows:

Bank and other borrowings (Note 27) IRITRHEAMEE
Lease liabilities (Note 13) MERE (HF13)
Total borrowings REE

Total equity HarE

Debt to equity ratio B K

Gearing ratio*

*

Gearing ratio was calculated based on the Group’s bank
and other borrowings to its total equity as at 31st March
2022 and 2021.
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T
2022 2021
= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
143,340 128,703
114,112 116,224
257,452 244,927
359,369 374,545
71.6% 65.4%
39.9% 34.4%
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« NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
© RAMBRRMT

4/ 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Coninved 3 MBRBREE@
= 3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 2QREME
The table below analyses financial instruments TRUAGBERESTEAAE
\ carried at fair value, by valuation method. The TECZHMBIA - FRZERZ
different levels have been defined as follows: ERWLT -

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets s [REEEXAGELEET

for identical assets or liabilities (level 1). BEsWME(REHAE)
(B—8) -

e Inputs other than quoted prices included e HEBIER)IHEE
within level 1 that are observable for the asset BRITE)EAE —RF
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or WMEAIIN AJBIREER
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2). BEHE(E2R) -

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not o (ERFEERAIBRMSH
based on observable market data (that is, B2 BEEXEEHE (A
unobservable inputs) (level 3). TABREE) (BF=4) -

The carrying amount of the financial instrument of AEEBZHMBTAREEN

the Group is as follows. See Note 12 for disclosure T ARZEMEAFTENY

relating to the property, plant and equipment which ¥ MELRENRE #2

are measured under revaluation model and Note 14 BMsE12 - mMBBIEAERT

for investment properties which are measured at fair EMNREYE - FL2EME14 -
value.

The following table presents the Group’s financial TREVWRZZEZZ_FR=ZF

assets that are measured at fair value and included T—F=A=1T—HBBE—#&

in level 1 at 31st March 2022 and 2021. WRANBEFEZRNEEME
2022 2021
- ot - —E-—4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Assets HE

Financial assets at FVPL BANEF ABEMBEE

— Equity securities (Note 19) — BRARZS (Mt 19) 5,893 5,740
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

The Group does not have any financial assets/
liabilities that are subject to offsetting, enforceable
master netting arrangement and similar agreements
during the year.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the consolidated balance sheet date. A market
is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily
and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current
bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily
equity investments listed in Hong Kong classified as
financial assets at FVPL.

The carrying values less loss allowance of deposits,
trade and other receivables, cash and bank
balances, short-term bank deposits, pledged bank
deposits, trade and other payables, amount due
to a director, amounts due to associates and bank
borrowings approximate their fair values due to their
short maturities.

During the years ended 31st March 2022 and 2021,
there were no transfers of financial instruments
between levels 1, 2 and 3.

3
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w

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that may have a
financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below:

(@) Impairment of film and program rights, films in

progress and deposits for film and program rights

As set out in Note 2.9, impairment assessment
on film and program rights, films in progress and
deposits for film and program rights are performed
at the end of each reporting period where there
is indication of impairment with reference to
both internal and external market information,
for example, sales forecast based on expected
popularity of the respective titles, the expected
production, sales and distribution costs budget and
the general economic conditions of the relevant
markets. Based on the assessment, impairment
losses on film and program rights, films in progress
and deposits for film and program rights amounting
to HK$3,586,000 (2021: HK$14,400,000) were
recognised in the consolidated income statement
during the year ended 31st March 2022. Changes
in assumptions used in this assessment, including
the forecasted revenue, may result in additional
provision being made in the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continueaq)

(b)

()

Valuation of investment properties and buildings

The best evidence of fair value is current prices
in an active market for similar leases and other
contracts. In the absence of such information,
the Group determines the amount within a range
of reasonable fair values estimated. In making its
estimates, the Group considers the information from
the valuations of investment properties and buildings
performed by external professional valuers by using
the open market value approach and depreciated
replacement cost. Had the Group used different
valuation techniques, the fair value of the investment
properties and buildings would be different and thus
may have an impact to the consolidated financial
statements.

Impairment of other receivables and amounts due

from associates

The Group makes provision for other receivables and
amounts due from associates based on an estimate
of the recoverability of these receivables. Provisions
are applied to other receivables and amounts
due from associates where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be collectible. The identification of impairment of
other receivables and amounts due from associates
requires the use of estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying amount of receivables and
the provision for impairment in the period in which
such estimate has been changed.
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4/ 4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 BASEERGHaTH A ()

JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(c) Impairment of other receivables and amounts due (c) EHMMEWREUREREEQAFZ
from associates (Continued) RIERE (&)
The 12-month expected credit loss was applied. AEEEEA12EA/EHEE
The loss allowances for financial assets are based EiE - MBEENBERED
on assumptions about risk of default. The Group EREHEARRHRE - A&
uses judgment in making these assumptions and EREEZERELBEERE
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, FTE B AR - BREASE
based on the Group’s past history, existing market T4E - RITMARRS®REH
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at R BT M ET BT ST ©

the end of each reporting period.

Based on the assessment, impairment losses of BB - H AR EIE 2R
other receivables amounting to HK$56,096,000 {E/§51856,096,00078 7T (MI5E7)
(Note 7) (2021: HK$4,184,000) and amounts due (ZZT=—% : 4,184,000%7T)
from associates amounting to HK$550,000 (2021: K JfE W st &~ /] 5k 18 550,000
HK$4,969,000) were recognised respectively in BL(ZF :—E : 4,969,000
the consolidated income statement during the year BIL)EDRREBE_ST-_—_F
ended 31st March 2022. SA=1T—"RHIEFEZEAEW
IR R ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continueaq)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and

right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The
recoverable amounts have been determined based
on the higher of value-in-use calculations or fair
value less costs of disposal. The calculations require
the use of judgments and estimates. Management
judgment is required in the area of asset impairment
particularly in assessing: () whether an event has
occurred that may indicate that the related asset
values may not be recoverable; (ii) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value
less costs to sell and net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset in the business; and (i)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the discount rates or the growth rate
assumptions in the cash flow projections, could
affect the net present value used in the impairment
test and as a result affect the Group’s financial
position and results of operations.

e P HRRMEE

4 BRI EFTRHE @

(d)

ME  BERREUREAEEE
A

BEESEHERNBEREER
7BRTE € 58 0] A2 A A IO B -
REBEYE - BB RFZHEIU
REFAEEERETRER
e S EREBFERAEESK
ARBEREENETME B 2R
BMEMEBETE - ZAEHERE
e kAR EREETE
HETEEREHRE  LHZF
iy (\RECHLENEBETEH
BEBENATKRE®EMY (i)
Ak El &5 (AR ER L EK
AREBEREBPR/ECREH
BEMTHRRBASREFH
EMEPHREE) D%
BEEMEREME &) HE
HensRAtEANEE X
ZRE REZEHSRERE
BREEREEE KRR -
EREMEERETGEREN
BR(BEMRENIRERER
BFTAMIERERR) BHME
1t - AT e & %R BRI P AR
WIREFRERTE K
BAREBIBMRN RIS EFELE o

Annual Report 2022 &%

137



138

. ¢
j,z&-r«/

‘)

|

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION Wz Ko BER
2022 2021
—E—_= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Revenue &

Channel operations GEVEE S 41,264 56,170

Film exhibition and film rights licensing BRI R E R hRIER

and sub-licensing PNEEEE 12,322 11,915
Cinema operations B 23,781 26,186
Applications and video online FERFE RAE AR AR AR 851 1,317

78,218 95,588
Other income Htuk A
Rental income from investment properties WEWERSWA (Hfat 14)

(Note 14) 7,389 5,616
Management fee income EBBWA 276 276
Dividend income REMA 18 9
Government grants (Note) RSB (HTaE) 50 1,589
Others EHAh, 2,301 807

10,034 8,297
88,252 103,885
Note: Hat -

It mainly represents government subsidies from the Anti-epidemic Fund
granted by the HKSAR Government to provide time limited financial
support to eligible entities due to the adverse situation of COVID-19 in
Hong Kong. As at 31st March 2022 and 2021, there were no unfulfilled
conditions or other contingencies attached to the receipts of those
grants.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

The chief operating decision makers have been identified
as the Executive Directors of the Group. The Executive
Directors review the Group’s internal reporting in order
to assess performance, allocate resources and make
strategic decisions. The Executive Directors have
determined the operating segments based on the Group’s
internal reporting.

For the years ended 31st March 2022 and 2021, the

Group mainly operates in below business segments:

e  Channel operations

e Film exhibition and film rights licensing and sub-
licensing

o Cinema operations

e  Concert performance and events organisation

e  Applications and video online

° Property investment

7
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

The segment information for the year ended 31st March

2022 by each principal activity is as follows:

Segment revenue
Reportable segment profit/{oss)
Reportable segment assets
Reportable segment liabilities
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Fair value gains on revaluation
of investment properties
Amortisation of film and program rights
Provision for impairment of fim
and program rights and fims in progress
Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment
Provision for impairment of
right-of-Use assets
Impairment losses on amounts due
from associates

Reversal of previous impalrment losses
on trade receivables
Loss on disposal of a subsicliary
Finance costs
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Additions to film and program rights,
fims in progress and deposits for film
and program rights

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers
Timing of revenue recognition:
At apoint in time
Over time
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—EF

ZA=T—HUEFESIRERMAT

Film
exhibition and
film rights Concert
licensing and performance  Applications
sub-licensing andevents  andvideo
Channel ~ EXHMKER Cinema  organisation online Property
operations BEMH#E  operations REER  BRELR  investment Others Group
FERE  RHRER BRER ElER ERRA nERE 2 350
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HK§'000
FET TET FET TET FET TET FET TET
41,264 12,322 23,781 - 851 - - 78218
7508 (11789  (29506) (25 (653) 12429 (t6)  (28297)
16,375 166,755 69,056 11,566 150 234,522 26,875 525,299
(10853 (@0770)  (146241) (6636) - (381 (0669 (230989
(330) (14) (4.457) - (12) - (201) (5,014)
- - (6,243) - - - - (6,243)
- - - - - 9,152 - 9,152
(11,359) (2520) - - - - - (13873)
- (3,586) - - - - = (3,586)
- - (5,833) - - - - (5,833)
- = (14,005) = - - - (14,005)
- ) - - (366) - (179) (550)
- - - - - - 1,000 1,000
- - - - (1,051) - - (1,051)
- - (8617 - - - - (8617)
- 35 194 - 9% 11,560 - 11,885
3,060 2,363 - - - - - 5423
- 12322 2781 - 81 - - 36,954
41,264 - - - - - - 41,264
41,264 12,322 23,781 - 851 - - 78218
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WKaEkoHBER @) \&
(Continued) h
The segment information for the year ended 31st March BEEITEEHISCBE_T-_—F
2021 by each principal activity is as follows: —A=Z+t—HIFESPERAT : ’

Film
exhibition and
film rights Concert
licensing and performance  Applications
sub-ficensing and events and video
Chamel  EFHBR Cinema  organisation onling Property
operations SYME  operations REER  EREAR  investment Others Group
BEXE  RURER Bz E T o b ] NERE Aft 1£8
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
& AT AT & AT AT FAT AT
Segment revenue Al 56,170 11,915 26,186 - 1,317 = = 95,588
Reportable segment profit/{oss) BESGE ‘If /(B) 6,997 (2,669) (63,258) 360 (4,593 4319 (110) (48,888)
Reportable segment assets EHFTEE 20911 187,586 99,286 9,906 1,861 223617 21,397 570,464
Reportable segment ebilties 12853 ﬁﬁ (9415 Q1998 (744 (10287 73 ROG) (1043 (49549
Depreciation of property, plant % WEREEE
and equipment (247) (356) (11,530) - 83) - (322) (12,539)
Depreciation of ight-of-use assets PREEE e - - 8,276) - - - = 8.276)
Falr value gains on revaluafion EftRENRZ
of investment properties NMiEkE - - - - - 3,239 = 3239
Amortisation of fimand program rights ~~~ E&/RES A iRiEE (13,161) - - - - - = (13,161)
Provision for impaimment of fim EYREEE  B2T
and program rights, fims in progress EYREYRIOA
and depostts for fim and program rights ~~ RiER £ EER (7,666) (6,734) - - - - = (14,400)
Provision for impairment of property; % - BERRERERE
plant and equipment — — (16,000) — — — - (16,000)
Provision for impaiment FREAENERE
of right-of-use assets - - (29,000) - - - - (29,000)
Impaiment losses on amounts due EUBE AT B AR
from associates - (1,344) (3,514) - (111) - - (4,969)
Impairment losses on other receivables  EfEMFUEZRERE — (3730) = = = (454) = (4,184)
Reversal of previous impaiment losses ﬁé@ﬁﬁ‘ Eh-HaER
onamount cue from a joint venture B REEE - - - - 400 - = 400
Finance costs BARA - - (8,557) = = = = (8,557)
Addtions to property, plant and equipment  FEYE - kXA 19 - 710 - - 335 = 1,064
Addtions to fim and program rights, REBYRMERE  BRT
fims in progress and deposits for fim EYRETR
and program rights L 26 7213 8,380 - - - - = 15,593
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts ~ ERFAMIZSBHRA
with customers
Timing of revene recognition: A TRENRA -
Atapoit i fime REEHE - 11915 26,186 - 1317 - - %0418
Over time R-REHERA 56,170 - - - - - - 56,170
56,170 11915 26,186 - 1,317 - - 95,588
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a)

Others include the artiste management segment and
sales and distribution of films and programs audio
visual product format segment.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies.
Performance is measured based on segment profit/
(loss) that is used by the chief operating decision
makers for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance. Income tax
expense is not allocated to reportable segments.
Information provided to the Executive Directors of
the Group is measured in a manner consistent with
that of the consolidated financial statements.

The revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities of
the Group are allocated based on the operations of
the segments.

The revenue of HK$7,665,000 (2021:
HK$5,892,000) attributable to the segment “property
investment” has been included in other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HRRMEE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WHERIHBER @)
(Continued)
(d) Reconciliation of the reportable segment profit or (d TEHXRSTER BEEREB2YH
loss, assets and liabilities BR
Reportable segment profit or loss, assets and AZ{oHEmE - EERAE
liabilities are reconciled to loss before income tax HAEBERAERATERE &
and total assets and total liabilities of the Group as BEERBABEHERENOT :
follows:
Profit or loss Ha
2022 2021
= —=E=E %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Reportable segment loss Ef%iﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ (28,297) (48,888)
Unallocated amounts: R BLRIE
Unallocated other income KD EEWJ%U\ 18 9
Unallocated other gains — net RO e E Az
— F58 153 1,836
Unallocated finance costs ROBRE AR A (1,280) (1,396)
Unallocated reversal of previous R BeHEE S Al
impairment losses on other receivables E e Y RIE 2 B &R - 630
Unallocated depreciation of property, RO - #3s MR AE
plant and equipment ZITE (6,830) (6,068)
Unallocated depreciation ROMEREEECTE
of right-of-use assets (788) (788)
Unallocated share of profit/(loss) R BLrE(E — & A ]
of an associate FE, (&) 2,606 (1,768)
Unallocated share of loss of a joint venture KD ACFE(E — & S 1R - )
Unallocated corporate expenses RO ERY (8,153) (10,726)
Loss before income tax per consolidated 474 Wk & FT71 2
income statement FRET1S TR &R (42,571) (67,163)
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« NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
© RAMBRRMT

4/ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 IR % 8#0k (50

i (Continued)
(d) Reconciliation of the reportable segment profit or (d TZ{KIMiERE -  EEREBEZH
loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) BR(#&)
Assets BE
2022 2021
—E-— T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Reportable segment assets AIE2MDHEE 525,299 570,464
Unallocated assets: RAOBLEE :
Unallocated property, plant and ROBCYDZE - HES KA
equipment and right-of-use assets MAEREEE 213,231 189,028
Unallocated financial assets at FVPL ROBERAREF ABRZ
MBEE 5,893 5,740
Unallocated cash and bank balances RAOMEIRE KIRTTEERH 68 75
Unallocated interests in associates ROEREE AT &
and joint ventures EREMEER 10,513 7,863
Unallocated corporate assets Ao EEEE 2,192 7,727
Total assets per consolidated balance sheet #R& B EB BRI ZREE 757,196 780,897
Liabilities &R
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#IT FET
Reportable segment liabilities ﬂ%i&ﬁ%&ﬁf 230,983 249,549
Unallocated liabilities: ROBLEE
Unallocated bank and other borrowings ﬂiﬁﬁaﬁﬁﬂﬂzﬁwi&% 97,184 86,966
Unallocated amounts due to associates N AN NI E O 13,710 18,036
Unallocated current income tax liabilities ROMENHF SR asE 4,074 5,757
Unallocated deferred income tax liabilites A ERELEFTST B & 26,431 23,873
Unallocated corporate liabilities KoM EAE 15,936 12,959
Total liabilities per consolidated ImEEEABRAMIIC
balance sheet FE=R 388,318 397,140
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(e)

Geographical analysis of revenues from external

customers and non-current assets

The Group is principally domiciled in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and Taiwan. The revenues from
external customers and non-current assets other
than financial instruments located in Hong Kong and
other countries are analysed below:

Hong Kong B
Mainland China AR B A
Taiwan B
Other countries HABIR

During the year ended 31st March 2022, a customer
contributed over 10% of the Group’s revenue (2021:
2 customers). The revenue from the customers
during the years are as follows:

Customer A EFA
Customer B %FB
* The customer did not contribute over 10% of the Group’s
revenue for the year ended 31st March 2022.

e P HRRMEE

W=D EER 2

RENMBEEZWBERFERBEE
ZHE DA

AEEXTENUES  FEAK

N BEEREM - ELRE
BREMERZREINEBEP
Was MIERBEE (SR T AR
SN 2 AT

Revenue from
external customers

KB EBERIR
2022 2021
—E_C —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
35,316 28,887
25,707 28,240
9,633 9,784
7,562 28,677
78,218 95,588

HE_ZT-_—_F#=A=+—H
IFFE  E—R2EPERAE
BB 10% Kam (ZFE=Z—%F -
MEEF) REBTFEREE

PEREEAT -
2022 2021
—E-"F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
—* 28,677
23,806 17,710

* ZEERNBE-_ZE__F=A1
=t+—HALFETEEMASE
HBiB10% HyUR S ©
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© REMBWMRME

#/ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 W#R4BER @)

(Continued)
(e) Geographical analysis of revenues from external (e) RENBEFZUERIERBEE
customers and non-current assets (Continued) Z i ED T (&)
Non-current assets
(other than financial assets)
ERBEE (MBI ERI)
2022 2021
= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEir FEIT
Hong Kong B 473,445 446,710
Mainland China R A 171,974 196,199
Taiwan =y 25,400 25,986
Other countries HibEIZR 1,318 4,561
672,137 673,456
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WERIHER#)

(Continued)

(f)

Assets and liabilities related to contracts with

customers

The Group has recognised the following assets and

liabilities related to contracts with customers:

Deferred fulfilment costs related to concert
performance and events organisation
Less: provision for impairment of
deferred fulfilment costs (Note 6)

Net deferred fulfilment costs

Receipts in advance from film exhibition
and film rights licensing
and sub-licensing operations

Receipts in advance derived from
cinema operations

Receipts in advance derived from
channel operations

Total contract liabilities

ERREE REEE

B AEIEFR KPR A R B
(Hz£6)

BT B KIS RE

ERINIR N ERRER K
R 2 FAWGRIE

B R FATS 2 FBWEIA

BBEBE 2 BYEIA

(Hh BREFESNERZEERAEE

AEEEAATEEFEHE

MeEERARE
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
300 300
(300) —
— 300
9,735 7,417
3,639 3,702
- 8,041
13,374 19,160
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

(Continued)

() Assets and liabilities related to contracts with

customers (Continued)

(i) Revenue recognised in relation to contract

liabilities

The following table shows the amount of

revenue recognised in the current year that

relates to carried-forward contract liabilities:

Revenue recognised that was included
in the contract liabilities balance at
the beginning of the year

Licensing and sub-licensing of film rights

Cinema operations

Channel operations

FAFAHNEERESRZ
EfER S

R REREZRE
ke 75
SRS

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

(H BREFENERZEEREE(E)

FRESHRRZ KRR

TREFIAFEER M S
FREESHNREARRB

H5E -
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
339 1,464
1,367 2,837
8,041 —
9,747 4,301




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

() Assets and liabilities related to contracts with

customers (Continued)

(ii)

Unsatisfied performance obligations

The following table shows the unsatisfied
performance obligations resulting from fixed-
price channel operations and film rights
licensing and sub-licensing contracts:

Aggregate amount of the transaction
price allocated to contracts that
are partially or fully unsatisfied
as at 31st March

Management expects that 57 %
(HK$47,267,000) of the transaction price
allocated to the unsatisfied contracts as of
31st March 2022 will be recognised as revenue
during next year; 31% (HK$25,601,000) will
be recognised in the financial year ending
31st March 2024 and the remaining 12%
(HK$9,570,000) will be recognised in the
financial years ending 31st March 2025, 2026,
2027 and 2028.

E’Jx%f‘f%@%ﬁ

WK 5

ER (2

(H BREFESNERZEEREE(HE)

(ii)

E/\\:ﬂ _-1— BHD @Ei

&4

KRB

TREFIETERIBEE
BEXRERDKERE

N2 RTERBLHEEL
2022 2021
—ECCS —E—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
82,438 74,500

EREEME RZT =
E:H:‘f’_aﬂ mﬁﬁfi
BITEHNZRZERK
57% (47,267,000 7T ) #%
ET—FERRAR/WE
31% (25,601,000 7T ) #
RZE-—MF=A=+—

HIEBRFEEER - T
#912% (9,570,000 JT >
BR_ZE_-_RF-
ZINEE _7_‘t¢&_
E-_NF=ZA=+—H81t
B SR -
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« NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
© RAMBRRMT

ge

w

EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling, distribution
and marketing expenses and administrative expenses are

analysed as follows:

Amortisation of film and program rights (Note 15)

Depreciation
— Owned property, plant and equipment
(Note 12)

— Right-of-use assets (Note 13)
Provision for impairment of film and program
rights, films in progress and deposits for

film and program rights (Note 15)

Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment (Note 712)

Provision for impairment of right-of-use assets
(Note 13)

Provision for impairment of deferred fulfilment
costs (Note 5(f))

Rent concessions granted as a direct
consequence of COVID-19

Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit services

Direct operating expenses arising from
investment properties that generate rental
income (Note 14)

Employee benefit expenses (including directors’

emoluments) (Note 11)
Exchange (gains)/losses
Marketing and promotion expenses
Short-term operating lease rental in respect
of buildings (Note 13)
Production, playout and origination costs
Claims, legal and professional fees
Cost of inventories

6 ZEMEED
APABHERA - $HE - BT
BRI SA RATIRFA X 2 B X D 47 40

T

TR AN B AR (KYat 15)

e

— BEWE  HERRE
(Bt 12)

—fﬁ%%EFWﬁhw

T NMETEE  BRPET K
%%&%EW%&@Z
BB (M 15)

MIEE - MBS R RE RS
(Hiat12)

FREEEZRERE
(K17 13)

EIERKR 2 RAETRES (H1EL5(0)

R COVID- 19 E & R
EENHEESRE
ZE AN &
— %R
— IR
EEXRSWAZIEEYSE
2 B ERY
(Hiaz 14)
EERAAY (BRESHS)
(Kt 11)
N (W) EiE
MiGHEREREERY
BFZEBEERNAS
(H1a£13)
BUE - RSB AR
BR EAEERFERGER
BFERRA
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D Z B

2022

kS 2
HK$’000

FRT

13,873

11,844

7,031

3,586

5,833

14,005

300

(295)

1,861

1,415

38,465
(1,371)
756

31
6,366
3,575

189

Ko iz

2021

T —F
HK$'000
FET
13,161
18,606
9,064
14,400

16,000

29,000

(4,469)

1,815
80

1,655

40,436
1,456
152

88
8,801
3,919

360




7 OTHER GAINS — NET

Fair value gains on revaluation of investment
properties (Note 14)
Fair value gains on financial assets at FVPL

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment — net (Note 29(c))
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (Note (jii)

Gain on early termination

of a lease contract (Note (i)
Write-off of unclaimed accrual (Note (i)
Others

Notes:

7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HRRMEE

7 Hitlz — FE
2022 2021
= —E-—F
HKS$’ HK$000
FET FEr
EHBEVEZ ANE
Wizs (K17t 14) 9,152 3,239
RARERT ABRER 2T
BEZ ARBERE 153 1,240
HEME - HSREE2
518 — FE (K171 29(c) - 6)
HE— B AR ZEE
(K17 (i) (1,057) —
RERIFHEEAH WS
(K@) - 7,526
FESH M AR SEE Z ERT B (AL () - 19,517
HAth - 602
8,248 32,118

Mo

(i)

During the year ended 31st March 2021, the Group successfully
terminated a lease contract early for its cinema operations in
Shanghai at a cost lower than the amount originally stated in
the lease contract and accrued by the Group. As a result, a gain
on early termination of a lease contract of HK$7,526,000 was
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

During the year ended 31st March 2021, the Group wrote off an
accrual of HK$19,517,000 set aside for the portion of the film
rights licensing income received from a film distributor in Mainland
China (“PRC Distributor”) in excess of the amount as determined
based on the relevant licensing agreement. The accrual was
written-off in the current year after the PRC Distributor had
been deregistered for more than 7 years as the directors of the
Company considered it is extremely remote that the Group will be
required to pay the amount.

REE-_T=-_—F=A=+—HLF
B AEBKIINAERBES PSS
BUARANEBEEA KA 0 RER LF
ZEREKRERI—BREAN - F
It BRSNS KRR ERIESR LA
EAHWE 7,526,000 7T ©

REBEE-ZT-_—F=A=+—HIL%F
B AEBEEFHMEPEAM—F
BRRETE [(PREETE ] KEGER
BEAERERETETSENEY
i 8 152 1 U 56 3 BT 985 4 9 FE 5T B
19,517,000 87T ° ZEEABEAERH
BT R IR R FRRAEE
i RERARQARESTRANEREA
AR ERIE 2 B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

7 OTHER GAINS — NET (Continuea) 7

Notes: (Continued)

(iii) On 28 February 2022, the Group terminated a Variable Interest (iii)
Entity (“VIE”) arrangement with a 100% controlled subsidiary, 3t
RIELNMNE EBEMARS B R A F (“{JZ22X), and its financial
performance and position were deconsolidated as of the date of
termination. As of the date of VIE termination, JZZX recorded a
net liabilities position of HK$58,513,000, of which HK$56,096,000
represents an amount due to the Group, and exchange reserve of
HK$3,474,000. In view of the uncertainty over the recoverability
of amount due from JZZX of HK$56,096,000, a full provision
was made based on management’s assessment (Note 21). As a
result, upon such deconsolidation, the Group recorded a net loss
of HK$1,057,000 which is recognised in “other gains — net” for
the year ended 31st March 2022.

8 FINANCE COSTS — NET

Finance income
— Interest income on short-term bank deposits
— Interest income from the financing
components of contracts with customers

MBUA

ZFBHA

Finance costs
— Interest on bank and other borrowings
— Interest element of lease liabilities

MR E
— RITREMBEEZHNE
— HEREZHEEMD

Finance costs — net

MEEE — FH

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

Htb i zs
FiiE - (4%

8 MERR

— RHSRITERZ B YA
— EEP KR EEKE D

R (E)

RZEZZFZA=+\B  ~&H
R 1E—RI100% 42 B BT 8 2 Al 4k =&
BNAMNEBEMREE AR AR ([TEL
NNz EEaEE((rEERE
)= HMBEE KRR
EHEREUHGRE AR - B2 S iEn
ERRIEER  EENMMNEBARTF
1858,513,0007% 7T £ 156,096,000
78 TC 5 FE A A R B 3B ROOMNE 7 B
3,474,000 78 7T © 4 5 FE WLAE 48 L) 5K
18 2 W] Y B 72§ /5 56,096,000 Tt 17
ETETEE  MEREEEEMTEHE
RS (M E21) - Bt - EZE
HERE ARE - AEESSEEFE
1,057,000 7 * WRBE=ZT ==
=A=F+—BLEFER [Hblam—F
B | RHER o

R
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
108 280
211 596
319 876
(4,294) (4,339)
(5,603) (5,614)
(9,897) (9,953)
(9,578) (9,077)




7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRME

9 INCOME TAX CREDIT 9

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been provided
as the Group did not generate any assessable profit in
Hong Kong during the years ended 31st March 2022 and
2021. Taxation on other jurisdictions’ profits has been
calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the year
at the rates of taxation prevailing in the locations in which

FRrEBiiE%

HRAREREE—T

“FR=E

T—FZA=tHUEFELERE
BEEEERTOGEN - A ERE
BAEHIELEE - M eDEERA
B BRI IR E A A AT SRR AE LA
AEERERBE 2 BITREE

sty

the Group operates. = e
2022 2021
—E-— —E - —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TFETT FET
Current income tax BNERFT1S AR
— Hong Kong corporate income tax — BBEMEH = =
— Overseas corporate income tax — BIMEEFBR 90 -
— Over-provision in prior years (Note) — B TR (i) (1,003) (5,437)
Deferred income tax (Note 28) RIEFT1SHL (1L 28) (2,325) (2,329)
Income tax credit Fri8iRIESR (3,238) (7,766)
Note: Mgz -

It represents the derecognition of tax provision in respect of which the
time-bar period for assessment of the relevant provision has expired
during the years ended 31st March 2022 and 2021.

HEiga FRERTIBREE - Mt AR E 2=
EREEREBEE_ZE-_—_FK T -_—F=H8

=t+—HILFEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from

10

the theoretical amount that would arise using the Hong

9 FMEHER®
AEE 2 BTSRRI EE 2 FHI8 8RR
EHRAREHREMGTE 2 EBmisE

Kong taxation rate, as follows: ZEWT
2022 2021
—ECF —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TFET FAET
Loss before income tax E%Fﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ (42,571) (67,163)
Share of (profits)/losses of associates and a joint DR MERA AR 2 B2 A7) &
venture accounted for using the equity method ~ —A& &M% 2 CFF]) A (2,606) 1,772
(45,177) (65,391)
Tax calculated at a rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) KK 16.5% (—ZF ——4F :
16&@ﬁ22ﬁ% (7,454) (10,790)
Effect of different taxation rates in other countries EMER TR R 2 g2 (3,833) 6,721)
Income not subject to tax AR A (8,771) (5,711)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes AT AR 7,603 17,729
Tax losses for which no deferred income WEERBELEFSHEEZ
tax assets were recognised FIBEE 6,167 9,899
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised @Jﬁﬁ BT ARTER 2 TIBE 1R (947) (6,735)
Over-provision in prior years WA FEBEERE (1,003) (5,437)
Tax credit RIFER (3,238) (7,766)
LOSS PER SHARE 10 BRERE
(a) Basic (@ E=X

(b)

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the
loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$39,232,000 (2021: HK$58,249,000) by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of
5,923,739,000 (2021: 5,928,739,000) in issue
during the year.

Diluted

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31st
March 2022 and 2021 are the same as the basic
loss per share as there were no dilutive potential
ordinary shares.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

(b)

BREABEZRARBESR A
J& {5 /&5 839,232,000 T ( =
—4F : 58,249,000 7T ) Bk
AR A B 31T @ AR hn i 1
#(5,923,739,000 (=T = —
4 : 5,923,739,000 f%) 51 & -

s

AR EBFE#HEL B &
BE-_Z-_—_FR-_T-_—%
—A=t—BIFEZERE
SEEIEEEREAEIERR -



7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRME

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Wages and salaries
Pension costs — defined contribution plans

(a)

TENFE

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year include two (2021:
two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in
the analysis presented in Note 36. The emoluments
paid or payable to the remaining three (2021: three)
individuals during the year are as follows:

Basic salaries, allowances and

other benefits in kind lE

Pension costs — defined contribution plans 3RR& A — FE a2

All the individuals’ emoluments fell within the band
of HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 for the years
ended 31st March 2022 and 2021.

During the years ended 31st March 2022 and 2021,
no emoluments have been paid by the Group to the
two (2021: two) directors or the three (2021: three)
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office.

BIRERAN —

11 EERFABEX

l'!

EXFE R MEGEY

2022 2021
—E-— T —F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

33,886 36,888

RERKETE 4,579 3,548
38,465 40,436

(@) ENESEHFMAL

FR AEBRANRSHHA
T mME(ZEZ—F M
B)RES  BEZMEE M
F3 2RIz ATREE - FAE
RN TFTES =R (2T =—
F:=ZR) & TMATZHE

T -

2022 2021

= ===

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

4,670 4,023

104 70

4,774 4,093
HE T -~ Fr-_FT - —

—A=+—HILFE ' ZEA
+ 2 Bl € #[E A& 1,000,001 37T
Z£ 2,000,000 7T, ©

REBEE_T-_—_FR-_F_-—
FZA=+—HLFE K&
B EARZ(ZE_—F W
B)EFH=H(ZT=—F:
=R)EeFMALZNME -
ERBMARE B SR INARSE
By 2 BN E BB (E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Emolument policy

The Group’s emoluments (including the directors’
emoluments) are determined by the Board of
Directors with reference to their contributions in
terms of time, effort and their expertise and are
reviewed on an annual basis.

Pension schemes arrangement

The Group provides a mandatory provident fund
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for its staff in Hong
Kong under the requirement of the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
(“MPF Scheme Ordinance”). Under the current MPF
scheme, the Group’s contributions are calculated at
5% of the employees’ relevant income as defined
in the MPF Scheme Ordinance up to a maximum of
HK$1,500 per employee per month. The employees
also contribute a corresponding amount to the
MPF Scheme if their relevant income is more than
HK$7,100 per month. All benefits derived from the
mandatory contribution must be preserved until
the employee reaches the retirement age of 65
subject to certain exceptions. The assets of the MPF
scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in independently administered funds. The total
contribution to the MPF Scheme paid by the Group
during the year amounting to HK$304,000 (2021:
HK$324,000).

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

11 EERFABEX @

(b)

(c)

B = B R

rEBzZME (BREZHS)
DHEFERSEREZMMNTH
ZEREREN  UEREZER
ERAAMETE - WETFR

BASTEIRG

AEEREESREU RS
BEIEYIE: S K3
TZREREBEE TIRMHR
R EGH([RES
FTENEGI]) - RIBIA AR IE
et 8l ARE 2 HRIREE
ST EVEPIFT R E 2 B
WAS%HE = RAEREE
F A1,500E 7T - el B 218
AR ARBES H7,100% 7T -
Al Z A MR BT EI{ED
MEFE SR 2 MK o BrE T Bl
BN s ElERRTELEZ
2EHBAHERE EEES
FESHENFR AL - BIE
CREICEEHASE CEE
S2F AXBUBEBEZESHE
B FA AKEBRBRESE
ZE 2 4 3% 48 %8 /& 304,000
B (ZF = —4F : 324,000/
JT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

()

Pension schemes arrangement (Continued)

The Group also contributes to a defined contribution
retirement scheme (the “Retirement Scheme”) which
provides retirement benefits to its employees who
joined the Group prior to the adoption of the MPF
Scheme and chose not to join the MPF Scheme
after its adoption. The Retirement Scheme’s
assets are held in a provident fund (the “Fund”)
managed by an independent administrator. Under
the Retirement Scheme, both the employer and
the employees are required to contribute 5% of the
basic salary of the employees (up to a maximum of
HK$1,500 per employee) on a monthly basis. The
employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’s
contribution after 10 years of completed service,
or at a reduced scale of between 20% and 90%
after completion of 2 to 9 years’ service, in which
case the forfeited contributions are to be used to
reduce the employer’s contributions. The Group
has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay the related employee benefits. The
aggregate employer’s contributions, net of forfeited
contributions, which have been dealt with in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended
31st March 2022 amounting to HK$53,000 (2021:
HK$64,000).

e P HRRMEE

11 EERFABEX @

()

BARSTEIRE(E)

RE B IR R A E PR RETE
(MRRETEI D) fEH #3K - RIK
ETEI AR ETE S FT B 4N AT 0
BAKE B RRBEE 8
W EmBEZENABESHEZ
EERMEENREF o BIRFHE
CEERBEBYERAEEZ
AES(E2DIFE - BEER
Kat 8l BEREBHESA
ZEBEARH S5%ELHK
(e AFREE1,500%87T) < &
BRERI0FRBEEEZS
B EFTIEL 2 100% 3Kk » s
X2 E9FRIEE - IRIERLL
BI=ZH20% £ 90% B EHFK °
FHERT » BERREEE A
R EEZHK - WESI
BEERAEESNEHEESR
BF - AIAREE IR EE RS
EEEZHE—FPHK - ER
HE_ZT_-_—_F#=-A=+—H
HFEEZRAERERNERZ
1B 3B 5 (0B B8 Wit
) A53,0008 T (=ZF = —
F : 64,000787T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

()

Pension schemes arrangement (Continued)

At 31st March 2022 and 2021, there is no forfeited
contributions available to reduce future contributions
under the Retirement Scheme. There were no
contributions payable to the MPF Scheme and the
Retirement Scheme as at 31st March 2022 and
2021.

As stipulated under the relevant rules and regulations
in the Mainland China, the Group’s subsidiary
operating in the Mainland China contributes to
state-sponsored retirement plans for its employees.
Depending on the provinces of the employees’
registered residences and their current region of
work, the subsidiary contributes certain percentages
of the basic salaries of its employees and has
no further obligations for the actual payment of
pensions or post retirement benefits beyond the
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement plans
are responsible for the entire pension obligations
payable to the retired employees. The total
contribution to the social insurance paid by the
Group during the year amounting to HK$4,222,000
(2021: HK$3,160,000).

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

11 EERFABEX @

()

BIREFEIZH(E)

RZBZ—_FR_FT_—F=
A=+—H8 WEAHHEIIIR
BRARET B 2 RRERZE R
WK RZTE__FR-F
——F=ZA=+—H8 ' UERE
o8 & & 5t 8 KR RET 8l 2 1

o
A °

12 BR R B ) AR AR R R AR
RE - AEBRP B AMEE
WHB AR ERHEEMEXR
BBYR R IRETEIEH 5K - 18
TREZZHNFEENHRER
Al TYEHIR - MIB QR ZEED
HEBEAFSCETEA L
R B EE— PR ERZ
FEHFINBRR S HRINERR
FMIEH BRI - ZZBERE
BH R IRET 8 B B ERIKE
BENE2ERAREET - ~5E
A F [E BT A IR R
B EE 542220008 L( =&
——% :3,160,000/87T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EAMBREME &
12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 Y% - WBERRE |\
Furniture, -
fixtures and
Freehold Leasehold equipment Motor
land Buildings improvements e RE vehicles Total ’
KARELY BF HEVERE Rl RE 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT FAT TAT FAT TAT
At 1st April 2020 RZE-ZFMA—A
Valuation fifE - 147,848 - - - 147,848
Cost AR 16,939 - 67,660 54,577 6,278 145,064
Accumulated depreciation SAMERME
and impairment - - (34,318) (33,172) (5,399) (72,889
Net book amount FHFE 16,539 147,848 33,342 21,405 879 220,013

Year ended 31st March 2021 HZE-ZE=—4

SRET-RIEEE
Opening net book amount ENREFE 16,539 147,848 33,342 21,405 879 220,013
Additions e - - 1,081 33 = 1,064
Depreciation charge (Note ) TEBR (#1:#6) - (5,150) (7,539) (5,368) (555) (18,606)
Impairment loss (Note (&) REBB W) - - (10,125) (5,875) = (16,000)
Revaluation surplus (Note (3) ~ EftR#% (#:(2) - 50 - - - 50
Disposals HE - - = (24) = (24)
Exchange differences ERES 1,155 264 3714 (634) 15 4514
Closing net book amount FRIREFE 17,694 143,012 20,429 9,537 339 191,011
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(Continued)

At 31st March 2021

Valuation

Cost

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March 2022

Opening net book amount

Additions

Depreciation charge (Note 6)

Impairment loss (Note (g))

Revaluation surplus (Note (a))

Disposals

Disposal of a subsidiary
(Note 7ii))

Exchange differences

Closing net book amount
At 31st March 2022
Valuation

Cost

Accumulated depreciation

and impairment

Net book amount

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12 Y13 - WBRXRE @)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Furniture,
fixtures and
Freehold Leasehold equipment Motor
land Buildings improvements %8 KE vehicles Total
KARELY BT HENERE R0 RE &t
HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$:000
FAT T FAT FET FET FAT
N S3
=R=1+-H
& - 143,012 - - - 143,012
XA 17,694 = 73471 57,171 6,375 154,711
REHEREE
= = (53,042) (47,634) (6,036) (106,712)
FEFE 17,694 143,012 20,429 9,537 339 191,011
HE-Z-"F=f
=t+-HIEE
EYREFE 17,694 143,012 20,429 9,537 339 191,011
e - = 228 11,657 = 11,885
TEBR(Hi#6) - (5,278) (1,851) (4.471) (244) (11,844)
REEE (W) - - (4,270) (1,563) = (5,839)
BB (2R - 29,238 - = = 29,238
e - - - (8,903) - (8,903)
LE—RBAR M2 7))
= = = (143) = (143)
EHES 45 15 667 306 1 1,034
FRREFE 17,739 166,987 15,203 6,420 9% 206,445
RZZE-Z
=B=1+-8
A = 166,987 = = — 166,987
KA 17,739 - 75,655 60,045 6,411 159,850
REERRE
= = (60,452) (53,625) (6315) (120,392)
FEFE 17,739 166,987 15,203 6,420 96 206,445
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

(@)

The buildings were last revaluated on 31st March
2022 by Memfus Wong Surveyors Limited, an
independent professional qualified valuer. The
building in Hong Kong was valued on a depreciated
replacement cost basis, which is the estimated
current replacement costs of the buildings less
deductions for physical deterioration and all
relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation.
The buildings in Mainland China and Taiwan were
revalued using the basis of open market value. The
revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred income
taxes was credited to buildings revaluation reserve
through other comprehensive income.

During the year ended 31st March 2022, revaluation
surplus of HK$29,238,000 (2021: HK$50,000) has
been credited to the other comprehensive income.

e P HRRMEE

12 Y13 - WBRZRE @)

(@)

BUBXSERGEMERE
AFTEI T BR AR &A=
T _F=ZA=t+—HEMHE
FZEE UREBNEFIR
TEEEMAREEME - AR
BEFTIREEFEENAZE
BRERBERERFAEEBELER
ZHRERBILEFTE - URH
Bk e E2miEFRARM
BEEEMGE - NBRERELER
ShzEHRRNERAME
E st AMEFE AR -

HE—_ZT-_—_#=A=+—H
IEFE - Bf & 829,238,000
BT (== = —F : 50,000
7T) BEFF AR MR EKE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)
(@) (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy:

At 31st March 2022
Recurring fair value measurements
Properties held for own use
— Located in Hong Kong
— Located in Mainland China
— Located in Taiwan

At 31st March 2021
Recurring fair value measurements
Properties held for own use
— Located in Hong Kong
— Located in Mainland China
— Located in Taiwan

W—E-—F=f=+—H
BEWRREFE
HEERME

— R EE

— LR E A

— e

R-F-—f=A=t—H
BEUDAERE
REERME
—WRER

— iR B

—frRaE

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

12 Y13 - WBRXRE @)

(@) (#&)

NIERE

Fair value measurements using

LREHE  HER

Significant
other Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HMEXTHEHE EXTURREE
(E=#R) (B=8]) Hxt
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FHT FET FET
- 147,957 147,957
13,600 - 13,600
5,430 - 5,430
19,030 147,957 166,987
— 125,012 125,012
12,500 — 12,500
5,500 — 5,500
18,000 125,012 143,012




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |
mERBRRME &

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 % - WBRZE &) .

(Continued)
(@) (Continued) @ &)
Fair value measurements using ERAEXAREHE
significant unobservable inputs ZOREE(E=MH) ’
(Level 3)
2022 2021
—E"F —ET—4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
TET FET

Properties held for own use: FIEE R
At 1st April RIMA—H 125,012 130,741
Depreciation charge HEEHR (4,762) (4,798)
Revaluation surplus EHAR 27,707 (931)
At 31st March R=A=1+—H 147,957 125,012
The finance department reviews the valuations B HBENERERGTMITE
performed by Memfus Wong Surveyors Limited for PRAFISIBEIREREMET
financial reporting purpose. These valuation results ZIhE - ZEHEERAES
are then reported to the chief financial officer and My BBELEEEREABSR
senior management for discussions in relation to o UptEAERGHELER
the valuation processes and the reasonableness of ZEBMHEITI R o

valuation results.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

(a)

(Continueq)

The key unobservable inputs in the valuation method
of depreciated replacement cost are construction
unit cost of HK$11,400/sg. m (2021: HK$10,200/
sg. m) and depreciation rate of 2.00% (2021:
2.00%). These assumptions are estimated by the
valuer based on the risk profile of the property being
valued. The higher the construction unit cost, the
higher the fair value. The higher the depreciation
rate, the lower the fair value.

The Group’s buildings are stated at valuation and
other components of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost. The carrying amount of the
buildings would have been HK$71,755,000 (2021:
HK$74,505,000) had they been stated at historical
cost basis.

At 81st March 2022, the freehold land and certain
buildings with an aggregate carrying value of
HK$23,169,000 (2021: HK$23,193,000) were
pledged as security for banking facilities granted to
the Group (Note 27(a)(i)).

Depreciation expense of HK$11,844,000 (2021:
HK$18,606,000) has been included in “administrative
expenses” in the consolidated income statement
(Note 6).

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

12 Y13 - WBRXRE @)

(@)

(#&)

TEEBEXNAEHBEEZEAT
AERAERBEEEUNAT
FHAK11,4008B (2T = —
F: FFFHK10,200%8 T) &
TEX200%(=ZF=—4F:
2.00%) ° Lt FERR B G EAMZ
A (B 90 3 2 BB AR5 4 H A

VANEAN

HoEgEARAME AR
Blm FTEXYR  AAME

A

AEBZEFREEBESER - M
WIS - HEE R R 2 H A E S
AR ARSI R - WEFIRESL
PRAREZAESER - BIERA SR
# 571,755,000 T(—E-—
4 : 74,505,000/ 7T) °

R—_E-_—_F=ZA=+—8"
4B BRTEI{E A& 23,169,000/ 7T (=
T~ —4 :23,193,000/87T) Z
KAERIHRETEFER
BERAEEMERRI TR
Z R (KR 27(a)) ©

#r & B X 11,844,000 7T ( —
T~ —1 : 18,606,000 7C) E
HAGERREEANZ [1THH
X J(FizEB) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

)

The Group’s cinema operations in Guangzhou
and Tianjin have been adversely affected since
the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020 and was
loss making for the year ended 31st March 2022.
Capacity limit has been imposed in cinemas and
the consumption of food and beverages in cinemas
has been discouraged by the mask-wearing
requirement. Management expected cinema
operations of the Group will be adversely affected
by the pandemic for at least a period of time. In
view of these impairment indicators, the directors
of the Company have carried out an impairment
assessment on the Guangzhou and Tianjin cinemas,
which are determined as two separate CGU, and
reviewed the recoverable amount of these CGUs.

Recoverable amount of these CGUs has been
determined by value-in-use calculation. This
calculation is made with the use of discounted cash
flow model, based on financial budget approved by
management covering the remaining lease terms of
the cinema in Guangzhou to 2034 and in Tianjin to
2032. The key assumptions used in the value-in-use
calculation are set out below:

2022

s

Annual growth rate of revenue in 2023
Annual growth rate of revenue in 2024
Annual growth rate of revenue

extrapolated beyond 2024 a5 £ &
Pre-tax discount rate FRRTAGIR &
2021
B

Annual growth rate of revenue in 2022
Annual growth rate of revenue in 2023
Annual growth rate of revenue

extrapolated beyond 2023 Wz R &
Pre-tax discount rate T RTALIR =

e P HRRMEE

12 Y13 - WBRZRE @)

©)

—F - =EEElGHERE
—T-merEisEE
=B R

T CFFERRIERE
—T = FFEREIRRE
D —FRIEEFE

REBEHEIMN R KERP 5
B =% = F HJCOVID-19/&
BR—EXITIZE  RE
- F=A=+—HIt
FEHRFEE - BRTEEA
R - MBI RY R m
HERMEDSHREM NF o
EREEA RSB BERS
BELE—BRERAIIRS
BRI 2 - N ZFRE D
R ARAIESEHEMEX
R BIP (FLAE S TE A3 M (8 B8 05 3R
SEABA)EITRERNE - I
A% ERSEEBMA AT
Bl &% o

ZERTELBUHNAIIOEE
BREMAEBEMEEETE - It
AETERNBERMESRE
E-T-MFERREBREE
TEZFZHTHBYES
EEBHEZHBERENR
REENTRBASREENME
e EREEAEEMAZE
ZRBHIWT

Guangzhou Tianjin
BEM X

11% 41%

35% 9%

2% 2%

14% 14%
Guangzhou Tianjin
M RE
41% N/A

40% N/A

2% N/A

14% N/A
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

)

(Continueq)

Management determines estimated revenue
growth rates based on past performance and its
expectation of market development. The growth
rates projected for 2023 reflect the growth from
the further resumption of cinema operation in most
of the year as social-distancing measures are
largely removed. While the operation in 2023 is still
estimated to be constrained by capacity limit in
cinema and other unfavourable control measures, in
particular the temporary closure for several months
due to the increase in COVID-19 infected cases
since March 2022 in Guangzhou, the revenue
growth projection in 2024 has assumed that the
cinemas would be under full operation with the
expectation that all social-distancing measures will
be removed. The discount rate is determined with
reference to specific risks relating to the relevant
CGU and country in which the CGU operates.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 Y13 - WBRXRE @)

©)

(&)

EEERBBTRRRAEHM
15 3% R B TR BR M E A BT e 48
RE -BF_FT_=FHER
Eedn  UARBEZEKI
Dt REBEEEANTUE - Bif
RER RO EFREIREES R
E— SR BEERERG =
T =FHELNEXI AR
B A BLIR 6l fo H S ) B
ARG - CHEARE
—E - —F=ZRAEREMNA
COVID-19 B 3B AN - BBz
HERBAREA mM_T=
Fryl g R B REET
BMEHEES - FTEMRERERE
MERSEEUE - BRIRETIRESR
HAReELABEURREEASE
7 £ & By 7 B 2% Y 45 7 L B T

BTE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)
(e) (Continued)

As a result of the assessment, the Group has

recognised impairment losses for the years ended
31st March 2022 and 2021 as follows:

e P HRRMEE

12 Y13 - WBRZRE @)

e (#&)
BB HER  AEEERE
E-E - ENR B —F=
A=1+—B It FE®RRBIERE

BHERET -
Property, plant and equipment wx - MBRRT
Guangzhou cinema Tianjin cinema Total
MR XRbk ait
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
ZBCC “EC-f ZB-C —EC-E I3z —EC-k
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TEr FET AT FET A1
Netcamyingvalieasat ~ AEEREFNZA
31st March before =t+-ANEEFE
current year's impairment 20,607 40,243 310 501 20917 40,774
Provision forimpaiment ~ REERHERE 76
for the year (Note 6) (5,791) (16,000) (42) - (5,833) (16,000)
Exchange difference EiZE (M) (507) - = ) (507)
Netcamyingvaluiessat  HEKR=A=T—R
31t March after RO
impairment 14,745 23,736 268 531 15,013 24,267
Right-of-use assets EHREE
Guangzhou cinema Tianjin cinema Total
R X2k &t
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
- ol - -F ZE-C “E--F E-C &
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET AT FET AT FET AT
Netcamying vaueasat ~ AFEHEANZA
315t March before ZT-ANEEFE
current year's mpairment 38,242 69,999 28,229 29,940 66,471 99,939
Provision for impaiment ~ AFEHREREHZ6)
for the year (Note §) (10,178) 129,000 (3827) - (14,005) (29000)
Bxchange difference EiZE (126) (©17) (48) - (174) (©17)
Netcamyingvalieasat  HEKR=A=F—R
315t March after MEEFE
impairment 27,938 40,082 24,354 29,940 52,292 70,022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)
(e) (Continued)

©)

It is inherently difficult to estimate the revenue

growth rate in the future. In particular, the extent the

pandemic will impact management’s assumptions is

subject to significant uncertainty. Sensitivity analysis

has been performed by management with details

set out below:

2022

Key assumptions

FERE

If revenue growth rate in 2023
and 2024 decrease by 10%

W_E-—=FEK T _JNFEH
I 2518 R R REE 10%

If pre-tax discount rate increase by 1%

AR IR = 1%

2021

Key assumptions

EFERE

If revenue growth rate in 2022
and 2023 decrease by 50%

WM_EBEZ—FER-T_=FH
IS 1ER R T [E50%

If pre-tax discount rate increase by 1%

AT BAIR IR = 1%

MEI' AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED 3555 7 £

Guangzhou cinema

R 5 P

Increase in impairment
charge of HK$5,897,000
will be resulted

KB BORES
#£15,897,0008 7T

Increase in impairment
charge of HK$1,032,000
will be resulted
FHEBURE X
#H01,032,000 % 7T

Guangzhou cinema

R P

Increase in impairment
charge of HK$25,000,000
will be resulted
THEEURES

311 25,000,000%8 7T

Increase in impairment
charge of HK$3,000,000
will be resulted

H B BURE 32 3200 3,000,000 78 7T

REMNEEERL A

12 Y13 - WBRXRE @)

(%)

AR W R FEITEF
EEERE - LHZ  RIFY
EEERENFEREXIE

KK% ewE EEED
EITHRIEDHNT - FHEWT
o —

— — —

Tianjin cinema

X RERR

Increase in impairment
charge of HK$1,538,000
will be resulted
HHEEURES L
#701,538,00078 7T
Increase in impairment
charge of HK$724,000
will be resulted
B BURE S H
#41724,000 57T
—E-—5F

Tianjin cinema

XRERR

N/A

N/A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRME

13 LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the Group

is a lessee.

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance

sheet

Right-of-use assets
Leasehold land and land use rights
Properties

There was no addition to the right-of-use assets
during the years ended 31st March 2022 and 2021.

Lease liabilities
Current
Non-current

THE £ 30 ) + 3 (6 P

13 #HE |\
AHF IR A EBEAREANEE
IEREE R} o
(a) MEEEEEBREIANEE

2022 2021
o S T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
22,566 23,354
52,293 70,021
74,859 93,375
HE_T-_—_FK-_FT-—

=A=t—HILFEILEIE

EREEE -

2022 2021
E-"F —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
11,438 10,632
102,674 105,592
114,112 116,224
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

13 LEASES (Continueqd)

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income

statement

The consolidated income statement shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

Depreciation charge of ERARESERERX
right-of-use assets
Leasehold land and land use right FE At J At R A
Properties LYES

Impairment of right-of-use assets
(Note 12(e))

Interest expense (included in finance costs) F B (FTABYEAAR)

(Note 8) (H17Z8)

Expense relating to short-term leases
(included in administrative expenses)
(Note 6)

The total cash outflow for leases during the year

ended 31st March 2022 was HK$11,961,000 (2021:
HK$11,486,000).

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

EREEERE (A 12(6)

S HIHE MR X
(FIATTRRX) (it 6)

13 #HE&E#)

RiFEWERERNEHE

REWaERIITUATEEES

FIE R -

&
B

7

=
2

2022 2021
= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

788 788

6,243 8,276
7,031 9,064
14,005 29,000
5,603 5,614

31 88

REBE—E-_—_&FE=HF=+—
HIEFE HERSRLER
711,961,000 T(ZF = —
F : 11,486,000 7C) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 LEASES (Continueqd)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are

accounted for

The Group leases various premises for its cinema
operations and for staff quarter purpose. Rental
contracts are typically made for periods of 1 to 20
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants and leased assets have not
been used as security for borrowing purposes.

The Group also leases certain leasehold land and
land use rights in Hong Kong and the Mainland
China. These leasehold land and land use rights are
in respect of land on which buildings of the Group
are situated on, and are leased for a period of 50
years.

Variable lease payments

Leases of the Group do not contain variable
payment terms that are linked to an index or a rate.

Extension and termination options

Termination options are included in a number of
leases. These are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group’s operations.

There is no extension option included in the leases
of the Group.

Residual value guarantees

The Group did not provide residual value guarantees
in relation to leases during the year ended 31st
March 2022 (2021: same).

e P HRRMEE

13 #HE&E#)

()

(d)

(e)

U]

FEBZHEEBREARS &

AEEREEZEYE - UH
B XBERMAEETR
S -MESN—KRAH1E20
F o TAVFH IR A B EEL
HEIREE  YEEZRETE
fR R R M o AH B 165 7 3 A 0
IMERZAGER - BENEE
NRIAEEE 2 EHm -

REBITRES R E A
HETHEE L X+ B
e ZEMEL R+ H(F A
EAEEEBFREZ TE
B HHAR S50 -

EE-Z:ESINE
AEBzHEET AR EEE—
B RBER 2 P E R

K -

ERRAILRER
KIEERTEANSERR
Mo ZZRBERERERA
EEEEFAAEMESLE
TEIEBALL -

AEEZHETER S ERE
RAE o

FIrEEER
HE2_ET-__F#=A=+—H
HFEE AEBVEREER
HEBREBEER(ZE_—F:
F8E) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

/ 14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14 REYE
= 2022 2021
= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#IT FET

At fair value BOARE

At 1st April RIUA—H 216,499 210,559
Fair value gains on revaluation (Note 7) sz anBWes (HiE7) 9,152 3,239
Exchange differences PE i =58 1,292 2,701
At 31st March W=HA=+—8H 226,943 216,499

The following amounts have been recognised in the AT EEERREME MRS W

consolidated income statement for investment properties: RNMER -
2022 2021
—E_ —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF#EiT FETT
Rental income (Note 5) HEWA (HfiE5) 7,389 5,616
Direct operating expenses arising EERSWAZIREYS
from investment properties that 2 ERERY (fit6)
generate rental income (Note 6) 1,415 1,655

REBZREMERFBERA 2
AR ER 2B BEEEREERD
|HRERFTEITAR A RIEITE (G
B NEEREMERN_T__FK
—E-—FZA=Zt+—HBZARE-"
METBEIREYEMS - HIRTRAESE
RESESEREERR - TRIZGEE
EHARARESRZIREMHEETS
at fair value, by valuation method. T ©

An independent valuation of the Group’s investment
properties was performed by Memfus Wong Surveyors
Limited, an independent professional qualified valuer who
held a recognised relevant professional qualification to
determine the fair value of the investment properties as at
31st March 2022 and 2021. For all investment properties,
their current use equates to the highest and best use. The
following table analyses the investment properties carried

172 MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |
REPBEEME &

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Contined) 14 REWX =) L\
The valuation gains or losses is included in “other gains EEWSSE B AGA SRR
— net” in consolidated income statement (Note 7). The 2 [Efhlhzs — F&E] (BIRE7) o &
Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers SECBERANEBHEY 2 SHE
out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event RENEBRRRABEREER 2 E ”
or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. AT R FE—FR T —
There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during FZA=T—HLEFERNIEE—
the years ended 31st March 2022 and 2021. B B_RRE=FREES -
(@) Fair value hierarchy (@) 2AREZERRBE

Fair value measured at 31st March 2022 using
RIBZZEZAZ+—HZLRENE ) HER

Significant
other Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HttEKXA EXARA
BENE BEHRE
(8B=#) (B=#]) st
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET FET
Recurring fair value measurements LEEDAETE
Investment properties: REME -
— Commercial units — located in —HEEN —UNEE
Hong Kong 13,500 - 13,500
— Commercial units — located in — BEEN —NRE
Mainland China A 55,670 - 55,670
— Industrial units — located in — T¥EBf —URES
Hong Kong 91,470 15,243 106,713
— Residential units — located in — FEE — RES
Hong Kong 44,400 - 44,400
— Residential units — located in — (FEEM — AT
Mainland China i 6,660 - 6,660
211,700 15,243 226,943
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14 REWE &)

(@)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

(@ 2AREREE)

Fair value measured at 31st March 2021 using
RIBZ—F=A=+—BAZ2nEHE  HiEA

Significant
other Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HbEA Ep it
ABREE BREE
(E=HR) (B=4) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Recurring fair value measurements EEEARERE
Investment properties: REMZE -
— Commercial units — located in —BEEN — UNES
Hong Kong 13,100 — 13,100
— Commercial units — located in — BEEN — MR
Mainland China A 54,970 - 54,970
— Industrial units — located in — IT¥8( —NREE
Hong Kong 83,650 12,879 96,529
— Residential units — located in — FEEN — RES
Hong Kong 46,100 — 46,100
— Residential units — located in — FEER — fREf
Mainland China A 5,800 - 5,800
203,620 12,879 216,499
Fair value measurements using FHEXRHRRBEZ 2022 2021
significant unobservable inputs DREHE(B=R) —ECF T —fF
(Level 3) HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
At 1st April RIMA—H 12,879 13,469
Revaluation gains/(losses) Bl (EE) 2,364 (590)
At 31st March R=A=+—H 15,243 12,879

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The finance department reviews the valuations
performed by Memfus Wong Surveyors Limited for
financial reporting purpose. These valuation results
are then reported to the chief financial officer and
senior management for discussions in relation to
the valuation processes and the reasonableness of

valuation results.

For commercial and residential units located in
Hong Kong and Mainland China, the valuation
was determined using the basis of open market
value. For industrial units located in Hong Kong,
the valuation was determined by the adoption of
depreciated replacement cost basis or open market

value basis as appropriate.

The key unobservable inputs in the valuation method
of depreciated replacement cost are construction
unit cost of HK$11,400/sg. m (2021: HK$10,200/
sg. m) and depreciation rate of 2.00% (2021:
2.00%). These assumptions are estimated by the
valuer based on the risk profile of the property being
valued. The higher the construction unit cost, the
higher the fair value. The higher the depreciation

rate, the lower the fair value.

(b) At 31st March 2022, certain investment
properties with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$44,400,000 (2021: HK$46,100,000) were
pledged as security for banking facilities granted to

the Group (Note 27(a)(i).

e P HRRMEE

14 REWE»®)

(a)

(b)

DAERE(E)

B ER B =R ARG AT A
[RABI A & R EmETT
ZEE - ZFHEERARERE
AR BEERREEEARR
H AL EERERMEERER
ZEEMEITR

MAURNEBRPE AN EHE
MEZBAMME - HEDEREQ
FMEZREETE - MUREE
ZITEBMME @ AERER
BRARFEEERNAELAFH

B -

TEEERABEEZEART
AERSEBERERSEMKAT
FHAK11,408B (2T = —
& FFHXK10,20087T) &
TEX200%(=ZF = —F:
2.00%) ° Lt FEBRE B L EMIZ
A B ) 3 2 BB AR5 4 H A
B BEBMKAMEE AR
Bl FTEXYR  AAME
FUE o

RZE-_—_F=RA=+—8"

BRI 4858 & 44,400,000 8 7T(=
T~ —4F : 46,100,000/87T) Z
ETREMEDERITIEALTE
B FrE iR T Bl 2 PR R (B s
27(@)(i)) °
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« NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
© RAMBRRMT

/4 15 FILM AND PROGRAM RIGHTS, FILMS IN 15 SEREAKE  RRHEY

PROGRESS AND DEPOSITS FOR FILM EFYREHEMERSE
AND PROGRAM RIGHTS
Film and
program rights Deposits for
and films in film and
progress program rights Total
EXROGERER EXREGA
BEAEY lRgEs it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1st April 2020 AZZZTEMA—H
Cost B%N 1,215,265 30,765 1,246,030
Accumulated amortisation and impairment R EHENRE (1,067,103) (3,411) (1,070,514)
Net book amount REFE 148,162 27,354 175,516
Year ended 31st March 2021 BT ——F
“A=+—RLtFE
Opening net book amount FHREFE 148,162 27,354 175,516
Additions NE 14,575 1,018 15,593
Transfers E= 54 1,554 (1,554) =
Amortisation (Note 6) &35 (Hfite) (13,161) - (13,161)
Impairment (Note 6) BE(HiF6) (13,904) (496) (14,400)
Exchange differences R AR 1,157 3 1,160
Closing net book amount FIRBRE F 5 138,383 26,325 164,708
At 31st March 2021 RZBZ—F=A=+—H
Cost B%N 1,234,178 30,237 1,264,415
Accumulated amortisation and impairment ZETEEAE (1,095,795 (3,912) (1,099,707)
Net book amount REFE 138,383 26,325 164,708
Year ended 31st March 2022 e S
“A=1+—RL&FE
Opening net book amount FIRE R 138,383 26,325 164,708
Additions RE 4,256 1,167 5,423
Transfers P 1,059 (1,059) =
Amortisation (Note 6) B35 (Hfite) (13,873) - (13,873)
Impairment (Note 6) R (HiFe) (3,586) - (3,586)
Exchange differences X ER 695 10 705
Closing net book amount FREEFE 126,934 26,443 153,377
176 MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED EmiiréEfEBAR AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 FILM AND PROGRAM RIGHTS, FILMS IN
PROGRESS AND DEPOSITS FOR FILM
AND PROGRAM RIGHTS (continuea)

At 31st March 2022 RZEZ_#=A=+—-H
Cost AR

Accumulated amortisation and impairment ZETEEAE

Net book amount REFE

(@)

Amortisation of HK$13,873,000 (2021:
HK$13,161,000) with respect to film and program
rights has been included in “cost of sales” in the
consolidated income statement.

The carrying amounts of film and program rights,
films in progress and deposits for film and program
rights have been reduced to their recoverable
amounts through recognition of impairment losses
of HK$3,586,000 (2021: HK$14,400,000) which has
been included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated
income statement.

The carrying value of films in progress at 31st March
2022 was HK$550,000 (2021: HK$2,314,000).

e P HRRMEE

15 EXREERE  BRPEX |

REZREERERZRS @)
Film and

program rights Deposits for

and films in film and
progress program rights Total

EXRGERER ENREHE
WEPES IRz e #5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
1,239,493 30,355 1,269,848
(1,112,559 (3,912) (1,116,471)
126,934 26,443 153,377

@@ BHAETXTLETERELZ
13,873,000 B (=T = —4 :
13,161,000 870 ) #5251 AR
BWEERANZ [SHEKAK]

b)) BEEXREERE BRAPESE
REXZREHERELZS 2K
HeBEOAABRREERE
3,586,000 T(ZF = —F :
14,400,000 47T ) 3 2 B Al g [E]
T BEBBRBEEFT AL
ElERAZ [HEKA]

© EBRASBSTIHEEHERZ
—ZH=HA=+—H%550,000
BL(—ZT = —%F 12,314,000
BIT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

16 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 16 REE AR 2R
2022 2021
—E—_= —E-—F
HK$’ HK$’000
FET FEr
At 1st April R A—H 7,863 9,567
Share of profits/(losses) — net e F (E518) — F8 2,606 (1,768)
Exchange differences EH =R 44 64
At 31st March R=A=+—H 10,513 7,863
Amounts due from associates g NI O] 39,333 38,783
Less: impairment losses on amounts due R R sff*é”& KIBRE
from associates E518 (39,333) (38,783)
Movements on the Group’s impairment losses on AN 5= B B FE Wi BS i  RISRIB 2 R E /S
amounts due from associates are as follows: BEEHIT :
2022 2021
ol St —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEr
At 1st April WIMA—H 38,783 33,814
Provision for impairment losses on FEURES & N E IR 2
amounts due from associates (Note 3.7(b)) 5)%@%?5\%1% (H1:£3.1(b) 550 4,969
At 31st March R=A=+—H 39,333 38,783

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(a)

Interests in principal associates as at 31st March

2022 and 2021
Place of business/
country of
incorporation
Name of entity EEmE/
{64 ERBIER
IST Company Limited (‘IST") ~ Hong Kong

ERRARLA(ERR) BE

MAMO Games Limited Hong Kong
(‘MAMO") A

ZoRMEHERAR
(EEEyEs])

IR EDRRE R Mainland China
BREFAR (BXYL)  HEAM

IRHTBEERRTRAR
EERE(HmTh )

Percentage of

ownership
interest

EFREEER

BAlt
2022
—p——

T

28.3%

49.5%

20%

Percentage
of ownership
interest
IbFrAERER
Bt

2021
—E--F

28.3%

49.5%

20%

IST, MAMO and BJXYL are unlisted limited liability
companies in Hong Kong and Mainland China.

There is no quoted market price available for their

shares.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the

Group’s interests in associates.

e P HRRMEE

16 NREBENT 2R 2

(@ R-B-_—_FR-ZF-—%=A
=t—HB REEBEATZER

Nature of the relationship and Measurement
principal activities method
RELEREIERR HERE
The associate provides playout, post Equity

production, HD-film restoration, channel iEay

management and mobile application
development services
FHERRIRMEEN - RHEE BEE

YERLAEEENR RS FREREAFRRY

The associate develops or licenses mobile Equity
games applications
FHERRRERETFRERERRES EaE
The associate engages in cinema operation Equity
AN e Bk

BHE - R EWER SRR
DRREENPEAMIE ETERA
A o ERp I EmHI5RE o

BRI AR RE N 2 QR
ZHAREE -

eell
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

16 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(@) Interests in principal associates as at 31st March
2022 and 2021 (Continued)

16

The Group’s associates have the following

commitments:
Capital commitments
Licenses hir e

Summarised financial information for IST

Set out below is the summarised financial
information for IST which is accounted for using the
equity method. The information below reflects the
amounts presented in the financial statements of the
associate.

Non-current assets EMENEE
Current assets MBNEE
Non-current liabilities EmEIEE
Current liabilities mEEE
Net assets BEFE
Revenue Y2k

Profit/(loss) for the year
Total comprehensive income/(loss)

FRFE (ER)
EEBA(ER) @5

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

i A NP

(&)

(@ R-ZBE-_-—FR-Z-_—F=H8
=+—HB > REEHENT 2R

(&)
AEBE 2B ERREB AT &
BEXEIE
2022 2021
—E-CF — T —F
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#IT FET
4,792 4,792
BiRBCHEEHEE

ATHIIBREERBERAER
EANRZHBEEMRE - AT

B R BRI B N B B A R

P52 &5

IST
BB
2022 2021
—E-C-F —E—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
34,053 25,443
15,451 27,053
(2,812) (1,290)
(9,649) (23,517)
37,043 27,689
23,124 33,385
9,198 (6,241)
9,354 (6,015)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRME

16 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(a)

16 NREBENT 2R 2

Interests in principal associates as at 31st March
2022 and 2021 (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial

information of IST to the carrying value of the

Group’s interests in associates.

Opening net assets at
1st April

Exchange differences

Profit/(loss) for the year

Closing net assets at
31st March

Interest in the associate

Interests in other associates

Carrying value as at
31st March

ROA—BZFNEE
#E

R

ERFE/ (BH)

R=A=t—HZFL&
BEFE

NN Pk

(@ R-ZBE-_—FR-Z-_—F=H8
=+—HB > REEHENT 2R

(%)

MEBEHEEZ #R
PREFERBZMBEERBE
EAREENEE AR ER 2R

E{E 2 ¥R °
IST Total
iRl @t
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F —E-C T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FEIT FET FAEIT FET
27,689 38,704
156 226
9,198 (6,241)
37,043 27,689
10,494 7,844 10,494 7,844
19 19
10,513 7,863

Annual Report 2022 &%

181



p
<

y
7
1}/
B/
s

w

182

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

16 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 16 REBE QT 2R 2
(b) Other associates (b) EHMEEAT

In addition to the interest in IST disclosed above, the
Group also has interests in a number of associates
that are accounted for using the equity method.

Aggregate carrying amount of H BN 2 BREARE
other associates

Aggregate amounts of the REEEE TSI 2485 -
Group’s share of:
Loss from continuing operations FRBACE TS FT1S 2 518
Other comprehensive income 2 mEhEs

Total comprehensive loss EHEBERE

() The amounts due to associates as at 31st (c)

March 2022 and 2021 are denominated in HKS,
unsecured and interest-free. Except for an advance
from an associate of HK$25,000,000 (2021:
HK$25,000,000) which is not repayable before 31st
December 2023 (2021: 31st December 2022), all
balances were repayable on demand.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

B EXFREZRERBZE
250 ¢ ASEE IR KRR A
AR A BN REDADE
Y IN L

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET

19 19

RIEBEZZFRZIT—F=
RA=+—H " ENBERFR
BB TTAE - AERKERS
BeoBRkyE—fEEEQaR
725,000,000 L (=& = —
£ : 25,000,000/ 7T ) T &R
:%@::EWL*HEWL—E(:
T —F:ZFT=F+=H
_+ B)RIEZEN - B4
HAERERIFER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBBRRMTE &

17 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND
JOINT OPERATIONS

(a)

Interests in joint ventures

At 1st April
Share of loss

At 31st March

Amounts due from joint ventures
Less: impairment losses on amounts

due from joint ventures

REA—H
FEAL E1E
R=A=+—H

RIS EBERIR

BB ERES

Movements on the Group’s impairment losses on

amounts due from joint ventures are as follows:

At 1st April

Reversal of impairment loss on amount
due from a joint venture (Note 3.1(b))

At 31st March

REA—H

17 REELE¥ERSEEK 2 ER

(a) MEELEZES

BEEK—MEEEEHEALZ

2022 2021
—E-"F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
— 4
= (@)
31,809 31,809
RIBREE B
(31,809) (31,809)
AEEREREELERIEL
REBEEHINT
2022 2021
—E-F —E - —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#EIT FET
31,809 32,209
BIEEE (H13£3.1(b)) - (400)
31,809 31,809

R=A=+—H
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« NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
© REMBWMRME

17

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND
JOINT OPERATIONS (Continued)

(a)

Interests in joint ventures (Continuea)

(i

Investment in a joint venture as at 31st March
2022 and 2021

Place of business/ Percentage of ~ Percentage of

country of ownership ownership

incorporation interest interest

Name of entity BEbE EmEEES (oeEEs

-1 ERBIER BAL Bt

2022 2021

—E-C —F--F

THEM Co. Limited Hong Kong 85%" 85%"
(“THEM?) it

THEM is an unlisted limited liability company
in Hong Kong and there is no quoted market
price available for its shares.

There are no contingent liabilities and material
commitment relating to the Group’s interests in
joint ventures.

*The Group entered into a joint control
arrangement with the co-investor of THEM.
Although the Group owns 85% of THEM as
at 31st March 2022 and 2021, it did not have
control over THEM due to its limitation in
the Board’s representation in participating in
financial and operating policy decisions.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

17 REBLEREEEB o ER

(#&)
(@) REELEZER(E)
) R-B-—fR-B=—%
=ZEA=+—H REXEE
PREZRE

Nature of the relationship and Measurement
principal activities method
BREERT 2R STERE
The joint venture operates an online Equity

advertising platforms ER%

HARLRERBLRETS

THEM BEEIELTAR AR - iR
MW ETISRE o

BEEMAEARENA E bR g
ZHRBEREARAIE -

* REBETHEM 2 XRKEHE L
HEZESH T - AREBRR_Z
T CERTE-—F=ZA=+—H#%
BETHEM 2 85% ## - EHRESE
FRECVBREERKHEHRE
AR E¥ THEM I #1226 4 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND
JOINT OPERATIONS (Continued)

(b)

Interests in joint operations

The Group has entered into certain joint operation
arrangements with certain independent third parties
to produce films for exhibition and distribution in
Hong Kong and the Mainland China. The Group
has participating interests ranging from 8% to 70%
(2021: 8% to 70%) in these joint operations. The
Group also entered into a joint operation with a
global channel to develop, operate and distribute a
pay television channel to be broadcasted in various
countries within Asia. The Group has participating
interest of 40% of the results in this joint operation.
As at 31st March 2022 and 2021, the aggregate
amounts of assets and liabilities recognised in
the consolidated financial statements relating
to the Group’s interests in these joint operation
arrangements are as follows:

BE

Assets
Film and program rights, films in progress

17 REELERREGEXRE 2HEE |
(#)

(b)

and deposits for film and program rights B R ENE RS
Trade and other receivables B 5 & EH ARG
Liabilities A\
Trade and other payables B 5 K E A ER FRIE
Contract liabilities AHBE

e P HRRMEE

REELE R
AEBEETHYIE =L
ETEEERTH - UEESE
%mémﬁmammm%&%
oﬁﬁlﬁzﬁéM%%%

ﬁ8%17o%( T —F
8% E70%) Z /v\@>\w$¢
B yr i — B R R ARER] LA &
EHE - ABRE - %é&%

THR N Z BB R BB
BEGIEE AEBRZESE
%%%ﬁm%m/A@Aow
—FERZT-—F=A
=t+—R8 " RAEERZEE
EREBLH RN GE M
hEERzZEERBEAEEN
g

_=__

EFNEERE BETEZNR

2022 2021
—E-— —E - —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
122,052 134,418
726 6
122,778 134,424
(1,555) (1,459)
(3,809) (12,543)
(5,364) (14,002)
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« NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
© RAMBRRMT

/ 17 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND 17 REBLEREEEB o ER

JOINT OPERATIONS (Continued) (&)
(b) Interests in joint operations (Continued) (b) NRegbEoikzx(E)

2022 2021

\ —E-"F —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Revenue Wz 9,832 28,677
Expenses X (13,672) (13,637)
(Loss)/profit after income tax BRETISHIZ (B518) 5T (3,840) 15,040

During the year ended 31st March 2021, the HE—_Z-_—4F=A=+—H
Group and the global channel has agreed to early IEFE  AEBEHEZEREE

terminate the joint operation contract with the FEERAKRIEEEEBTEHL -

original contract terms shortening to June 2021. RENHBRERE_T_—F
Accordingly, management has performed an NACEI - BEEDETR

impairment assessment and wrote down the assets B AT HEE L EBEBAY
in relation to the joint operation to their recoverable BEMBZEETKEEE - - B/
values. An impairment charge of HK$7,666,000 was B ) 7,666,000 B L EREZE

recognised in cost of sales for the year ended 31st —E—F=ZA=1T—HIF

March 2021 (Note 5). B2 SHERAHER (HizES) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRME

18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The accounting policies for financial instruments have
been applied to the line items below:

Assets

At 31st March 2022

Deposits, trade and other receivables
Financial assets at FVPL (Note 19)

Pledged bank deposits (Note 27 aii)
Short-term bank deposits (Note 22)
Cash and bank balances (Note 22)

At 31st March 2021
Deposits, trade and other receivables
Financial assets at FVPL (Note 19)

Pledged bank deposits (Note 27 a(ii)
Short-term bank deposits (Note 22)
Cash and bank balances (Note 22)

#E
R-BZZ£ZR=+-H
&% - BHREMEYGE
EARBENBRZHBEE
(Hiz19)

BERBBRTEAR 27
RERTERWH22)

RE kBB W2 22)

R=8-—-%=f=+-H
&% BAREMENGUE
BARBI ARG ZIBEE
(His#19)

BERBRTER 27
RERTERWH22)
RERBIERWE2)

18 BERE 2 2HBETA

M TAZETHRREERRN TII%

I8 :
Financial assets Financial
at amortised assets at
cost FVPL Total
BHERE BOMRE
HERZHE AR
BE CHERE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FET
28,416 - 28,416
- 5,893 5,893
23,500 - 23,500
3,309 - 3,309
11,624 - 11,624
66,849 5,893 72,742
42,160 - 42,160
- 5,740 5,740
23,500 - 23,500
2,200 - 2,200
25,219 - 25,219
93,079 5,740 98,819
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

19

(Continued)

Liabilities

At 31st March 2022

Bank and other borrowings (Note 27)
Lease liabilities (Note 13)

Trade and other payables

Amounts due to associates

At 31st March 2021

Bank and other borrowings (Note 27)
Lease liabilities (Note 13)

Trade and other payables

Amounts due to associates

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL

Listed securities, at market value:
— Equity securities

Financial assets at FVPL are presented within investing
activities in the consolidated cash flow statement. "

Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
included in “other gains — net” in the consolidated income

statement (Note 7).

The fair value of all equity securities is based on their

current bid prices in an active market.

afE
R-ZE-_—$=A=+—H
SRITREAMER (Ht27)
HEBE ML 13)
"’%&HM&“H%&UQ
iR NCIE e

R-—TB-_—%=A=1+—H
RITREAMEE (AiF27)
HEREWZE13)
"’%&ﬁwﬁ“ﬁmlﬁ

e & N R FOR

18 BEHIE D

T IR %)

At amortised
cost
REEEE
SRz

MBRE
HK$'000

FET

143,340
114,112
72,395
13,710

343,557

128,703
116,224
84,305
18,036

347,268

19 BAREFABBZHKEE

LWES - BHE
— BRAES

2022 2021
—E-F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&ET FET
5,893 5,740

=
RE IR <

AR AR
SRBRZREEDR -

B ERr ARz
BEEF T AGRalkaERZ [Eti

ZHBHEEZIIN

ZHEEE NI

= — R (B5E7) -

IBRAESFZ R

REREERER

mHZRITEAEFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20

21

INVENTORIES

Finished goods
Less: provision for obsolete inventories

The cost of inventories is recognised as expense and
included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated income
statement (Note 6). No inventories was written-off during
the years ended 31st March 2022 and 2021.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND 21

OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Less: impairment losses on trade receivables

Trade receivables — net
Prepayments
Other receivables and deposits (Note (a))

Less: impairment losses on other
receivables (Note (a))

Less: deposits — non-current portion
Less: prepayments — non-current portion
Less: trade receivables — non-current portion

Current portion

BipKam
o REFERE

e P HRRMEE

20 7E

2022 2021
=5 —E—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET

331 134

331 134

FEKATIER B Wt AGZRE W
mREEKA | A(MESG) - WE
FEREBZ_ZE-_—FR-_FT-—F

—A=1T—HI-FEMH -

ANNIE  BE  BEFRHAM

e TR IE

2022 2021
—E-F B —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiET FETT
B S EMGRIA 40,331 47,670
B B S EWIE R EREE (19,868) (20,868)
B REWFIE — F58 20,463 26,802
SEUNE QL] 11,986 8,188
E bW IE Kk (Kt @) 73,007 24,316
105,456 59,306

B - HAbEW R IE 2
BEEE (MiFE @) (65,054) (8,958)
40,402 50,348
B e - JEREEE Y (2,198) 2,114)
W B ERIE - IEmEN S (1,831) (1,991)
W B SENGIE - IEREE S - (3,418)
mEE s 36,373 42 825
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

21 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND

OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Note (a):

Other receivables and deposits included an amount of HK$56,096,000
due from JZZX. Despite the existence of a repayment plan proposed
by JZZX, taking into consideration the historical settlement records,
expected timing and amount of realisation of outstanding balance
and forward-looking information in the macroeconomic environment,
directors of the Company are of the view that there is uncertainty on
the recoverability of the balance if JZZX fails to improve its financial
position through operation or obtaining additional funding from financing
arrangements. As a result, a full provision for impairment of the balance
was made as at 31st March 2022, and it was included in “loss on
disposal of a subsidiary” in Note 7.

As at 31st March 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts
of deposits, trade and other receivables approximate their
fair values.

At 31st March 2022 and 2021, all other receivables are
unsecured and interest-free.
The credit terms to trade receivables generally range from

7 to 90 days (2021: 7 to 90 days).

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice
date is as follows:

Current to 3 months BIHAZE = (& A
4 to 6 months M7~ E A
Over 6 months iBiEsNE A

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

21

ERRE- -2 BESZREAM
PEWRFRIE ()
MI5E (@):

EIMW&?H&Z?XE&??%E?‘Eﬁéﬂﬂlﬁ,@ﬂ)l\tAIE
/456,096,000 7T, ° & B A MR L ER
FTEl %Fﬂuﬁﬁ’i%l;ﬁ? KEEEHRZTE
HEHEEHTFEJ&%%ﬂl&féﬁ@‘é/@fﬁiﬁ—mﬁH i
MER  WEKNNKEESB jZEAmﬂ‘léﬁ
FEREZE %Em\é“%wﬁz%ﬁaﬁwkﬂ PIN/N
EFRBEHRZTREREFENETEME I
I R=E_—F=A=1+—HEREHEZH
TR ERE - Rt A7 [ & — R
BArZERE] -

RZEZZFRZF=Z—F=H
=+—H  ZEREHREAMBIK
BZEASEEQNAERE °
RIEZZFRZIZEZ—F=H
=+—8 - B EMEKRIEAEE
AREE -

B HRERFAZ ZEH RN
VR(ZZE=_—F:7EOK) °

SRS

ENBREHEEE 28 5B IRFIER
BROMTIT

2022 2021
—E—-— T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
12,305 24,264
28,026 23,406
40,331 47,670




21 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND

OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

As at 31st March 2022, a trade receivable of
HK$3,553,000 (2021: HK$8,083,000) arising from a film
rights licensing contract comprised a significant financing
component at 6% per annum (2021: 6% per annum).

At 31st March 2022, trade receivables of HK$19,868,000
(2021: HK$20,868,000) were impaired and fully provided
for. The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to
a long-outstanding customer, which is in unexpectedly
difficult financial situation.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments,
deposits, trade and other receivables are denominated in
the following currencies:

HK$ BT
RMB AR
NTD e

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HRRMEE

21 ENRE -BRE BEZRHEM Y

FEW R IE ()

R-—E-_—_F=ZHA=+—H' &%
REREEHNEELECZE HEKK
183,553,000 (= T = — &F :
8,083,000/87T) BIEHFF6% (—F
Z—F  BFE%)NERFBEKS °

R-EBE-_—_F#=A=+—H EBH
JE U 3018 19,868,000/8 L (— T ——
£ : 20,868,0008 7T ) B R B MEHR
DERE - BRI ERYGRIEE 2
—ZBEBRBER AN MR 22 K H
BFBEE -

AEERNFE 2 BHNEM
FEWRIA 2 BRE & 8B LA T 5 B’ &1
8 :

2022 2021
=5 —E—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
10,730 9,634
27,943 37,825
1,729 2,889
40,402 50,348
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Movements on the Group’s impairment losses on trade

receivables are as follows:

At 1st April

Reversal of provision for impairment
of trade receivables (Note 3.1(b))

At 31st March

REMA—H
B PN IR R ER EED

(HfzE3.1)

KW=R=+—H

Movements on the Group’s impairment losses on other

receivables are as follows:

At 1st April

Provision for impairment of other
receivables, net (Note 3.1(b))

At 31st March

REA—H

HAb FEMGRIR 2R E R - F R

(H15£3.1(b)

R=A=+—H

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting

date is the carrying value of each class of receivable

mentioned above.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

21 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

21 ANRIE - &REe -BEZRHEM
PEURFRIE (5)
REES S EWHIEREEE S &

2022 2021
B T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAEiT FET
20,868 20,868
(1,000) -
19,868 20,868

ZNER B L HL At B UK IR R B B 1R

2022 2021
=5 —E—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
8,958 5,404
56,096 3,654
65,054 8,958

K& &S EERRA LREE
FEUGKIR < FREE ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND SHORT-
TERM BANK DEPOSITS

B MRTTHES
2 HRERTT IR

Cash and bank balances
Short-term bank deposits

Cash and bank balances and short-term bank deposits
are denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ BT
RMB AR®
NTD A
Others HAi

The effective interest rate on a short-term bank deposit
was 1.69% (2021: 1.64%) per annum as at 31st March
2022. This deposit has an average maturity of 309 days
(2021: 365 days).

=+
N

e P HRRMEE

22 RERBITERREBRTE Y

2022 2021
—EB- g T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#EiT FET
11,624 25,219
3,309 2,200
14,933 27,419

B & RIRTT AR ARG BIRT TR 5UA
THEEIIE:

— = — —

\
N
R-=_"__"

2022 2021
—E-F T —4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FEiT FET
1,174 11,238
11,872 14,593
1,855 1,560

32 28

14,933 27,419

F=ZA=+—H  =HIR

TERZERFHNEB/169E(=F

F164E) - REGFRZTY

HAPR A309H (ZZE——%F : 365H ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

23 SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM

23 BAKRADRE

(a) Share capital (a) MB#&
2022 2021
—E-= —T-F
Number of Number of
shares shares
i8R in2k B
’000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$'000
Fi& FEIT T FET
Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 &R E{E0.02E T2
each B 15,000,000 300,000 15,000,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid ERTREE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 &R EE0.02E T2
each TIEA 5,923,739 118,475 5,923,739 118,475
(b) Share premium (b) RD=E
2022 2021
= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Share premium BHiwE 407,428 407,428
24 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 24 LXEQ@%E@ZH’%(
The Company approved and adopted a share option ARAIERZE—WFENA—BET

scheme (the “Scheme”) in the annual general meeting
held on 1st September 2014.

As at 31st March 2022 and 2021, there was no options

outstanding. No new shares were granted during the
years ended 31st March 2022 and 2021.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

ZBERIBF RS Ht/E MR — BB
T El ([%at8l)) -

RZEZZFR_T=_—F=H
=+—H8 - WEERITEZ BIRE -
HE-_ZT-_—_FK-_FT=-—F=H
=+—HIEFE - WERHHRG
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRME

25 RESERVES

26

Share redemption reserve
Other reserve

Contributed surplus (Note (i)
Exchange difference
Buildings revaluation reserve
Accumulated losses

R A7 B8 120 i

Hib R

BABER (A (i)

PR ERR

BTEMFHE

RitER

()  Movements of each component of the reserves are

set out in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity.

(i) The contributed surplus of the Group represents

the credit arising from the reduction of share capital
during the year ended 31st March 1999, and the
transfer from share premium during the year ended

31st March 2010.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables
Other payables and accruals (Note)

Note:

B Z RN F0R

HAb NIRRT &R (/L)

As at 31st March 2022, amount due to a director of the Company
amounting to HK$2,460,000 (2021: HK$2,366,000) was repayable on
demand, interest-free, unsecured and its carrying amount approximates

fair value.

25 f#fE

2022 2021
—E-F =B —4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FiET FET

12 12
(6,380) (6,380)
189,009 189,009
(8,659) (8,206)
107,114 82,605
(447,630) (408,398)
(166,534) (151,358)

i) FESHDZEIHANGEE

.f

AEBZBABHRERER
—NAANFE=A=+—HILF
BHIBBRAMNEBE T —FF
ZA=T-BLFEERBEK

IREMELE 2R -

26 BEZRHEMENRE

2022 2021
B T _-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
8,157 8,482
65,120 76,905
73,277 85,387
KieE -
R-_E_—_F=ZA=+—H " EBREAQR]—

% EERIA2,460,0008 T ( —F = —4F:
2,366,000/8 7T ) AR ZKEE - 8 - &EiE
M AEEmEREAERS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade payables by invoice date is

as follows:

Current to 3 months
4 to 6 months
Over 6 months

BENEA==1{E A
=R EA
BB/ fEA

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and

other payables approximate their fair values, and are

denominated in the following currencies:

HKS
RMB
usD
NTD

BT
ARE
e
et

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

26

B REMENKRIE @)
B 5 NFURRER BB RER AT

(1N
2022 2021
== =B —4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FiET FET
943 2,366
7,214 6,116
8,157 8,482

2022 2021
—E-F B —4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FiET FET
39,737 51,128
31,156 31,364
2,162 2,162

222 733

73,277 85,387
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRME

27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

27 RBITREMEE

2022 2021

=5 —E—F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

Bank overdrafts, secured R1TIBEX - HIIF 23,056 21,867
Secured bank loans — current portion BEMIBITER — MEFD 24,216 29,228
Bank borrowings — current portion IRITIEE — mEEkn 47,272 51,095
Secured bank loans — non-current portion BEMIBITER — IEREIED - 1,671
Total bank borrowings (Note (a)) IRITIE BB (K (@) 47,272 52,766
Other borrowings — non-current portion (Note (b)) HiEE — SERBNE D (A7:E b)) 96,068 75,937
Total borrowings BEERE 143,340 128,703
The fair values of the borrowings approximate their NR_EBEZ_FR_FE=_—F=A8

carrying amounts at 31st March 2022 and 2021.
BE -

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other

=t+—H BEZAAEERESR

AEEZRITRAMEERIEAT

borrowings were denominated in the following currencies: H|EHEE
2022 2021
—E_—F B
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFAET FET
HK$ BT 90,056 83,566
RMB AR 51,568 41,737
NTD etk 1,716 3,400
143,340 128,703
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continuea)

(a)

Bank borrowings

The Group’s bank borrowings are repayable as

27 BITREMEE &)
(a RITEE

AEBEZRITIEEAEN T

follows: REE :

2022 2021
ol Sl - —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Within 1 year or repayable on demand —FRHREREFEERE 47,272 51,095
Between 1 to 2 years —EWENRN - 1,671
47,272 52,766

At 31st March 2022, available facilities amounting to R-ZE__F=A=+—8"

HK$50,216,000 (2021: HK$54,399,000) granted by
banks to the Group are secured by the following:

(i)

(i)

legal charges over certain of the Group’s
freehold land and certain buildings with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$23,169,000
(2021: HK$23,193,000) (Note 12(c)) and certain
of the Group’s investment properties with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$44,400,000
(2021: HK$46,100,000) (Note 14(b));

corporate guarantees executed by the
Company; and

pledged bank deposits of HK$23,500,000
(2021: HK$23,500,000) of the Group being
placed in commercial banks in Hong Kong and
are pledged against the bank facilities granted
to the Group.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

% ¥ /550,216,000 L ( = &
——4% : 54,399,000/ 7T) 28]
AREEERITETAEEH
I 5 LA TN I8 B R -

(i)

(i)

Bk ™ 4 {8 423,169,000
Bl Z T = — F:
23,193,000 7t ) 2 A&
BE T RkAEREIH R
& TEF(MFE120) &
iR M 48 B /& 44,400,000
B oo Z T Z — &
46,100,000/ 7T ) Z &
SEETHREMEKE
14(b)) Z)EERE

eell

RNRBIFRIZ REFER
)53

AEEEHEARITER
23,500,000 7w( = &
— — £ :23,500,000/%
L) RN BB ER
17 WEEKRERAREE
FRERRTT R 2 PEIR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (cContinuea)

(@)

Bank borrowings (Continued)

At 31st March 2022, the weighted average effective
interest rate per annum of the Group’s pledged bank
deposits is 0.2% (2021: 0.2%). The pledged bank
deposits are denominated in HKS.

At 31st March 2022, the Group’s bank borrowings
bear floating interest rates from 0.78% to 4.00%
(2021: from 1.22% to 3.37%) and fixed interest
rate of 1.55% (2021: 1.55%) for NTD-denominated
loans. The weighted average effective interest rate
per annum of the Group’s bank borrowings as at
31st March 2022 is 2.5% (2021: 2.6%).

The fair values of the borrowings approximate their
carrying amounts at 31st March 2022 and 2021.

In May 2022, the Group obtained an additional bank
facility of HK$25,000,000 which is secured by the
Group’s investment properties pledged, with carrying
value as at 31st March 2022 of HK$66,500,000.

e P HRRMEE

27 RITREMEE &)

(a)

RITRE (&)
R-BE-_—_F#=R=+—H"
REB B EKPRITFRZ I
FHEBRFMNERO2E(ZE
Z—F:02F) 2 EHF R
BFRAABTTEHE ©

RZE-_—_F=RA=+—8"
AEERITBEZFENE
BO7T8EE400EB( =T = —
F:122FB E337FE ) M
FakErEz ERAREE R
EA15B(ZF = —F 155
E)stB - R—TE=-_—F=H
=+t—HB XEBRTEEZ
METFHERENEF25E
(ZEZ—F :26F) -

NR-E-—_—FR T —F=
A=+—H EBEZRARnEH
FREEREAE o

RZEZ__FHA AEH
BEE -—ZBRIIRITEEHR
25,000,000 7T * AREER
—E - —E=-A=+—HEM@E
1 /466,500,000 7T 2 I E W
ES (S il
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

(b)

Other borrowings

As at 31st March 2022, the Group has a borrowing
with outstanding principal of RMB30,000,000
(approximately HK$36,900,000) (2021:
RMB30,000,000 (approximately HK$35,495,000))
and interest of RMB7,525,000 (approximately
HK$9,256,000) (2021: RMB5,275,000
(approximately HK$6,242,000)). The borrowing is
interest-bearing at a fixed rate of 7.5% per annum
(2021:
principal and interest are not repayable within 5

7.5% per annum) and unsecured. The

years from October to December 2018. The lender
is a company partially owned by a brother of the
Group’s controlling shareholder.

At 31st March 2022,
another borrowing with a principal amount of
HK$25,000,000 (2021: HK$25,000,000) provided
by IST, an associate of the Group. The borrowing is

the Group also had

unsecured, interest-free and is not repayable before
31st December 2023 (2021: not repayable before
31st December 2022).

At 31st March 2022, the Group had a borrowing
with a principal amount of HK$24,912,000
(2021: HK$9,200,000) provided by the controlling
shareholder of the Company. The borrowing is
unsecured, interest-free and is not repayable before
31st December 2023 (2021: not repayable before
1st October 2022).

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

27 RITREMEE#)

(b)

HifEE
RZEBE-_—_F==+—

H X"&EBE—£KEER
€ & A R #30,000,000 7T ( 49
36,900,000 T ) (=ZF = —
F: A R #30,000,0007T ( 4
35,495,000/8 7T )) KFE R A
R¥& 7,525,000 7T.( 499,256,000
BT)(ZE-—F: ARK
5,275,000 7T (  476,242,000;8
T BEE - ZEEREESF
FME75%:B(ZE=Z—F:
FME75%) REEH - Xg
MR BEAN _T—N\FE+ A
E+_ARAAFREE &
RARB—REBD B EEER
R ZBBHER 2 AT

RZE-_—_F=ZA=+—8"
AEENES 241828
25,000,000 T (ZF = —4F :
25,000,000 87T) 2 BEEBARE
B—XEERRERBIEMH-
ZEEREER 2R REAR
RIZEZ=F+ZH=+—H
ZAMER(ZZTE=—F : AR
—E-—&+=-A=+—82
AIfEIR) o

R_TE-_—_F=ZA=+—
B X"EEBEFE—E482R
24,912,000 L (Z & = —F :
9200000;‘%73)21&1%EE$

RRERRRATIRMSE - ZEE
REER . REREER-T
—:¢+—H:+—EWE%
(=E=—
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income
tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when
the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where
there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred

e P HRRMEE

28 IEIEFTISH

a8 AT ROR 58 BT TRERIAS & HPR 1%
MEEREMMERAERE > BE
RSB E M BB R — 5
AR T RERTE BB FrF
MAR MEBERERRFREE
BESER - REREHREERER
BB - BEMEHEE MR
EFFEHRAEEI T -

income tax liabilities is as follows:

Deferred income tax assets to be recovered
after more than 12 months

Deferred income tax liabilities to be crystallised
after more than 12 months

Deferred income tax liabilities — net

The net movement on the deferred income tax account is

as follows:

At 1st April

Tax credited to the consolidated income
statement (Note 9)

Tax charged/(credited) to other comprehensive
income

Exchange differences

2022 2021
—E—-— T —F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
AR E 12 & A& U el 2
RIEFSTHEE (5,614) (4,871)
HREE1I2EABEIRZ
FEFTSIRaE 32,045 28,744
LTSI asE — 55 26,431 23,873
EEFTSIEE R 2 FEHWT -
2022 2021
—E=—— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiET FET
A A—H 23,873 25,947
REREWEREFTAZTRIA
(H1:£9) (2,325) (2,329)
REMZERESINR, (GEA) Z
I8 4,729 69)
PE 5 Z=RE 154 324
26,431 23,873
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& sonmmimm

,} 28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continuead)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and

liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration

the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction,

)} is as follows:

Deferred income tax liabilities

EIEFRBH (2)

REF AR 2 B E & mh EiH s

202

At 1st April 2020 RZZZZFMA—H
Charged/(credited) to the RizEMER
consolidated Mmer,/ (FTA)
income statement
Credited to other comprehensive ~ MEMEEUZEETA
income
Exchange differences bEH ZE
At 31st March 2021 RZZT_—%F
=R=1+—8~
Credited to the consolidated NS
income statement A
Charged to other comprehensive R EA 2 EURSBR
income
Exchange differences bE N ERE
At 31st March 2022 WZZE_—
=A=+—H

R FRRLEMEH EERB BE
LU
ELEEHEas
Accelerated
tax Fair value Trade
depreciation gains receivables Total
mEREA HREK
HE LRERS RE #&t
FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
5,282 21,147 3,661 30,090
186 (626) (1,161) (1,601)
- (69) — 69)
_ 324 — 324
5,468 20,776 2,500 28,744
9) (199) (1,374) (1,582)
- 4,729 = 4,729
- 154 - 154
5,459 25,460 1,126 32,045
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets

At 1st April REA—H
Credited to the consolidated income statement  RéREWERETA
At 31st March R=A=+—8

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax
losses carried forward to the extent that the realisation
of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits
is probable. The Group has unrecognised tax losses of
HK$566,604,000 (2021: HK$518,997,000) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. These tax
losses have not been recognised due to uncertainty of
future realisation. Such tax losses have no expiry date,
except for the tax losses amounting to HK$101,625,000
(2021: HK$100,832,000) which will be expired within 5
years.

e P HRRMEE

28 ERIEFFEB (@)

ELEMESHEE
Tax losses
RIAEE

2022 2021

—E-F T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FEIT
(4,871) (4,143)
(743) (728)
(5,614) (4,871)

AR BIEE B AR AT IE AN 2 B Al B
BRRKERTFETAZRE BR
WRRELEMEHEE - A5EAXR
fe 32 7 18 85 18 566,604,000 78 7T ( =
T — — 4 : 518,997,000/8 7T ) Al &5
B AR S R 2R 2 FERR TR » BT
BEREE A RAE D #3R - W ERER
ZEHIBEE © B 101,625,000 7T
—=——4% : 100,832,000 7T) Z
MBEEBRAFARIEN  ZER
BEBITERHA -
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« NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
© RAMBRRMT

JJ 29 CASHFLOW INFORMATION 29 HALREBEHR
aud (@) Cash generated from operations (a) EEMESES
Reconciliation of loss before income tax to cash KPS R Al B e H 2 EFT 5 IR
\ generated from operations &2 HER
2022 2021
- ot - —E-—4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
TFET FET
Loss before income tax bRET1SHL A ES 1R (42,571) (67,163)
Adjustments for: .
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 13) FREEERE (Mt 13) 7,031 9,064
Provision for impairment of right-of-use EREREZRERE
assets (Note 13) (K% 13) 14,005 29,000
Depreciation of property, plant and Wiz - R ERECTE
equipment (Note 12) (HiiE12) 11,844 18,606
Provision for impairment of property, plant ) YN
and equipment (Note 12) MERE (At 12) 5,833 16,000
Fair value gains on revaluation of BEREBMEZ ARE
investment properties (Note 74) Was (K752 14) (9,152) (3,239)
Amortisation of film and program rights B M ED B A
(Note 15) (Hi7Z 15) 13,873 13,161
Provision for impairment of film and program B MED B RAE - B
rights, films in progress and BRANER KE B
deposits for film and program rights hriEiE & 2 RE R
(Note 15) (Hi:E15) 3,586 14,400
Rent concession granted as a direct R COVID-19M B 12 R
consequence of COVID-19 (Note 6) mEENESHR
(Hfst6) (295) (4,469)
Gain on early termination of a lease contract REKRTHEEEH 2 W - (7,526)
Write-off of unclaimed accrual FESH IR ER L FEET B - (19,517)
Share of (profits)/losses of associates and Bt E R r Rk —fEa &
ajoint venture — net 2 CaF) /Eia
— HEg (2,606) 1,772
Impairment losses on amounts due JFE U ES & R B FRIE 2
from associates (Note 16) BEEE (HiF16) 550 4,969
Impairment losses on other receivables HAb FEWGRIE 2 B B 18 - 4,184
Impairment losses on deferred BEB AR 2 REEE
fulfilment costs (Note 6) (K1:z6) 300 —
Reversal of impairment losses on I8 5 EWGRIE 2
trade receivables EEE (1,000) —
Reversal of impairment losses on [0 Ho b e UGB 2
other receivables WEEE - (630)
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29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

Cash generated from operations (Continued)

Reversal of impairment losses on
amount due from a joint venture
Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment — net (Note 7)
Fair value gains on financial
assets at FVPL (Note 7)

Interest income (Note 8)
Interest expense on bank and
other borrowings (Note 8)
Interest expense of lease liabilities (Note 8)

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary
Exchange (gains)/losses

Changes in working capital:

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Contract assets

Amounts due to associates and
joint ventures

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Cash generated from operations

7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HRRMEE

29 BEREER (&)
() BEFREBRS(F)

BOoEl—EeEtE
IR RIEER
HEYE - EERERRLZ
BB —FBR(WE7)
BAREFARRZ
MBEECARE
Wzt (A1 7)
MBWA (HaE8)
RITREAMEER
MNEBER (#:Z8)
MERBZHNEMAX
(#1zz8)
HE—FMBRRZER
P (Was) iR

EEALED -

>
1

e
\H:u[Y

5 N Bt FE WK IR
AHEE
N E QA &
BELEFA
85 REAMENFR
BHAE

f=s

> I8

LEMSRE

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
= (400)
— 6
(153) (1,240)
(319) 876)
4,294 4,339
5,603 5,614
1,057 —
(1,528) 1,995
(189) 34
9,795 6,754
— 3,273
2,818 6,293
(12,505) (25,100)
(5,786) 4,940
4,485 14,244
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 29

(b) Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and
the movements in net debt for each of the periods

presented.

Net debt

Cash and bank balances

Liquid investments (Note (i)

Borrowings — repayable within one year
(excluding bank overdrafts)

Bank overdrafts

Borrowings — repayable after one year

Interest payable

Lease liabilities

Net debt

e

RehERBRLER

MEBNERE (H1aE ()

fEE — AR —FRER
(BHRERITEX)

RITIEX

tBE — AR —FRER

EANEARSN

{E75 88

() Liquid investments comprise current
investments that are traded in an active
market, being the Group’s financial assets held

at FVPL.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

BEREER )
b) EETFESHE

2N £ & 51 5 P 2 51 %% BB E 5
R DT RAETS R R 2 ZE

2022 2021
—E-—fF ===
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
11,624 25,219
5,893 5,740
(24,216) (29,228)
(23,056) (21,867)
(86,812) (71,366)
(9,256) (6,242)
(114,112) (116,224)
(239,935) (213,968)

() RBMUEREBENEED
BERZAHKRE - AR
SERAREFABRZ

FIBEE -



29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

Net debt reconciliation (Continuead)

Total debt as at 31st March 2020
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings
Repayments of bank loans

Repayments of interest expenses

Principal and interest elements of lease payments

Non-cash items:
Reclassffication of borrowings
Interest expenses incurred
Rent concessions granted as a direct
consequence of COVID-19 (Note 6)
(Gain on early termination of a lease contract
Exchange differences
Total debt as at 31st March 2021
Proceeds from other borrowings

Repayments of bank loans
Repayments of interest expenses

Principal and interest elements of lease payments

Non-cash ftems:
Reclassflication of horrowings
Interest expenses incurred
Rent concessions granted as a direct
consequence of COVID-19 (Note 6)
Exchange differences

Total debt as at 31st March 2022

RIE-EE-A=t-H7EREE

ROREMEE 2 FEHE
fﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁgﬂ
EENS AR
REFFZ A RS HH
FREER
EERE
FEEFIBRY
ROOVID-19MERREMES
ElERE (Wit
RERIAEAN NS
EiZE

RIB-E=A=r-BEKEE

AthigE 2 G5

ERRIER

[EERIERR

RENFZ AL RHEBH

JREER

ENABRE

FELASHR

R COVID-19 M B A EMEEY
Reme e

EXEE

29 HEREER (&2

\ <8

7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HRRMEE

(b) EHFEIHKRAE)

Borrowings  Borrowings
due within due after Interest
Leases 1 year 1 year payable Total
—EREE  -FREE
N iR iR DS &t
HK$ 000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$'000 HK$000
A1 AT AT A7 AT
123,690 31,584 60,877 3299 219,450
- 15,000 9,200 - 24,200
- (19,199 - - (19,199)
- - - (1,758) (1,758)
(11,398) - - - (11,398)
- 1,490 (1,490) - -
5,614 - - 4,339 9,953
(4469 - - - (4,469)
(7,526) - - - (7,526)
10313 363 2,719 362 13,807
116,224 29,228 71,366 6,242 223,060
- - 15,646 - 15,646
- (6,723) - - (6,723)
- - - (1,561) (1,561)
(11,930) - - - (11,930)
- 1,671 (1,671) - -
5,603 - - 4,294 9,897
(295) - - - (295)
4510 40 141 281 6,302
114,112 24,216 86,812 9,256 234,396
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(c) In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds

from sale of property, plant and equipment

29 HEREER (&)
€ REABShBRT HEME.
WER RS FERERR

comprise:
2022 2021
—E-— T —F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FEIT
Net book value (Note 12) REVFE (Mt 12) 8,903 24
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - S REEZ
plant and equipment — net 518 — 58 = 6)
Non-cash transaction (Note) MR P (K7E) (8,903) —
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE - s NERE
plant and equipment P8 508 - 18
Note: Kat -
During the year ended 31st March 2022, the Group disposed RBE_Z__F=A=+—HI%F
of its property, plant and equipment at HK$8,903,000 to an g - ANE2[E 1A 8,903,000 7 T 7] — fE B
associate. The consideration is settled by the offset of amounts BNRHEEME BEREE - R
due to associates of the Group (2021: Ni). BEFENAEEREARREA(ZE
TF )
30 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 30 EBEAREIE
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the R EBREETOEREE 2 EARFH
reporting period but not yet incurred is as follows: XU
2022 2021
—E-— —E - —F
HK$°000 HK$’000
TFET FET
Film and program rights, films in progress B REERE BREAPETR
and deposits for film and program rights B LB REES 1,919 1,701
Licenses hRiE 1,399 1,994
Investment in a digital media project (Note) —IREUIG KSR B 188 (H3t) - 12,144
3,318 15,839
Note: Kiat -

It represented the capital expenditure commitment of the Group
pursuant to an agreement entered into by a subsidiary of the Group and
a public corporation set up by the HKSAR government.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

HEAEEREANEENB AR EEERFRIEK
R — R AR AR PIRILZ BAEHEE
ARFISAIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in other notes to the consolidated

financial statements, significant related party transactions,

which were carried out in the ordinary course of the

Group’s business, are as follows:

(@) Sales of services

Rental income received/receivable from
rental of office premises to associates

Management fee income received/
receivable from an associate

e P HRRMEE

31 EREALRS
SRER M RREMMERKREE
Sh > REBERBEEBBETETL
EXEBEALRZWT :

HERAEYET —HHE QT

A Vg TG kA ON
G odi el

EEERA

Sales of services are transacted at normal

commercial terms that are consistently applied to all

customers.

(b) Purchases of services

Post-production and origination services
paid/payable to an associate

Playout services paid/payable to
an associate

Other administrative costs paid/payable
to an associate

(a) SHERK
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
1,311 1,311

H/N=]

276 276

HERB HIZEBERRAA
B Z —REFGTET -

BN AT Mg AR

BB RIEEIRS

B/ RN TR E AT

RS

BN/ AT Mg AR

EAFTHARA

Purchases of services are transacted at normal

commercial terms that are consistently applied to all

suppliers.

(b) BERE
2022 2021
= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
4,842 6,444
1,008 1,860
484 736

BERBILZEBERRAA
HIEE 2 —MRE R IRETT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cContinued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

31 BEREALRZ #)

Other transactions (c) HMRSH
2022 2021
—E-— —E - —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Disposal of property, plant and HEYE - #as MR
equipment (Note 29(c)) (H1:E29()) 8,903 -
Key management compensation d ZEEBAERE
Key management personnel are deemed to be the AEEESENERBRATE
members of the Board of Directors of the Group who EEAE RFEEBEE
have the responsibility for the planning, directing, B EHRBITAEE 2%
controlling and the execution of the activities of B TEEBABHEELSE
the Group. Key management compensation is BTSSR B 5k 36(a) I EE ©
disclosed in Note 36(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.
Year-end balances (e) FRER
2022 2021
—E-F —E - —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current liabilities mENEE
Payables to associates FE B & R R FRIE (13,710) (18,036)
Amount due to a director of the Company  FEW AR R —REZZIA (2,460) (2,366)
Non-current liabilities (included in ERBEE (BREEMER)
other borrowings)
Amount due to an associate (Note 27(b)) JESEsE &R =) R (M 27 (b)) (25,000) (25,000)
Advance from the controlling shareholder — FE12RR AR R FKIE (A2 27 (b))
(Note 27(b)) (24,912) (9,200)

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32

33

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend in respect of the years ended 31st March 2022
and 2021.

TRANSACTIONS WITH NON -
CONTROLLING INTEREST

Prior to 31st March 2020, the Group, through a wholly-
owned subsidiary, held 90% equity interest in Mei
Ah Online (HK) Company Limited (“MAOHK?”) and its
subsidiaries (the “MAOHK Group”). On 28th April 2020,
the Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary,
acquired further 10% equity interest in the MAOHK
Group at HK$1. Upon the completion of the transaction,
MAOHK Group has become a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. The effect on the equity of the Company
pursuant to this transaction with non-controlling interest is
summarised as follows:

Carrying amount of non-controlling interest acquired
Less: consideration paid to non-controlling interest*
Exchange differences

Excess of consideration for non-controlling interest
recognised within equity

Less than HK$1,000 and rounded as nil.

32

33

PSSR R s MY AR B
WS T IR R R B -
PEHER

e P HRRMEE

RE
EETERREHE T —FN—

E_—F=ZRA=1T—"HILFEZK

B o
/N

FEREZERS

R-E-_TF=ZR=+—Hpl ' &%
EEB—HE2ENBAREAEERA
#(BB)BRAR([ERELEE])
REMB AR ([ERERESEE])
2% E - AT - F P A
Z+N\B  ARREB—HEENE
REIIABTE—FPREEDERE
BEEZ10%MHE - N HTTHIE
ELERBEAEERB/ARAZEE
BT - ZIFERERIZFEHAR
AR 2 BT -

2021
—EB-—F
HK$°000

FRETT

8,285

(369)

TR I IR s (B
R FERR

7,916

* DI 1,000 B TTMAIEEEE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

34 GROUP STRUCTURE - PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES

Name

10

Shares held directly by the Company:

FARERFARS :

Mei Ah Holdings Limited

Shares held indirectly by the Company:

FAFRERARS

Cameron Entertainment Company Limited

MATV Limited

FEERARARA

MATV (Asia) Limited

FoER (DM BRAR

Mei Ah (HK) Company Limited

x (BE)BRRA

Place of
incorporation

R B

British Virgin Islands

RERZES

Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong

a0

Hong Kong

B

Principal activities

TEEH

Investment holding

REEKR

Production of films and
tele-features
SRIBRIE

Channel operations

\Sf

Channel operations

SREFT

Sales and distribution of

audio visual products
HERETR EER

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

Particulars of
issued share capital/
registered capital

ERTRE,
BREFHE

50,050 ordinary shares of
US$1 each
50,050 R B AR E(E 1 57T
LER

2 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

2RBREE BT
Lk

4 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

ARBREE1BTLZ
TiER

20,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each
20,000 R EIREME 1787
EER

10,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each
10,000 R EBREE 17T

34 KEERE —TENBELF

Percentage of

effective interest
held/controlled

by the Group
FEERE
REZERER
HAL

2022: 100
(2021: 100)

2022:100

(2021: 100)

2022: 100
(2021: 100)

2022: 100
(2021: 100)

2022: 100
(2021: 100)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRME

34 GROUP STRUCTURE - PRINCIPAL 34 EEEE —TERBELAT(H)
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Percentage of

Particulars of effective interest
Place of issued share capital/ held/controlled
Name incorporation Principal activities registered capital by the Group
*REHE/
ERITERE BHzANER
&1 R R 3L M B IEER HEMEFEE HAL
Mei Ah Film Production Company Limited Hong Kong Production of films and 2 ordinary shares of 2022: 100
tele-features HK$1 each (2021: 100)
EDEFREAR AR B TR BHE 2RBREE BT
Mei Ah Investment Company Limited Hong Kong Property investment 2 ordinary shares of 2022: 100
HK$1 each (2021: 100)
500,000 non-voting
deferred shares of
HK$1 each
EDMEREFRAA &5 NERE 2RBREMGE BT
38 500,000 %
BREB1BTL
EREERTRR
Mei Ah Entertainment Productions Limited Hong Kong Concert performance 10,000 ordinary shares of 2022: 55
HK$1 each (2021: 55)
EDFELUERR AR &% EREEL 10,000 REBREE 17T
EER
EFEDAERBEER AR Mainland China Property investment RMB16,000,000 2022: 70
(Note (c)) (HTi#(c)) (2021: 70)
RER NERE AR 16,000,000 70
ERRUAAUL (ER)ERAF Mainland China Provision of services RMB10,000,000 2022: 100
(Note (d)) (Hiz£(c)) (2021: 100)
B A R PR AR #10,000,0007C
EORAFREE (LR BRAR Mainland China Cinema investment RMB20,000,000 2022: 100
(Note (d) (f1iZ (c)) (2021: 100)
HE A FhRE AR 20,000,000 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

34 GROUP STRUCTURE - PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

34 EEEE —TEMBEAR @)

Principal activities

Cinema investment

Cinema investment

Sub-licensing of film rights

and channel operations

Place of
Name incorporation
£ EEM A LM B TEER
ELEH(KE)ERAR Mainland China
(Note () (A1 (c)
B A Fhig
BN EGEE AR AR Mainland China
(Note (d)) (#iz£(a))
B A A
ELREERBHBR AR Taiwan
4% HEEY
XHEREFET(LR)BRAH Mainland China
(Note (d)) (Hiz£(c))
R EIAH BIEY
Notes:

MEI AH ENT

Other than MATV (Asia) Limited which operates in Hong Kong
and overseas, EFIET BRI AR AR, EERBFAR AL
R)ERAT, FRRBFHRERALR)ARAF, R (KRF)
BRAE, BMNHETBEEZMARAR, EHERAK(ER) B
BRRAR and 5 2R EF 31T (AL ) B R A 7 which operate
in Mainland China, Z=35 48 2455 & § {5 5 R /A &] which operates in
Taiwan, all subsidiaries principally operate in Hong Kong.

All subsidiaries listed above are limited liability companies.

Being sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprises established
under Mainland China’s laws.

Being wholly foreign owned enterprises established under
Mainland China’s laws.

ERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED <EriR£4EAEBERA 7

iRk R IEE S E

Distribution of films

Percentage of
Particulars of effective interest
issued share capital/ held/controlled
registered capital by the Group
FEERE
ERITERE BHzHNER
HEMEFEE HAL
RMB3,000,000 2022: 100
(2021:100)
AR 3,000,0007T
HK$2,000,000 2022: 100
(2021:100)
2,000,000/7C
2,000,000 ordinary shares of 2022: 85
NTD10 each (2021: 85)
2,000,000 iR BREE
10FaE 2 LBk
RMB5,000,000 2022: 100
(2021: 100)
AR 5,000,0007T

HEE

(@)

BREDER (M) BRATNEERE
MR BEFIREREMBERQF
EXLEBEEXC QR BRARF - X
DERBFREE (LR ARAF - Xk
R (RR) BRAR] ~ BN EER
FRERDR  EBAKRAER) BHE
RARMEFEREZETHER) AR
RANAH BB E AR IREEH
ERONBRARNREEKLEN - AN

LHIPR BB AR RBRAF -

RRBHEAMERKI 2 PINGEDR
# .

ARBHEAMERK 2B E DR
# .



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRME

35 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a)

Balance sheet of the Company

Assets

Non-current asset

Interests in subsidiaries and
amounts due from subsidiaries

Current assets
Prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Equity

Equity attributable to owners of the
Company

Share capital

Share premium

Reserves

Total equity
Liabilities
Current liability
Other payables and accruals
Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

)
(a)

Note
Kzt

BE

FEREEE

SERIEPNCIP: £2959/
Y B/ 2 B RIR

RENRE
B FIR
RBehFRREEAR

HaE

e
FAFIHBAEGES

PR

BAn st (B

it

23(a)
23(b)
Note (b)
#i7z (b)

wEs

fafR
RENRR
H A A FRIR K2
EREM

HAaR
HERIRAR

The balance sheet of the Company was approved
by the Board of Directors on 30th June 2022 and

were signed on its behalf.

Li Kuo Hsing
FEN
Director

EZ

35 ARFZEEEBRRFERE )

RATRZEERER
As at 31st March
®=B=+—H

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
582,060 681,572
351 887
19 29
370 366
582,430 681,938
118,475 118,475
407,428 407,428
56,462 155,861
582,365 681,764
65 174
65 174
582,430 681,938

ARBIZEERBRNR_-F
T CHERNA=THESEESH

o WRERE -

Li Tang Yuk
ZFiEn
Director

EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

35 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

At 1st April 2020

Loss for the year

At 31st March 2021

At 1st April 2021

Loss for the year

At 31st March 2022

RZE-_ZTFMA—H

FAEE

RZEZ—%F
=A=t+—H

R-E-_—FmMA—H

FABE

R-ZE-—F
=A=t—-R

35 ARFAZEERBEREFESR

&)

(b) FATRZREEEH

Share
redemption Contributed Accumulated
reserve surplus losses Total
B {7 R [E1 G BARER RGN #a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BT FET T T
(Note (i))
(Hizz ()
12 235,020 (73,472) 161,560
— — (5,699) (5,699)
12 235,020 (79,171) 155,861
12 235,020 (79,171) 155,861
- - (99,399) (99,399)
12 235,020 (178,570) 56,462

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRME

35 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company (Continued)

)

The contributed surplus of the Company
represents the difference between the par
value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange for the issued share capital of the
subsidiaries and the net asset value of the
subsidiaries acquired, the credit arising from
the reduction of share capital during the year
ended 31st March 1999 and the transfer from
share premium during the year ended 31st
March 2010. Under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed
surplus shall not be distributable if these are
reasonable grounds for believing that:

(1) the Company is, or would after the
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due; or

(2) the realisable value of the Company’s
assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium account.

35 ARFEERERRHEE |
B

(b) ARXRZFHERD(E)

M

RRABZEHABBIEARR
Al BRI B A R B BT
MRS 31T 2 IR B
FTi BT B A Rl & EFE
ZEFE  REBEE—NNAN
F=ZA=+—HLHFE
B R IR A T E A 2 R
ERBEZT—ZTF=A
=t+—HIEFEEaRD G
BEBER - BREAR
—NAN\—FRRE(E
1B&])  WEEEREEA
BETHIEE  AIBAR
R A DK

(1) ARBEPIREFSAER
NREELINERE
BRI N BaE sk

Q) ARREEZAER

EEHAMIRES
BRHBBITRAI
KR 0 % B IR 2 4
A o

—=

Annual Report 2022 &%

217



218

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

36 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 36 EERANRERS

DIRECTORS (@ ES#:

(@) Directors’ emoluments BE S -_—F#xK-_T-—%
The remuneration of all directors for the years ended A=+ HUEFEZEES
31st March 2022 and 2021 is set out below: ZFESIT

2022
ZE_CE
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:
AEAREES (FRATLRGENELAER) REEAUE MG :
Other
remunerations
paid or
receivable
inrespect
of director’s
other services
in connection
with the
management
Employer’s of the
contributionto affairs of the
Allowance  aretirement  Company or
Discretionary  and benefits benefit its subsidiary
Name of Director Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme  undertaking Total
EEEER
pINGE S 2
ERELR
ERikE
e Hm%
RUR iRt ExfREk
BBz fig e BT Endg HHEER  ZEMEN a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
Executive directors BTES
Li Kuo Hsing TR - 3,995 - - 18 - 4,013
Li Tang Yuk &R
(Chief Executive Officer) (TR EH) - 952 - - 18 - 970
Dong Ming E4 - 1,79 - - 18 - 1,812
Non-executive director ~ FEHFTEZF
Alan Cole-Ford (Note (i) Alan Cole-Ford
(i) - - - - - - -
Independent non-executive BIFHTEE
directors
Lam Lee G. HHRE 80 - - - - - 80
Guo Yan Jun IRE 80 - - - - - 80
Leung Tak Sing, Dominic 23 80 - - - - - 80
MaFung Kwok (Note i)~ SE&Z(#tfi) 40 - - - - - 40
280 6,741 - - 54 - 7,075

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED  3£EE#%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS =
REMBERME &

36 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 36 EE=EFRER#®)
DIRECTORS (continued) -
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (@) EE=M&(E)
2021

“EI--F ’
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:
REABEES (TRAFRARENBAREE) BEEZ AR EK M -

Other

remunerations

paid or

receivable

in respect

of director’s

other services

in connection

with the

management

Employer's of the

contributionto affairs of the

Alowance  aretirement  Company or

Discretionary  and benefits benefit  its subsidiary
Name of Director Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme  undertaking Total

ESHEE

YNGES

N

SRR

Exz Al

2R RINVEN  BEXMAER
EEdeE [k ) B EMils SEER  ZHtEN &5t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT T TAT AT AT AT

Executive directors BiES
Li Kuo Hsing TEE - 4,501 - - 18 - 4519
LiTang Yuk £l

(Chief Executive Officer) (TR EH) - 960 - = 18 = 978
Dong Ming £ - 2117 — — 18 — 2,135
Non-executive directors ~ JFH{TEE
Hugo Shong (Note (j) RRES(E)) 20 - - - - - 2
Alan Cole-Ford (Note (ij) Alan Cole-Ford

(W) 80 - - - - - 80

Independent non-executive BIFHTES

directors
Lam Lee G. Hxe 80 - - - = = 80
Guo Yan Jun PHE 80 - - - - - 80
Leung Tak Sing, Dominic 2E3 80 - - - - - 80

340 7,678 = = 54 = 7972
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

36 BENEFITS AND

INTERESTS OF

DIRECTORS (continued)

(a)

(b)

()

(d)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

()  Resigned on 17th June 2020

(i) Deceased on 11th July 2021

(i) Appointed on 1st October 2021

(iv)  None of the directors has waived any of their
emoluments in respect of the years ended 31st
March 2022 and 2021.

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the years ended 31st
March 2022 and 2021.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the years ended 31st
March 2022 and 2021.

Consideration provided to third parties for making

available director’s services

During the years ended 31st March 2022 and 2021,
no consideration was paid by the Company to third
parties for making available directors’ services.

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

(e)

(f)

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such

directors

During the years ended 31st March 2022 and 2021,
there are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company has a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
31st March 2022 and 2021 or at any time during the
years ended 31st March 2022 and 2021.

37 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Group’s business operations have been adversely
affected since the outbreak COVID-19 in early 2020.
Management is of the view that the eventual impact on

the consolidated financial statements is dependent on

the continuous development of the pandemic. The Group

has been paying close attention to the development of

the COVID-19 outbreak and evaluate its impact on the

financial position and operating results of the Group,

and will take appropriate actions to mitigate any adverse

impact as necessary.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HFMBRE

Results

Loss attributable to owners
of the Company

Assets and liabilities

Total assets
Total liabilities

Total equity

Year ended 31st March
BEFE=A=1+—HLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—ZE-C —E-—F ZTTF —FT-NF —T)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ETT FETL FETT FET FEIT
E
RAREE AFE(R
fE518 (39,232) (58,249) (97,188) (85,428) (49,159)
As at 31st March
®»=A=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ZEICfF —T-—F —TTF —T-NEF —T)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ETT FET FETT FET FEIT
HEHAR
REE 757,196 780,897 866,909 798,987 815,853
FES=N (388,318) (397,140) (428,014) (259,514) (187,525)
KRS 368,878 383,757 438,895 539,473 628,328
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Address

ik

Shop 2 on Ground Floor Po Sun Mansion

No. 89 Bulkeley Street Hung Hom, Kowloon
JUREALRY

BEA 4895

BEMAE

R 2 SR ARAL

Workshop No. 5, Nos. 15-23 and 25-28 on
17th Floor Metro Centre No. 32 Lam Hing
Street Kowloon Bay, Kowloon
b BT 32 5%

EBFOATE
55% ~ 15-235% &% 25-28 5 T 15

Workshop Nos. 1-2 on 10th Floor Metro Centre
No. 32 Lam Hing Street Kowloon Bay, Kowloon
NENREE
e LT 32 5%
EREPLI0E
1-255 1%

Factory Unit Nos. 23 and 24 on 5th Floor and
Car Parking Space No. V18 on Basement
Kowloon Bay Industrial Centre No. 15
Wang Hoi Road Kowloon Bay, Kowloon

RN EEE
N ERIE
NEETEAD
5182358 [ 24 5% TR EE (7
K IhE V18 SRE AL

House No. 28 and Car Park Nos. 59 and
60 The Villa Horizon No. 8 Silver Stream Path,
Silverstrand Sai Kung, New Territories
AR
RAREIRRICBIE
S
28 5% ¥ 5 & 59 5% & 60 SR EE i

Type
EEp
Commercial

[GES

Industrial

T

Industrial

T

Industrial

T

Residential

==

x=

Lease term

HFEH

Medium

R

Medium

A

Medium

T

Medium

R

Medium

T

TTREYERE O

Percentage of \
Group’s interests '
XEEZ
B2ESL

100% y 4

100%

100%

100%

100%
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

FTEREWRMHR

Address

ik

Units 801-814 on Level 8 of West Tower
Yangcheng International Commercial
Center Tiyu East Road, Tianhe District
Guangzhou
The People’s Republic of China

HEE AR HAE
0
R R
FIEREE O
FaE 812801-814 =

Units 2101-2106 on 21/F of Block 3 Zone A1
of Qi Dong District Guan Yin Shan Guo Ji Shang

Wu Ying Yun Zhong Xin Si Ming District
Xiamen

hEARME

EF]

B E

B LBEEEBEER L
RRENER A1 Hb iR

357121 /E2101-2106 BT

Flat 1 on Level 3 No. 2 Hua Xiao Street Tianhe
Ming Ya Court Tianhe East Road, Tianhe District

Guangzhou

The People’s Republic of China
EE AR HAE

=0

ENGIEE NI
PNLEZY 7]

A2

IE1=E

MEI AH ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED £ERiR£4EAEBER A T

Type

LY

Commercial

GES

Commercial

GES

Residential

Percentage of

Lease term Group’s interests
TEEZ

HHEH ERERL

Medium 100%

# Hf

Medium 70%

T

Medium 100%

R HA
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